
 

BOLTON MANCHESTER ROCHDALE STOCKPORT TRAFFORD 

BURY OLDHAM SALFORD TAMESIDE WIGAN 
 
Please note that this meeting will be livestreamed via www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk, please speak to a  
Governance Officer before the meeting should you not wish to consent to being included in this recording. 

 

 
 
 

GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies  

 
 

2.   Chairs Announcements and Urgent Business  
 

 

3.   Declarations of Interest  
 
To receive declarations of interest in any item for discussion at the 
meeting. A blank form for declaring interests has been circulated 
with the agenda; please ensure that this is returned to the 
Governance & Scrutiny Officer at the start of the meeting. 
 

1 - 4 

4.   Minutes of the GMTC meeting held 18 June 2021  
 
To consider the approval of the minutes of the meeting held 18 
June 2021. 
 

5 - 14 

5.   Minutes of the GMTC Sub Committees  
 
To note the minutes of the GMTC Sub Committees held: 

 Metrolink & Rail Sub Committee – 16 July 2021 

 Bus Services Sub Committee – 6 August 2021 
 

15 - 30 

6.   Introduction from the GM Transport Commissioner  
 
Presentation from Chris Boardman, GM Transport Commissioner. 
 
 

31 - 40 

DATE: Friday 20th August, 2021 
 

TIME: 10.30 am 
 

VENUE: Council Chamber, Manchester Town Hall 
 

  

Public Document

http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/


2 
 

7.   Streets for All  
 
Report of Simon Warburton, Transport Strategy Director, TfGM. 
 

41 - 46 

8.   Walking & Cycling Update  
 
Report of Richard Nickson, Programme Director Cycling and 
Walking, TfGM. 
 

47 - 56 

9.   GM Moving  
 
Presentation of Eve Holt, Strategic Director, GM Moving and 
Richard Nickson, Programme Director Cycling and Walking, TfGM. 
 

57 - 96 

10.   Electric Vehicles Charging Network  
 
Report of Simon Warburton, Transport Strategy Director, TfGM. 
 

97 - 138 

11.   Network Performance Report  
 
Report of Bob Morris, Chief Operating Officer, TfGM. 
 

139 - 158 

12.   GMTC Work Programme  
 
Report of Gwynne Williams, Deputy Monitoring Officer, GMCA. 
 

159 - 166 

13.   Dates and Times of Future Meetings  
 
To note the future meeting dates for the Committee and its Sub 
Committees. 
 

Metrolink & Rail 17.09.21 

Bus 01.10.21 

Full 15.10.21 

Metrolink & Rail 12.11.21 

Bus 19.11.21 

Full 10.12.21 

Metrolink & Rail 14.01.22 

Bus 21.01.22 

Full 18.02.22 

Metrolink & Rail 11.03.22 

Bus 18.03.22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



3 
 

Name Organisation Political Party 

Councillor Mark Aldred Wigan Labour 

Councillor Nathan Evans Trafford Council Conservative 

Councillor Joanne Marshall Wigan Labour 

Councillor David Meller Stockport Council Labour 

Councillor Barry Warner Salford Council Labour 

Councillor Phil Burke Bury MBC Labour 

Councillor Doreen Dickinson Tameside Conservative 

Councillor Stuart Haslam Bolton Council Conservative 

Councillor Naeem Hassan Manchester City Council Labour 

Councillor Roger Jones Salford City Council Labour 

Councillor John Leech Manchester City Council Liberal Democrats 

Councillor Warren Bray Tameside Council Labour 

Councillor Stephen Adshead Trafford Council Labour 

Councillor Howard Sykes Oldham Council Liberal Democrats 

GM Mayor Andy Burnham GMCA Labour 

Councillor Mohammed Ayub Bolton Labour 

Councillor Norman Briggs Oldham Council Labour 

Councillor Tom McGee Stockport MBC Labour 

Councillor Andrew Western Trafford Labour 

Councillor Jackie Harris Bury Conservative 

Councillor Kevin Peel Bury Labour 

Councillor Emma Taylor Manchester Labour 

Councillor Shah Wazir Rochdale Labour 

 
For copies of papers and further information on this meeting please refer to the website 

www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk.  Alternatively, contact the following 
Governance & Scrutiny Officer: Governance & Scrutiny 

 Nicola.ward@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk  
 
 

This agenda was issued on 12 August 2021 on behalf of Julie Connor, Secretary to the  
Greater Manchester Combined Authority, Broadhurst House, 56 Oxford Street, 

Manchester M1 6EU 
 

mailto:Nicola.ward@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

GM Transport Committee on 20 August 2021 
 

Declaration of Councillors’ interests in items appearing on the agenda 
 
NAME:  ______________________________ 
 

Minute Item No. / Agenda Item No. Nature of Interest Type of Interest 
 

 
 
 

 Personal / Prejudicial /  

Disclosable Pecuniary 

 
 
 

 Personal / Prejudicial /  

Disclosable Pecuniary 

 
 
 

 Personal / Prejudicial /  

Disclosable Pecuniary 

 
 
 

 Personal / Prejudicial /  

Disclosable Pecuniary 

 
 
PLEASE NOTE SHOULD YOU HAVE A PERSONAL INTEREST THAT IS PREJUDICIAL IN AN ITEM ON THE AGENDA, YOU SHOULD LEAVE THE ROOM FOR THE DURATION OF THE 
DISCUSSION & THE VOTING THEREON. 

 
 
 
 

P
age 1

A
genda Item

 3



 2 

QUICK GUIDE TO DECLARING INTERESTS AT GMCA MEETINGS 

This is a summary of the rules around declaring interests at meetings. It does not replace the Member’s Code of Conduct, the full description can be found in 
the GMCA’s constitution Part 7A.  

Your personal interests must be registered on the GMCA’s Annual Register within 28 days of your appointment onto a GMCA committee and any changes to 
these interests must notified within 28 days. Personal interests that should be on the register include: 

 Bodies to which you have been appointed by the GMCA 

 Your membership of bodies exercising functions of a public nature, including charities, societies, political parties or trade unions. 

You are also legally bound to disclose the following information called DISCLOSABLE PERSONAL INTERESTS which includes: 

 You, and your partner’s business interests (eg employment, trade, profession, contracts, or any company with which you are associated) 

 You and your partner’s wider financial interests (eg trust funds, investments, and assets including land and property).  

 Any sponsorship you receive. 

FAILURE TO DISCLOSE THIS INFORMATION IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE 

STEP ONE: ESTABLISH WHETHER YOU HAVE AN INTEREST IN THE BUSINESS OF THE AGENDA 

If the answer to that question is ‘No’ – then that is the end of the matter. If the answer is ‘Yes’ or Very Likely’ then you must go on to consider if that personal 
interest can be construed as being a prejudicial interest.  

STEP TWO: DETERMINING IF YOUR INTEREST PREJUDICIAL? 

 
A personal interest becomes a prejudicial interest: 

 where the well being, or financial position of you, your partner, members of your family, or people with whom you have a close association (people who 

are more than just an acquaintance) are likely to be affected by the business of the meeting more than it would affect most people in the area.  

 the interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice 

your judgement of the public interest. 

 

 

P
age 2



 3 

FOR A NON PREJUDICIAL INTEREST  

YOU MUST 

 Notify the governance officer 

for the meeting as soon as you 

realise you have an interest 

 Inform the meeting that you 

have a personal interest and 

the nature of the interest 

 Fill in the declarations of 

interest form 

TO NOTE:  

 You may remain in the room 

and speak and vote on the 

matter  

 If your interest relates to a body 

to which the GMCA has 

appointed you to you only have 

to inform the meeting of that 

interest if you speak on the 

matter. 

FOR PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS  

YOU MUST 

 Notify the governance officer for the meeting as soon as you realise you have a prejudicial interest (before or during 

the meeting) 

 Inform the meeting that you have a prejudicial interest and the nature of the interest 

 Fill in the declarations of interest form 

 Leave the meeting while that item of business is discussed 

 Make sure the interest is recorded on your annual register of interests form if it relates to you or your partner’s 

business or financial affairs. If it is not on the Register update it within 28 days of the interest becoming apparent.  

YOU MUST NOT: 

 participate in any discussion of the business at the meeting, or if you become aware of your disclosable pecuniary 

interest during the meeting participate further in any discussion of the business,  

 participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

P
age 3



T
his page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE  
GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 

HELD ON WEDNESDAY 18 JUNE 2021 AT MANCHESTER TOWN HALL 
 
 
 
PRESENT: 

Councillor Mark Aldred (in the Chair) Wigan Council 
Councillor Stuart Haslam Bolton Council 
Councillor Mohammed Ayub Bolton Council 
Councillor Jackie Harris Bury Council 
Councillor Kevin Peel Bury Council 
Councillor Naeem Hassan Manchester City Council 
Councillor John Leech Manchester City Council 
Councillor Emma Taylor Manchester City Council 
Councillor Norman Briggs Oldham Council 
Councillor Phil Burke Rochdale MBC 
Councillor Doreen Dickinson Tameside MBC 
Councillor Warren Bray Tameside MBC 
Councillor Roger Jones Salford Council 
Councillor Tom McGee Stockport MBC 
Councillor Angie Clark Stockport MBC 
Councillor Steve Adshead Trafford Council 
Councillor Nathan Evans Trafford Council 
Councillor Joanne Marshall Wigan Council 
GM Mayor Andy Burnham GMCA 
Councillor Andrew Western GMCA 
  
 
OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 

Eamonn Boylan Chief Executive GMCA & TfGM 
Bob Morris Chief Operating Officer, TfGM 
Simon Warburton Transport Strategy Director, TfGM 
Stephen Rhodes Customer Director, TfGM 
Kate Brown Director of Corporate Affairs, TfGM 
Danny Vaughan Head of Metrolink, TfGM 
Gwynne Williams Deputy Monitoring Officer, GMCA 
Nicola Ward Governance Officer, GMCA 

 
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 
 
Nigel Featham Go North West 
Daniel Coles Network Rail 
Chris Jackson Northern 
Matthew Rawlinson Diamond 
Lucja Majewski Transpennine Express 

Charlie French 
 
 

GMTC 19/21 APOLOGIES 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



2 

 

That apologies be noted and received from Councillor Howard Sykes (Councillor Angie 
Clark substituting), Councillor Elise Wilson (Councillor Tom McGee attending) and 
Councillor Barry Warner. 

 
 

GMTC 20/21 APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR FOR 2021/22 
 

Resolved /- 
 
That it be recommended to the GM Mayor that Councillor Mark Aldred be appointed as 
Chair of the GM Transport Committee for 2021/22. 
 

 
GMTC 21/21 APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIRS FOR 2021/22 

 
Resolved /- 
 
That Councillors Roger Jones and Doreen Dickinson be appointed as Vice Chairs of the 
GM Transport Committee for 2021/22. 

 
 

GMTC 22/21 MEMBERSHIP FOR 2021/22 
 

Resolved /- 
 
That the membership of the GM Transport Committee for 2021/22 be noted as 
below. 

 

Members Representing Political Party 

Stuart Haslam Bolton Conservative 

Kevin Peel Bury Labour 

Naeem Hassan  Manchester Labour 

Emma Taylor Manchester Labour 

Norman Briggs  Oldham Labour 

Phil Burke Rochdale Labour 

Roger Jones Salford Labour 

TBC Stockport Labour 

Warren Bray Tameside Labour 

Steve Adshead Trafford Labour 

Joanne Marshall  Wigan Labour 

Andy Burnham  GM Mayor  Labour 

Andrew Western GMCA Labour 

Doreen Dickinson Mayoral appointment Conservative 

Nathan Evans Mayoral appointment Conservative 

Jackie Harris Mayoral appointment Conservative  

Mark Aldred Mayoral appointment Labour 

Mohammed Ayub Mayoral appointment Labour 

Susan Emmott Mayoral appointment  Labour  

Barry Warner Mayoral appointment Labour 

Elise Wilson  Mayoral appointment Labour 

Page 6



3 

 

John Leech Mayoral appointment Liberal 
Democrat 

Howard Sykes Mayoral appointment Liberal 
Democrat 

 

 

Substitutes Representing Political Party 

Stuart Hartigan Bolton Conservative 

Nathan Boroda Bury Labour 

Julie Connolly Manchester Labour 

John Farrell Manchester Labour 

George Hulme  Oldham  Labour  

TBC Rochdale Labour 

Mike McCusker Salford Labour 

Angie Clark Stockport Liberal 
Democrats 

TBC Tameside Labour 

James Wright Trafford Labour 

Paul Prescott Wigan Labour 

Brenda Warrington  GM Mayor  Labour 

Eamonn O’Brien GMCA Labour 

Linda Holt Mayoral appointment Conservative 

Adam Marsh  Mayoral appointment Conservative  

Tom McGee Mayoral appointment  Labour  
 

 
 

GMTC 23/21 APPOINTMENTS TO THE GMTC SUB COMMITTEES – BUS SERVICES 
AND METROLINK & RAIL  

 
Resolved /- 
 
1. That the membership of the GMTC Sub Committees be agreed as below – 

 
BUS SERVICES 

 

Members Representing Political Party 

Councillor Roger Jones Salford Council Labour 

Councillor Warren Bray Tameside MBC Labour 

Councillor Kevin Peel Bury Council Labour 

Councillor Naeem Hassan Manchester City Council Labour 

Councillor Mark Aldred Wigan Council Labour 

Councillor Susan Emmott Rochdale Council Labour 

Councillor Barry Warner Salford Council Labour 

TBC Stockport MBC Labour 

Councillor Nathan Evans Trafford Council Conservative 

Councillor Jackie Harris Bury Council Conservative 

Councillor John Leech Manchester City Council Liberal Democrat 

 
METROLINK & RAIL 

 

Members Representing Political Party 

Page 7



4 

 

Councillor Emma Taylor Manchester City Council Labour 

Councillor Norman Briggs Oldham Council Labour 

Councillor Phil Burke Rochdale Council Labour 

Councillor Joanne Marshall Wigan Council Labour 

Councillor Mohammed Ayub Bolton Council Labour 

Councillor Andrew Western GMCA Labour 

Councillor Elise Wilson Stockport MBC Labour 

Councillor Steve Adshead Trafford Council Labour 

Councillor Doreen Dickinson Tameside MBC Conservative 

Councillor Stuart Haslam Bolton Council Conservative 

Councillor Howard Sykes Oldham Council Liberal Democrat 

 
2. That it be noted that Councillor Roger Jones be appointed as Chair and Councillor 

Warren Bray be appointed as Vice Chair for the Bus Services Sub Committee. 
 

3. That it be noted that Councillor Doreen Dickinson be appointed as Chair and Councillor 
Emma Taylor be appointed as Vice Chair for the Metrolink & Rail Sub Committee. 
 
 

GMTC 24/21 MEMBERS CODE OF CONDUCT 
 

Resolved /- 
 

That the GMCA Members Code of Conduct be noted. 
 
 

GMTC 25/21 TERMS OF REFERENCE AND RULES OF PROCEDURE 
 

Resolved /- 
 
That the GM Transport Committee Terms of Reference and Rules of Procedure be noted. 

 
 

GMTC 26/21 APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 
 

Resolved /- 
 
1. That Councillors Phil Burke, Roger Jones, Mark Aldred and Doreen Dickinson be 

appointed to the Greater Manchester Accessible Transport Board. 
 

2. That it be noted that one Labour vacancy remains to the GMATL Board which would be 
appointed to at the next meeting. 

 
3. That Councillor Steve Adshead be appointed to the Green City Region Partnership. 
 

 
GMTC 27/21 CHAIRS ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS 

 
Resolved /- 

 
There were no chairs announcements or items of urgent business. 
 

Page 8



5 

 

GMTC 28/21 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Resolved /- 
 

That it be noted that Councillor Phil Burke declared a personal interest in relation to item 
13, Transport Network Performance. 
 
 
GMTC 29/21 MINUTES OF THE GM TRANSPORT COMMITTEE MEETING HELD 24 

MARCH 2021 
 

Resolved /- 
 

That the minutes of the GM Transport Committee meeting held 24 March 2021 be approved 
as a correct record. 
 
 
GMTC 30/21 MAYORAL PRIORITIES 

 
The GM Mayor, Andy Burnham gave a verbal presentation on his ambitions for public 
transport reform in Greater Manchester.  After decades of efforts, unfortunately bus and rail 
still remained fragmented systems that seemed to be working less and less well.  However, 
the case for change was now supported by a public who also want to see more control over 
Greater Manchester’s Public Transport System. 
 
The Our Network brought together a strong and coherent vision, which had begun to be 
delivered through the Bee Network, and as it expanded would bring together the more 
complex elements of the system under one umbrella, with a single brand and an easy to 
navigate structure. 
 
As the Government had begun to indicate their ambitions to level up and see public 
transport reform, it was a timely opportunity for GM to align their own ambitions and push 
for the required financial and infrastructure support to see real change. A ‘London style’ 
system would see better connected communities, access to jobs and more opportunities for 
young people to access education and experiences.  Also driving this agenda forward was 
the evidential need for cleaner air, especially for those communities who have the poorest 
air quality and often a wider set of inequalities.  Negotiations with Government regarding 
the implementation of this policy were ongoing, but it also proved an opportunity to look to 
standardise taxi and bus services so that they were supporting the clean air ambitions and 
meeting a standard that was more acceptable to passengers. 
 
Bus reform would have the power to unlock many of the ambitions for a reformed public 
transport network by ensuring full integration with the Metrolink system, a tap in, tap out 
fare structure with a daily cap and more orbital routes that support access to towns across 
Greater Manchester.  Active travel would also play a critical role in being the most 
sustainable choice for the first and last mile of any journey, that went on to provide the 
required infrastructure to take a person to their final destination. 
 
The outcomes of the Great British Railways White Paper should also be kept on the radar, 
as this would give greater public control to the rail network.  In anticipation there were tasks 
to be undertaken to improve access to rail stations, develop community infrastructure and 
make the railways part of local place making.  Transport remained at the heart of revitalised 
communities and although complex through its many elements, would be key to levelling up 

Page 9



6 

 

all of Greater Manchester. 
 
The Bee Network Board had been established to enable focus to remain on delivery and 
hold TfGM to account at all stages.  Chris Boardman had also been appointed as Transport 
Commissioner to the Board and the Mayor, providing a single point of contact with 
Government and continuing to develop the good working relationship that had been 
established through TfGM.  Membership of the Board was still being refined but would 
include representation from the GMCA and the Transport Committee. 
 
The Mayor reiterated the importance of the voice of local authorities and expressed how the 
Transport Committee could actively ensure that the needs of residents were encapsulated 
in the GM vision and priorities as they were delivered to ensure that they made sense for 
communities.   
 
Members of the Committee raised the issue of hydrogen being a strong longer-term option 
to electric vehicles that should be further championed, specifically as there would be no 
waste used batteries etc.  The Mayor believed that GM should remain open mined about 
the opportunities to look at hydrogen as an alternative fuel, as Liverpool were looking to 
introduce into some its Mersey Rail fleet.  There was a clear aspiration for renewable fuel, 
but the preferred options would become clearer as this agenda progressed further. 
 
The Mayor was thanked for his commitment to improving linkages to Middleton, particularly 
in relation to the area being highlighted as within the top tier for potential Metrolink 
extensions and in response he added that levelling up in the north of the conurbation was 
equally important which could be realised through a range of opportunities including the 
expansion of the Northern Gateway. 
 
In relation to a future fare structure, Members recognised that some people were currently 
choosing bus travel as it was a cheaper option and would be disinclined to see prices rise 
as a result of a standardised fare structure.  The GM Mayor responded in agreement, that 
there would be a modal daily cap akin to the current London style structure which retained 
bus travel as the cheaper option, or even better deals for residents where one ticket 
allowed multiple journeys within a specified time frame.  Members were in agreement that it 
was not right for public transport to be the most expensive in outlying areas with higher 
levels of deprivation and therefore Government revenue subsidy would be crucial. 
 
Taxi licensing remained an issue, especially in relation to some cabs being licensed outside 
of GM further removing the opportunities to ensure standard practice.  The Clean Air Plan 
and work being undertaken on a GM level in relation to minimum taxi licensing standards 
gave an opportunity to make significant changes across the industry.  However, currently 
there was no legislation to prevent out of town working but this would not prevent advice to 
GM residents to use GM licensed taxis.  This work would also enable GM to offer a greater 
level of direct support to the GM registered trade throughout the changes and beyond. 
 
Proposals for the widening of the Bee Network were welcomed, however Members urged 
that not all the focus was on economic levelling up, but that the health inequalities agenda 
remained high as the network was further developed.  The clear link between clean air and 
health improvement was noted, and the pandemic had further highlighted the health 
inequalities across GM.  There were a range of ways in which TfGM would continue to 
promote healthy lifestyles, not least through the active travel element of the Bee Network, 
encouraging residents to consider their first and last miles to be done by bike or on foot.  
Furthermore, the GM Moving campaign would continue to promote active travel for physical 
and mental health benefits to everyday wellbeing. 

Page 10



7 

 

In relation to the importance of community rail assets, Members supported the aspirations 
of the GM Mayor to make them as accessible to all and to find ways to proactively support 
the ‘friends of’ groups who show great commitment to and have great ambitions for their 
local stations.   
 
Members of the Committee welcomed the opportunities for all the elected Mayors in the 
north of England to come together and drive forward improvements to the rail network.  The 
GM Mayor recognised the years of effort to date in pushing this agenda, however reported 
that recent communications with the Secretary of State for transport had indicated that 
there was a growing cross-party alignment towards greater public control for transport 
networks.  It has also been clear that Greater Manchester has continually moved things 
forward throughout the last few decades and that there was an equally strong consensus 
here for further change.  However, without the required financial support, it would be a 
challenge to deliver such aspirations. The GM Mayor further reminded the Committee that 
the Mayors from Liverpool and Manchester came together to remove the franchise from 
Northern, which had reduced in more control and order across the timetable.  The levers 
were now in place to enable further change in the future as Northern had embraced the 
improvements.  Tram/train options should also be considered as part of the vision, as 
evidence has shown that using an old railway line for Metrolink had resulted in six times the 
number of passengers being transported along the same route per day.  This made a 
strong case for further integration. 
 
Having witnessed the challenges of electrification of the railway, Members were concerned 
that the move to electric buses may prove challenging and would have significant demand 
on infrastructure development.  In response, officers informed the Committee that the Clean 
Air Plan had demonstrated the level of air pollution contributed by diesel buses.  Therefore, 
Government had indicated that there would be additional funds to support the roll out of 
electric buses, but that there would also be a watchful eye on the development of hydrogen 
vehicles.  The GM Mayor also added that he would like to see the standard across the bus 
fleet mirroring that of the Metrolink system and ensuring that all communities were 
connected. 
 
Members echoed the need for more orbital routes across the conurbation, connecting 
towns as well as people directly to the city centre.  Reliable, direct and affordable public 
transport would be the only way to ultimately get people out of their cars.  The GM Mayor 
agreed with this aspiration, and noted that through bus reform, Greater Manchester would 
gain more control over bus routes and would give greater opportunity to deliver orbital 
routes in addition to the current predominately radial network.  Streets for All would also 
create quality bus corridors, providing high quality rapid links supported by improved 
streetscapes.   
 
It would be important to keep articulating the vision for public transport in GM will be public 
to maintain their support and ensure that all were bought into how it could look in the future.  
However, the whole journey needed to be integral to the offer, including the complimentary 
elements available through active travel.  Recognising that this would be a completely new 
ideal to the car traveller and therefore the offer has to be something better than they are 
currently experiencing. 
 
Members were in support of a holistic approach to transport in the city region and 
welcomed a move from vision to delivery.  Furthermore, the wider benefits of an integrated 
transport network would include climate outcomes which would be critical to attaining GM’s 
2038 target.  It would also be vital to improving people’s access to job opportunities as 
many were currently prohibited due to the cost of public transport. 

Page 11



8 

 

 
The GM Mayor was asked what the single greatest barrier to delivering on this vision was, 
and where the Transport Committee could apply its focus.  He suggested that financial 
support was still a barrier and that further support from Government was needed in order to 
bring down the overall cost of delivering a public transport which in turn would reduce ticket 
costs.  For example, if Metrolink was subsided, then there could be a saving actualised to 
the passenger.  Another significant challenge was capacity, as the system becomes more 
attractive and patronage increases, would the system be prepared to manage this 
additional capacity?  Overtly to the decline in GM’s public transport patronage levels, 
London has seen a significant increase in passenger numbers and revenue since their 
system was integrated.  Greater control over rail assets was also thought to be a 
transformational step in delivering this vision, and the GM Mayor welcomed the 
Committee’s support in reviewing how the current infrastructure could be best used. 

 
Resolved /- 

 
1. That it be noted that there was a clear consensus about the importance of delivering an 

integrated transport network for GM and the role of the GM Transport Committee in 
working alongside the Mayor, GMCA and ten Local Authorities to champion and support 
its delivery. 
 

2. That it be noted that over the next 12 months, the GM Mayor suggested that the 
Committee could add value on the development and delivery of key priorities including 
Streets for All, the Electric Vehicle Charging Network, the GM Bike Hire scheme, and 
widening the benefits of community rail assets. 
 

3. Further to this, that it be noted that the GM Mayor suggested that the biggest barriers to 
public transport reform included the lack of long-term Government financial support, the 
current capacity of the network and the unused rail infrastructure and encouraged the 
Committee to consider how they could actively pursue improvements in these areas. 
 

4. That it be noted that the GM Mayor, in conjunction with officers at TfGM, would give 
further consideration to the importance of active travel and public transport in tackling 
health inequalities and associated campaign messaging.  

 
 
GMTC 31/21 TRANSPORT NETWORK PERFORMANCE 

 
Bob Morris, Chief Operating Officer for TfGM took Members through the latest transport 
network performance report which indicated that the number of overall trips across all 
modes had now reached 98% of pre-covid levels.  Broken down this was c. 75% bus, 50% 
Metrolink, 50% rail, 95% highways, 130% cycling and 115% walking. 
 
Key points to note included – 

 There were planned Metrolink engineering works due to take place over the summer. 

 Timetable increases for Metrolink were also due to come into effect from July. 

 Rail were now running 80% of the timetable and had confirmed funding from DfT for 
the forthcoming two years. 

 Bus service levels were almost at pre-covid levels, with their service specific funding 
agreed from DfT until the end of August 2021. 

 There had been (and was further planned) active travel infrastructure growth. 

 Unfortunately there had been a number of ASB incidents across the network, 

Page 12



9 

 

predominantly at Interchanges. 

 Preparations were underway for stage four of recovery, post 19 July and associated 
communications. 

 
Members of the Committee were particularly interested to understand more about the next 
recovery phase and how TfGM were working with employers to support their staff as they 
returned to work and build their confidence in travelling on the public transport network.  
Officers reported that there had been a high level of engagement with employers which 
remained ongoing.  In particular advice information and support had been offered regarding 
sustainable travel and a virtual engagement platform had been set up to provide dedicated 
support.  Businesses were also able to gain travel planning information through TfGM’s 
contact centre.  There was a strong desire to capture all the benefits from increased active 
travel through the lockdown period and a planned targeted campaign to commuters at the 
end of June 2021. 
 
Resolved /- 

 
1. That the report be noted. 

 
2. That the communications campaign scheduled for stage 4 of the roadmap be shared 

with Members of the Committee. 
 

3. That it be noted that the latest performance data of all transport modes is included 
within the weekly update for Members. 

 
 
GMTC 32/21 DATES AND TIMES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 

 
Resolved /- 

 
That the following dates and times of future meetings be approved – 
 
 
Metrolink & Rail 16.07.21 

Bus 06.08.21 

Full 20.08.21 

Metrolink & Rail 17.09.21 

Bus 01.10.21 

Full 15.10.21 

Metrolink & Rail 12.11.21 

Bus 19.11.21 

Full 10.12.21 

Metrolink & Rail 14.01.22 

Bus 21.01.22 

Full 18.02.22 

Metrolink & Rail 11.03.22 

Bus 18.03.22 

 
 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER 
METROLINK AND RAIL SUB COMMITTEE 

HELD ON FRIDAY, 16 JULY 2021 AT 10:30AM FRIENDS MEETING HOUSE 

 
PRESENT: 

Councillor Stuart Haslam Bolton Council 
Councillor Mohammed Ayub Bolton Council 
Councillor Emma Taylor Manchester City Council 
Councillor Doreen Dickinson (Chair) Tameside MBC 
Councillor Tom McGee Stockport MBC 
Councillor Angie Clark Stockport MBC 
Councillor Steve Adshead Trafford Council 
Councillor Joanne Marshall Wigan Council 
 

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 

Mark Angelucci Rail Officer, TfGM 
Jamie Fallon Governance Officer, GMCA 
Victoria Mercer  Metrolink Service Delivery Manager, 

TfGM 
Danny Vaughan 
Caroline Whitham  

Head of Metrolink, TfGM 
Head of Rail Services, TfGM 

Gwynne Williams Deputy Monitoring Officer, GMCA 
  
OPERATORS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 

 

Guillaume Chanussot KAM 
Dan Coles Network Rail 
Charlie French Avanti 
Chris Jackson Northern 

 
 
GMTMRC 21/21 

 
 
APOLOGIES 

 
Resolved /- 

 
That apologies be noted and received from Councillors Norman Briggs, Howard Sykes 
(Councillor Angie Clark substituting), Shah Wazir, Andrew Western and Lucja Majewski 

(TransPennine Express). 
 

GMTMRC 22/21 APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR FOR 2021/22 

 
Resolved /- 

That it be noted that Councillors Doreen Dickinson be appointed as Chair and Emma 
Taylor be appointed as Vice Chair of the GM Transport Metrolink & Rail Sub Committee 
for 2021/22 as approved at the meeting of the GM Transport Committee on 18 June 2021. 

 

  

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



2 

 

GMTMRC 23/21 MEMBERSHIP FOR 2021/22 
 

Resolved /- 
 
That the membership of the GM Transport Metrolink & Rail Sub Committee for 2021/22 be 
noted as follows. 

 
Members Representing Political Party 

Councillor Emma Taylor  Manchester CC Labour 

Councillor Norman Briggs  Oldham Council Labour 

Councillor Shah Wazir Rochdale Council Labour 

   

Councillor Joanne Marshall Wigan Council Labour 

Councillor Mohammed Ayub Bolton Council Labour 

Councillor Andrew Western GMCA Labour 

Councillor Tom McGee  Stockport MBC Labour 

Councillor Steve Adshead Trafford Council Labour 

Councillor Doreen Dickinson Tameside MBC Conservative 

Councillor Stuart Haslam Bolton Council Conservative 

Councillor Howard Sykes Oldham Council Liberal Democrat 
 

 
GMTMRC 24/21 CHAIRS ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS 

 
Resolved /- 
 

1. That all new members be welcomed and an extended thanks on behalf of the 
Committee to those previous members during the last municipal year. 

2. That Members be reminded to complete the annual declaration of interest. 
 

GMTMRC 25/21 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Resolved /- 

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

GMTMRC 26/21 MINUTES OF THE GM TRANSPORT METROLINK & RAIL SUB 
COMMITTEE MEETING HELD 19 MARCH 2021 

 
Resolved /- 

 
That the minutes of the GM Transport Metrolink & Rail Sub Committee meeting held 19 
March 2021 be approved as a correct record. 

 
GMTMRC 27/21 LOCAL RAIL PERFORMANCE REPORT 

 
Caroline Whittam (Head of Rail Services, TfGM) provided an update to members on rail 
service and operation across Greater Manchester over rail periods 12/13, 2020/21 and 01/02, 
2021/22. 

 
It was reported that operational performance had remained consistently strong over the four 
periods covered by the report for all six train operating companies serving Greater 
Manchester. Service uplifts had been undertaken by TPE and TfW on 29 March 2021, with 

Page 16



3 

 

some routes seeing earlier enhancements to cater for school flows. Nationally, train 
timetables changed on Sunday 16 May, which saw further additions to services across 
Greater Manchester to around 82% of pre-Covid levels. Furthermore, Emergency Recovery 
Measures Agreements had been superseded by National Rail Contracts, which had replaced 
the previous revenue risk-based franchising system. 
 
Members were advised that rail patronage had largely been driven by the tightening and 
relaxation of Covid restrictions over the past 16 months. Patronage increased after the 
second lockdown in November 2020, reaching almost 30% of pre-Covid levels by December 
but then fell back to around 15% in the third national lockdown from January 2021. 
Patronage had steadily increased since the spring and was currently at around 55-60% of 
pre-Covid levels for Northern, 45% for TPE and around 30% for the longer distance 
operators. The most significant increases in patronage had been recorded on local services, 
It was reported that leisure journeys continued to drive demand, with seaside and Hope 
Valley services being very popular. Northern reported over Spring Bank Holiday around 90 – 
95% of pre-Covid patronage on some of its services. 
 
Face covering compliance had remained consistent on-board trains and at stations and was 
currently estimated to be at around 80 – 85%. 
 
Nationally, new timetables came into operation from Sunday 16 May, for Greater Manchester 
this heralded around 82% of pre-Covid services being re-introduced and a full list of current 
Northern service provision was appended to the report. The May 2021 timetable saw the 
introduction of bi-mode Class 769 trains on Southport – Alderley Edge and Southport – 
Stalybridge routes. The services operate under both diesel and electric power and provide 
enhanced capacity using four car units. 
 
Throughout the pandemic, Northern has instigated a programme of station re-painting and 
repairs at Wigan, Bolton, Reddish North, Brinnington, Romiley and Hale. Station car park 
refurbishment had taken place at Newton for Hyde.  
 
It was reported that from the 31 July until 15 August 2021, Network Rail would be working to 
renew key sections of track and upgrade railway bridges to improve reliability as part of the 
Trans-Pennine Route Upgrade. This work would take place east of Manchester Victoria 
station, impacting services to/from Stalybridge and Rochdale. This would also impact on 
longer distance journeys along the Calder Valley line into/out of Manchester.   
 
Members were informed that TPE was the first UK train company to introduce brand new 
help points and video calling at stations. The new help points allow customers to use their 
mobile phones to instantly connect with a member of staff even when at an unstaffed station. 
 
An update on the Williams-Shapps Review, commissioned by government in September 
2018 in response to widespread timetable chaos and a failing commercial model for 
delivering passenger services was provided. The plan had been published as a White Paper 
on 20 May 2021 and TfGM would look to build on plans for further rail reform and welcomed 
the announcement of the formation of the new rail body Great British Railways.  
 
The latest update on the Manchester Recovery Task Force Consultation was provided to the 
Committee. They were also advised that Station Friends groups had been allowed back onto 
stations since 29 March and been hard at work catching up on clearing, weeding and 
restoring local stations and gardens to their former glory. Cheshire’s Best Kept Station 
Awards had finally been presented in person to Hale, Altrincham, Heaton Chapel, Rose Hill, 
Romiley, Marple and Reddish South stations. 

Page 17



4 

 

 
In thanking officers for the informative update, the Chair proposed that a letter be sent to the 
Station Friend groups offering congratulations on behalf of the Committee. Furthermore, it 
was suggested and agreed that a Community Day event would be arranged by TfGM for 
Community Rail Groups in December 2021. 
 
Members asked for further clarification on projections for patronage over the summer holiday 
period particularly for leisure purposes and reassurance that the rail industry was able to 
cope with increased demand. It was advised that train operators had demonstrated 
throughout the pandemic the ability to make changes and various timetable iterations had 
proven their flexibility to react to demand. Northern had increased capacity on popular routes 
including Southport and Blackpool South. It was noted that there had been a clear lack of 
direction from DfT regarding long distance operators and reduced services were operating 
across the network to popular locations including Reading and Bournemouth with 40% 
reservation capacity availability for advanced bookings. 
 
Charlie French, Regional Growth Manager, Avanti West Coast Partnership informed the 
Committee that due to Covid, capacity had been reduced to 40% to take into consideration 
social distancing requirements. Following review, capacity had increased to 50% and would 
further increase the following week with the removal of social distancing requirements. Relief 
services had been in operation to manage the increase in demand particularly recently 
throughout the European Championships and there was further opportunity to provide 
additional services to cater for increased demand ahead of the next review in September.  
 
Members expressed concern regarding no future significant changes or uplifts in December 
2021 timetables being planned for Northern routes which had not returned to pre-Covid levels 
of service. Northern advised that unfortunately significant challenges to the driver training 
programme which had been considerably impacted by Covid, meant some off peak services 
would not return to those of December 2019. However, if resource availability increased, a 
further review would be undertaken which had been articulated in a letter to the Head of Rail, 
TfGM, a copy of which would be provided to members of the Committee. 
 
The Committee considered the position on face coverings and it was confirmed that Northern 
would adopt the same message as other operators to ensure consistency across the 
network. The final position had not yet been declared, however, this would be communicated 
appropriately following confirmation being agreed.  
 
Members considered the impact and cost of fly-tipping as detailed in the report and requested 
further information on what preventative measures were being adopted. Examples of the 
partnership work being undertaken to combat fly tipping in hot spot areas was provided and it 
was agreed that future reports would include numbers of investigations and prosecutions for 
fly tipping on and around railway land.  
 
Councillor Adshead requested further information on developing redundant station buildings 
into thriving community assets. Dan Coles, Customer Account Manager, Network Rail agreed 
to directly discuss the work which would progress the site at Trafford to development stage. 
 
Members welcomed the introduction of brand new help points and video calling at stations 
and it was advised that the ticket vending machines operated by Northern had the 
functionality. It was agreed that a future update would be provided to the Committee on the 
aspiration by Northern to allow customers to use their mobile phones to instantly connect with 
a member of staff even when at an unstaffed station.  
 

Page 18



5 

 

The work to develop intelligent CCTV monitoring at known hot-spots, train staff to notice 
unusual behaviour and improve physical deterrents and mitigation in relation to suicide were 
recognised. It was proposed and agreed that the training programme being provided to rail 
staff by the industry in relation to suicide prevention be offered to Station Friends Groups. 
 

Resolved /- 

 
 
1. That the report be noted. 
2. That a letter of congratulations be sent on behalf of the Committee to the 

Community Rail Groups at the following stations: Hale, Altrincham, Heaton 
Chapel, Rose Hill, Romiley, Marple and Reddish South for recent success at 
Cheshire’s Best Kept Station Awards. 

3. That a copy of the letter from Northern to TfGM regarding proposed 
December 2021 timetable changes be circulated to Members of the 
Committee.  

4. That the position on face coverings for passengers travelling by Northern be 
communicated appropriately following confirmation being agreed.   

5. That further information with regards to numbers of investigations and 
prosecutions for fly tipping on and around railway land be provided in future 
updates to the Committee. 

6. That further information regarding Station Project Update for Trafford Park be 
communicated to Councillor Steve Adshead as agreed by Network Rail. 

7. That the training programme being provided to rail staff by the industry in 
relation to suicide prevention be offered to Station Friends Groups. 

8. That a Community Day event be arranged by TfGM for Community Rail 
Groups in December 2021.  
 

 
GMTMRC 28/21 METROLINK SERVICE PERFORMANCE 
 
Danny Vaughan, Head of Metrolink, TfGM introduced the Metrolink quarterly performance 
report which provided a performance summary for the rolling 12-month period. He provided 
the Committee with an update on the impact of test, trace and isolate on Metrolink services 
and advised that since the timetable changes on 5 July 2021, Metrolink staff had been 
severely more affected than previously during the pandemic. Furthermore, some peak 
services had been removed to alleviate pressure. It was advised that weekend engineering 
improvement works would be carried out over the summer period and the public were 
encouraged to refer to the website for further details. 
 
Members were advised that the GM Mayor had announced that face coverings would remain 
mandatory on Metrolink services which was widely supported to improve confidence for 
customers and staff and increase patronage across the network. 
 
It was anticipated that there would be an imminent announcement regarding central 
Government funding to cover the operating costs, hopefully up to the end of the current 
financial year which would provide greater stability. 
 
Victoria Mercer (Metrolink Service Delivery Manager) provided an overview on Metrolink 
operation and performance. It was reported that patronage stood at 48% of pre-covid levels 
and demand had increased in response to leisure.  The pre-pandemic patterns of demand 
had returned, with the busiest times still the traditional morning and evening peaks, which 

Page 19



6 

 

posed a problem for social distancing, especially on the busiest lines. The significant 
challenges highlighted regarding staff absence on the timetable uplift would be kept under 
review and would be mobilised as soon as capacity was available.  
 
Further challenges over the previous four periods and a number of incidents which 
significantly impacted reliability were highlighted to the Committee.  
 

There had been an average of 186 incidents of crime and anti-social behaviour per month 
reported to Metrolink. Reduced patronage had resulted in the substantial increase in the rate 
of reported incidents and there had been an increase in criminal damage on the network to 
the infrastructure. This had affected tram availability along with the perception of security. 
 
It was advised that KAM had continued with covid-related measures across the network with 
additional cleaning with anti-viral products, hand sanitiser units across the city centre and a 
team of Trambassadors to support customers returning to the network and helping them to 
follow the guidelines for safe travelling. Front line staff had undertaken training in 
collaboration with colleagues from the NHS to assist customers with vulnerabilities which had 
been hugely successful. 
 
An overview of the planned engineering works over the summer months to minimise 
disruption was provided which would coincide with works being undertaken by Network Rail 
at Victoria Station.    
 
Members requested further information regarding the capability to deploy double trams once 
demand increased across the network. It was advised that new additional vehicles were now 
in service and would be deployed to provide double capacity as patronage and demand 
increased. Furthermore, capacity and demand data would be published to assist customers 
to time their journeys where possible.  
 

Resolved /- 
 

That the contents of the report be noted. 

 
GMTMRC 29/21 OPERATOR UPDATE 

 
The Committee invited operators to provide feedback on train and Metrolink services in GM 
over the recent period. 

 
Comments raised by operators included the following: 
 

 KeolisAmey Metrolink –acknowledging the significant challenges raised by 
TfGM colleagues, other areas of focus for the organisation included crime and 
Anti-Social Behaviour along with community engagement. Furthermore, there 
would be a fundamental focus on safety of passengers, the health and well 
being of staff, the environment and customer satisfaction. It was confirmed that 
all staff, not just those on the frontline would partake in the two-day 
collaborative NHS training to assist more vulnerable passengers. There had 
been a further focus on improving the workings of both management and 
information systems for the organisation. KeolisAmey was the first transport 
company to become a member of the United Nations global network working 
towards sustainable development goals. 
 

Page 20



7 

 

 Northern Rail – it had been a significant period for the industry particularly with 
the announcement of the Williams-Shapps Review Review. An overview of the 
Framework Agreement was provided and it was highlighted that industry 
revenue was down by 80% and government support was an unsustainable 
circa £800m per month with a £2bn gap in industry finances. There had been a 
recognised requirement for urgent reform. It was advised that currently none of 
the Northern service groups were achieving a profit which was of concern and 
growth was needed with current rates of patronage at 55%. An overview of the 
proposed additional services to be introduced in December 2021 to meet 
increased leisure demand was provided. It was advised that a return to Sunday 
services for Rose Hill was not planned for December 2021 and unfortunately 
possibly not for the foreseeable future. 
Appreciation was placed on record for the services that were due to return at 
Wigan and West Houghton with an acknowledgment of the difficulties 
experienced. 
 

 Avanti West Coast – an overview of current initiatives was provided which 
included the introduction of standard premium class from May for a fixed price 
upgrade cost of £25 for services between Manchester and London. This had 
been complemented by a new seat ordering service via an app which allowed 
customers to purchase food and beverages on board whilst connected to Wi-Fi. 
As part of £117m investment, all Pendolino trains would undergo refurbishment 
throughout the year with the first upgrade due to take place the following week. 
Station improvements were also underway which included cycle parking, ticket 
vending machines and energy efficient redevelopment schemes.   
 

 Network Rail – an update on work at Piccadilly Train Station to welcome 
passengers returning in anticipation of the relaxation of Covid restrictions was 
provided. Covid management plans were still in place and signage would 
remain over the forthcoming weeks. Travel ambassadors would be deployed to 
reassure passengers that it was safe for those less confident who were 
required to travel. A campaign had been launched on slips, trips, falls and 
intoxication for safety at the station. Footfall was reported to be around 50k per 
day which was 50% of pre Covid levels at Piccadilly, but this was anticipated to 
increase as restrictions were relaxed the following week. Options were being 
considered to deal effectively with the increases in track, trace and isolate 
cases amongst staff. Across Network Rail and Train Operators, a campaign 
had been launched in Partnership with Shelter using Manchester Piccadilly as a 
trial site to identify homeless and rough sleepers using the station. Since the 
initiative had begun, a number of individuals had been referred and some had 
been placed in permanent and temporary accommodation. An overview of the 
collaborative work underway between the route crime team and the BTP was 
provided. Further details on the breakdown of forthcoming engineering work 
was outlined. Further details on the platform lengthening programme was 
requested and it was agreed that an update would be provided directly to 
Councillor Angie Clarke. 
.  

 
Resolved /- 

 
1. That the report be noted. 

Page 21



8 

 

2. That an update on platform lengthening projects be provided by Network Rail to 
Councillor Angie Clark. 
 

GMTMRC 30/21 GMTC TRANSPORT WORK PROGRAMME 
 

The latest work programme for the GM Transport Committee was presented for approval. 
 

Resolved /- 
 

That the Work Programme be noted. 
 

 
GMTMRC 31/21 DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 

 
Resolved /- 
 

Friday 17 September 2021 
Friday 12 November 2021 
Friday 14 January 2022 
Friday 11 March 2022 
  
All Meetings will commence at 10:30am 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 22



MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER  
BUS SERVICES SUB-COMMITTEE 

HELD ON FRIDAY 6 AUGUST 2021 AT 10:30AM AT MANCHESTER TOWN HALL 
 
 
PRESENT: 

Councillor Jackie Harris 
Councillor Kevin Peel  
Councillor John Leech 

Bury Council 
Bury Council  
Manchester City Council 

Councillor Phil Burke Rochdale Council 
Councillor Barry Warner  Salford City Council 
Councillor David Meller Stockport MBC 
Councillor Warren Bray  Tameside MBC (Chair) 
Councillor Nathan Evans 
Councillor Mark Aldred 

Trafford Council 
Wigan Council 

 
OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 

Lindsay Dunn Senior Governance & Scrutiny Officer, GMCA  
Stephen Rhodes Customer Director, TfGM 
Nick Roberts Head of Services & Commercial Development, 

TfGM 
Gwynne Williams Deputy Monitoring Officer, GMCA 
  

 
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 
 
Tom Calderbrook Diamond 
Bob Dunn  Diamond  
Ian Humphreys  First 
Gary Knowlan First 
Connor Lomas Go North West 
Paul Turner  Transdev 
 

GMTBSC 43/20 APOLOGIES 
 
Resolved /- 
 
That apologies be received and noted from Councillor Roger Jones (Salford CC) and Alastair 
Nuttall (Arriva). 

 
GMTBSC 44/20 APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR FOR 2021/22 

 
Resolved /- 
 
To note that the GM Transport Committee at its meeting on the 18 June appointed Councillor 
Roger Jones as Chair and Councillor Warren Bray as Vice Chair of the Bus Services Sub 
Committee for 2021/22. 

 
GMTBSC 45/20 MEMBERSHIP FOR 2021/22 
 
Resolved /- 

Page 23



2 

 

 
 
To note the membership of the GMTC Bus Services Sub Committee for 2021/22 as follows: 

  

Members Representing Political Party 

Councillor Roger Jones Salford Council Labour 

Councillor Warren Bray Tameside MBC Labour 

Councillor Kevin Peel Bury Council Labour 

Councillor Naeem Hassan Manchester City 
Council 

Labour 

Councillor Mark Aldred Wigan Council Labour 

Councillor Phil Burke Rochdale Council Labour 

Councillor Barry Warner Salford Council Labour 

Councillor David Meller Stockport MBC Labour 

Councillor Nathan Evans Trafford Council Conservative 

Councillor Jackie Harris Bury Council Conservative 

Councillor John Leech Manchester City 
Council 

Liberal 
Democrat 

 
GMTBSC 46/20 CHAIRS ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS 

 
Resolved /- 
 
There were no chairs announcements or items of urgent business. 
 
GMTBSC 47/20 
 
Resolved /- 

 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 
GMTBC 48/20 MINUTES OF THE GM TRANSPORT BUS SERVICES SUB 

COMMITTEE MEETING HELD 12 MARCH 2021 
 
Resolved /- 
 
That the minutes of the GM Transport Bus Services Sub Committee meeting held 12 
March 2021 be approved as a correct record. 

 
GMTBSC 49/20 UPDATE FROM OPERATORS  

 
The Chair invited Councillor Phil Burke (Rochdale Council) to raise an issue of concern 
regarding the wearing of face coverings on bus services. He expressed his disappointment 
on the decision to take no further enforcement action after the relaxation of restrictions on 
‘Freedom Day’ given the increase in infection rates in the region from the delta variant. He 
highlighted the evidence in regard to the wearing of face coverings and the close proximity 
of commuters on bus services which he believed would put staff and commuters at 
increased risk and leave vulnerable passengers less confident to travel without the 
mandatory continuation on the wearing of face coverings. He suggested that operators 
were considering profits before the health of passengers by not supporting the extension of 
the wearing of face coverings until further notice.   
 

Page 24



3 

 

Bus operators were requested to provide a verbal update on the key issues and 
developments since the last Committee meeting along with a response to the position on 
face coverings raised by Councillor Phil Burke. 
 
Comments raised by bus operators included the following: 
 

 First – Members were advised that the requirement to wear face coverings was not 
included in the risk assessment for staff as they would continue to work within semi 
sealed cabs. Regarding the wider customer base, it was advised that guidance was 
being followed on the network similar to that across the rail industry and retail where 
there was a strong recommendation for people to wear face coverings. However, this 
would not be mandated and it was considered it may lead to the public transport 
network being stigmatised and viewed differently from other environments which 
could discourage people from using public transport. It was further advised that both 
profit and cost were not the reasons behind the decision not to mandate face 
coverings as government funding had been received to subsidise the industry.  
More generally it was reported that staff were continuing to work hard throughout 
changing circumstances, for which the company were appreciative. It was advised 
there had been a slight increase in staff shielding and isolating over recent months 
and more recently the track and trace ‘pingdemic’ had been increasingly difficult to 
manage due to unpredictability and the impact on service delivery. Staffing was at 
the levels expected, however there had been a noticeable change in behaviours with 
staff reassessing their work life balance as a result of the pandemic and requesting 
to work shorter hours. This appeared to be impacting the industry as a whole 
throughout the UK. 
Patronage was reported to be 67% pre-Covid levels which varied by area and 
commuter routes were less busy than leisure routes. Building back from the 
pandemic was being considered by the organisation and current ridership trends 
were being reviewed. Recovery and support funding from the Dft was welcomed and 
work was under way with colleagues in TfGM on what the recovery process would 
entail over the forthcoming months along with preparation of the Bus Service 
Improvement Plan. 

 Diamond – The position with regards to face coverings highlighted by First was 
reiterated. Risk assessments were in place that addressed driver safety and it was 
reported that some had still opted to wear face coverings. However, with regards to 
passengers the Government’s position on a balanced approach to choose had been 
adopted and the Committee were advised that staff were strongly recommended not 
to enforce the wearing of them to minimise conflict. 
Ridership was reported to be circa. 70% of pre Covid levels and the concessionary 
travel element was slightly lower. 96% of pre Covid mileage was operational across 
100% of the network and the majority of services would return to normal from the 
beginning of September.  
Vehicles had been replaced across the fleet over the previous 18-24 months with a 
reported 150 new buses in GM. 70% of vehicles across the fleet were Euro 6 
emission standard of which all services that operated in the city centre were of the 
Euro 6 standard. Zero emission buses were the planned for the city centre in the 
future. 
Staffing issues were reported to be a challenge with a shortage of drivers due to 
increased numbers of those retiring. Pay rates had been revised and new drivers 
were being trained to address staffing issues and deliver services. 

 Go North West – Scientific studies had provided evidence that travelling by bus did 
not increase the risk of transmission of catching Covid and hence the same position 

Page 25



4 

 

on face coverings had been adopted the company. Profit had not been a factor as 
there was a reliance on Government support across the industry. 
It was advised that industrial action taken by drivers had ended in May with a 
negotiated settlement with the Unite union which had resulted in the return to work of 
all drivers by the end of May. All services were now being run in house on the usual 
timetable and there was a noticeable positive environment at the depot. 
A marketing campaign had been launched in partnership with businesses to help the 
public rediscover the environmental and social benefits of bus travel as restrictions 
had been lifted.  
There would be no significant timetable alterations in September, however recovery 
time would be a consideration for higher frequency services as traffic congestion 
during peak periods was reviewed. 
There would be further fleet investment and buses would be retrofitted to ensure 
compliance with the Clean Air Zone emissions in 2022. Since the last meeting, an 
app and new website had been launched providing live customer information on 
service tracking and service occupancy.   
Patronage was reported to be 35% pre Covid levels and there had been a high 
number of staff absences due to what was referred as the ‘pingdemic’ and a 
recruitment campaign was underway.  
There was a current fare promotion of £1 for any journey any distance across the 
operated network after 7pm to help towards the revival of the night time economy. 
Also being offered were ticket bundle reductions. 
Punctuality was currently being affected at peak times due to the impact of traffic 
congestion as a result of disruptive engineering schemes across the City Centre.   

 Transdev – The wearing of face coverings was still being promoted to passengers 
and driver screens were still in place. There had been no reported increase in 
feedback from customers with regard to the wearing of face coverings and no 
complaints from staff on the levels of people choosing whether or not to wear them. 
Furthermore, drivers and colleagues were being regularly tested.     
It was anticipated that driver availability would improve as a result of the changes in 
isolation requirements.  
Cleaning the fleet to the advance specification remained in place and would continue 
as a legacy from the pandemic.  
It was advised that recovery across the network was better in both Bury and 
Rochdale compared to Manchester City Centre and a similar pattern was reported 
across Yorkshire and Lancashire where towns had busier routes than those going 
into the City Centre’s.  
There were fare promotions across the network to encourage recovery within the 
industry along with the hospitality sector.  
 

The Chair thanked Operators for their individual updates along with the responses to the 
statement raised in relation to the wearing of face coverings. 
 
Members highlighted the recent study carried out at Piccadilly Train Station and on train 
carriages which had reported no traces of Covid or the new variants. It was suggested that 
a similar test at bus stations and across the fleet could be a consideration for TfGM to assist 
to undertake to improve public confidence.  
 
The Committee reflected on the feedback provided by Operators with regard to patronage 
behaviour change. It was suggested and agreed that data on trends in relation to commuter 
and leisure ridership would be provided by Operators at the next meeting.     
 

Page 26



5 

 

It was proposed that operators should provide consideration to the possibility that none 
mandatory wearing of face coverings could prevent older people, who were probably more 
cautious in their approach, from returning to the network. Operators reiterated that there 
had been no change with regards to face coverings as in reality, prior to ‘Freedom Day’ 
there had been no enforcement due to a lack of police resource availability. There was 
however a reported high level of compliance. Data indicated that there had been an 
increase in the return of older people across the network operated by Transdev. As the 
vaccine programme had been rolled out and lockdown restrictions eased this had reduced 
the gap to between 7-8% pre Covid levels.  
 
Consideration was provided to the decrease in commuting bus travel. It was advised that 
although there may be a number of office workers who would continue to work from home 
or more flexibly, there had been commuters who continued to travel to work throughout the 
pandemic from different sectors of industry. 
 
Members discussed driver shortage across the industry and requested clarity on the 
reasons why this was a current challenge. It was suggested that there had been a number 
of coincidences that were contributing to the issue which included Brexit, a back log in 
driver training due to the pandemic and the number of individuals who had retired. It was 
advised the driving industry on the whole was being affected.  
 
The Chair raised a concern on behalf of Councillor Norman Briggs (Oldham Council) with 
regard to the 181 and 182 bus service operated by First. It was agreed that further contact 
would be made to understand the issues and address the concerns. 
 
Members welcomed the cleaning regime that had been introduced and asked for assurance 
that this would remain in place to ensure buses continued to be as clean as they were 
currently reported to be.    
 
The Chair noted the update with regard to vehicles being retrofitted or replaced to become 
compliant before the introduction of the GM Clean Air Zone and it was suggested that a 
breakdown in numbers be provided by Operators at future meetings. 

 
Resolved /- 

 
1. That the response from Operators to the statement made and questions raised by 

Councillor Phil Burke (Rochdale Council) in relation to face coverings on bus services 
be noted. 

2. That the update from Operators be noted. 
3. That data on trends in relation to commuter and leisure patronage be provided by 

operators at the next meeting.  
4. That Councillor Norman Briggs (TfGMC Member, Oldham Council) be contacted directly 

by First Bus regarding a query in relation to 182 bus service changes. 
5. That a breakdown in numbers of vehicles being retrofitted or replaced to become 

compliant before the introduction of the GM Clean Air Zone be provided by Operators at 
future meetings. 

 
GMTBSC 50/20 BUS BACK BETTER: NATIONAL BUS STRATEGY BUS SERVICES 

IMPROVEMENT PLAN - GREATER MANCHESTER’S APPROACH  
 

Stephen Rhodes, Customer Director, TfGM introduced a presentation which provided 
details of Greater Manchester’s approach to the National Bus Strategy Bus Services 
Improvement Plan, Bus Back Better.  

Page 27



6 

 

 
The strategic context of the new national strategy for buses in England (outside London) 
published by the DfT in March was outlined. It was advised that the key element of the 
strategy was to get more people travelling by bus and a key output from the National Bus 
Strategy was a Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP). 
 
The BSIP in the context of the National Bus Strategy was outlined and it was advised that 
the BSIP was an integral part and an early deliverable of Bus Reform and Franchising. 
 
The timeline for the initial BSIP, key milestones along with the key opportunities and risks 
and next steps were outlined to the Committee. It was suggested and agreed that a further 
update on progress would be provided to the Sub Committee at the next meeting and a 
draft submission of the Bus Services Improvement Plan be provided by TfGM officers for 
consideration by the GMTC Committee on 1 October 2021 ahead of presentation to the 
GMCA for approval on 29 October 2021. 
 
In support of the BSIP, members suggested that engagement should be undertaken with 
the regions MP’s to maximise opportunities for GM along with others who had been 
identified in the next steps. It was agreed that this was a further opportunity for engagement 
and would be discussed with the Corporate Affairs team at TfGM to initiate within the time 
frame available.  
 
Members commented that the presentation had not succinctly highlighted the objectives 
and priorities of the BSIP in contextual terms for passengers. It was advised that the 
content of the document would ensure that the ambition and aspiration for GM was detailed 
and linked to wider vision for bus services.    
 
The constructive and useful discussions that had taken place with Operators on the 
development of the BSIP was welcomed, however members asked for further clarification 
on the opportunities for the Greater Manchester Transport Committee members to provide 
their input into the process. The relatively short time scale to obtain input was recognised, 
however it was reiterated that a further update would be provided to the next meeting of the 
Sub-Committee and a draft submission of the document would be provided to members at 
the earliest opportunity.  
 
It was suggested that the impact of the outcome of the Judicial Review on Bus Franchising 
had been overlooked as a key risk to the BSIP. It was advised that all Transport Authorities 
were required to submit a Bus Services Improvement Plan regardless of the mechanism for 
the delivery of bus services.  
 
Operators confirmed and welcomed the opportunity to be involved and provide support in 
the development of the BSIP.  

 
Resolved /- 

 
1. That the report be noted. 
2. That a further update on the progress of the Bus Services Improvement Plan be 

provided by TfGM officers to GMTC Bus Services Sub Committee on 1 October 2021. 
3. That a draft submission of the Bus Services Improvement Plan be provided by TfGM 

officers for consideration by the GMTC Committee on 15 October 2021 ahead of 
presentation to the GMCA for approval on 29 October 2021. 

 
 

Page 28



7 

 

 
GMTBSC 51/20 FORTHCOMING CHANGES TO THE BUS NETWORK  

 
Nick Roberts, Head of Services & Commercial Development, TfGM took Members through 
the latest forthcoming changes to the bus network report. 
 
Annex A 
 
In relation to service X41, Members expressed concern that additional stops introduced on 
Bury New Road between Manchester and Prestwich could have an impact on reliability and 
frequency.it was clarified that there would be an additional three stops which were all 
relatively close together on the hourly service and data suggested there would be no impact 
on relatively low volume stops. 
 
Thanks was placed on record to officers at TfGM and Transdev for the dialogue which had 
taken place with elected members at Rochdale Council enabling the extension of service 
475.   
 
Annex B and Annex C 
 
In relation to Annex C, there were proposed changes to services based on punctuality and 
health and safety requirements. It was also advised that to improve efficiency, there had 
been integration of school services into the main network. 

 
Members welcomed service changes to the B1, B2 and B4 and 480 routes. It was 
requested however that further information was provided to ward councillors for Prestwich 
at Bury Council, regarding data relating to the proposal to terminate service 66 operated by 
Diamond at the Longfield Centre, Prestwich. It was suggested that the reason for the 
decision was due to low usage of a section of the route and it was agreed that further 
statistical information would be provided to Councillor Kevin Peel (Bury Council), in respect 
of the proposal. 
 
Officers at TfGM and Transdev were thanked on behalf of the residents for additional 
morning and evening services on route 458 operating in Rochdale along with those in the 
evening and on Sunday to Stansfield. 
 
Support was provided on behalf of Councillor Howard Sykes (Oldham Council) and other 
ward councillors with regard to service 435 operating in Shaw.     

 
Resolved /- 

 
1. That the changes to the commercial network set out in Annex A be noted. 
2. That it be agreed that no action be taken in respect of changes or de-registered 

commercial services set out in Annex A. 
3. That the action taken in respect of the service change set out in Annex B be noted. 
4. That the proposed changes to general subsidised services set out in Annex C be 

agreed. 
5. That further statistical information be provided to Councillor Kevin Peel (Bury Council), 

in respect of the proposal to terminate service route 66 at Prestwich, Longfield Centre. 
 

GMTBSC 52/20 
 
GMTC WORK PROGAMME 
 

Resolved /- 

Page 29



8 

 

 
That the proposed work programme for the GM Transport Committee and its Sub 
Committees be noted. 

 
GMTBSC 53/20 

 
DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 

Resolved /- 
 

That the following dates of future meetings be noted by the Committee. 
 
1 October 2021 
19 November 2021 
21 January 2022 
18 March 2022 
 
All meetings will commence at 10:30am  

 
GMTBSC 54/20 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
Resolved /- 

 
That, under section 100 (A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and public 
should be excluded from the meeting for the following items on business on the grounds 
that this involved the likely disclosure of exempt information, as set out in the relevant 
paragraphs of Part 1, Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 and that the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the public interest in disclosing the 
information. 

 
GMTBSC 53/20 FORTHCOMING CHANGES TO THE BUS NETWORK 

 
Resolved /- 

 
That the financial implications of forthcoming changes to the bus network be noted by the 
Committee. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



The Bee Network 

Our network, for our place, for our time and for our future 

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 6



1. Why do we need it? 

2. What is it? 

3. Why will people use it? 

4. Which modes should we prioritise?  

5. What do we need to do to deliver a successful  
Bee Network? 

6. Next Steps?

Questions

P
age 32



1.Why do we need it?

Its successful delivery is essential to meet commitments in several GM 
strategies: 

• GM’s 2040 strategy


• Made to Move


• GM Clean Air Plan


• 2038 Carbon Commitments


• GM Taking Charge Strategy


• GM Environment strategy


Central government funding likely to be contingent on reducing car use 
and increasing active travel. 

• Bus Back Better


• Gear Change

P
age 33



2.What is it?

An integrated, affordable, reliable, sustainable, public transport 
and active travel network that people choose to use. 

It will offer options for all journey lengths, from doorstep to 
destination for all GM residents. Its purpose is to give everyone 
traveling in GM an attractive alternative to driving.


P
age 34



3.Why will people choose to use it over driving?

• It is easy to use (easier than driving and parking)


• It is reliable (more reliable than driving)


• It is affordable (as cheap as driving and parking)


• It is quick (about the same as driving)


• It is convenient (goes from where I am to where I want to go, frequently)


• It feels safe (at least as safe as driving) 


Whatever we build or whatever service we provide must meet these tests to 
ensure transport culture change, sustainability and affordability. 


Our existing proxy tests still apply:


‘It must be usable and want to be used by a competent 12yr old or a parent 
with a double buggy.'

P
age 35



4.Which modes should we prioritise?

To ensure a strong return on investment, that we can secure the 
required investment from government and that the network is future 
proof, we will need to priories modes that: 


• Give most return on investment (revenue, health, social value, 
efficiency of space…etc)


• Most likely to be preferred by users medium to long term


• Helps most in meeting GM major commitments


• Most cost effective to implement and sustainable to run


• Improves the environment for those living and working in GM


• Meets central government funding requirements

P
age 36



5.What do we need to do to deliver it?

• A GM-wide agreement to re-prioritise some of the regions road space


• A GM-wide agreement on road users hierarchy


• A GM wide agreement to curtail the impact of driving on other modes


• Coordinated delivery


• Acquiring sufficient capital funding and priorities  


• Acquiring short to medium term revenue funding


• Securing necessary regulatory changes

P
age 37



6.Next Steps?

Commissioners Report (September 2021) 

Refined Definition 

Prioritisation 

Success Requirements 

P
age 38



The Bee Network 

Our network, for our place, for our time and for our future 

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

 

GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
Date:   20th August 2021 
 
Subject:  Streets for All 
 
Report of: Andy Burnham, Mayor of Greater Manchester and Portfolio Lead for 

Transport and Eamonn Boylan, Chief Executive Officer, GMCA & 
TfGM 

 
 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 
 
This report provides an overview of the Streets for All Strategy, which forms a sub-strategy 
to the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040.   
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
The GM Transport Committee is requested to: 

1. Review and comment on the GM Streets for All approach and principles that will 
underpin the Streets for All Strategy, as set out in this report.  

2. Endorse the approach prior to planned approval of the Streets for All Strategy by 
GMCA in September.  

 
 

CONTACT OFFICERS: 
 

Simon Warburton, Transport Strategy Director, TfGM, Simon.Warburton@tfgm.com    

Nicola Kane, Head of Strategic Planning and Research, TfGM, Nicola.Kane@tfgm.com    

Jonathan Marsh, Strategic Planning Manager, TfGM, Jonathan.Marsh@tfgm.com  

 

Equalities Implications: 

The Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 documents aim to contribute to 
delivering sustainable economic growth, improve quality of life and protect the 
environment.  The original GM Transport Strategy 2040 was the subject of an Integrated 
Assessment which includes an Equalities Assessment. Streets for All has also been the 
subject of an Equalities Impact Assessment. 

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Simon.Warburton@tfgm.com
mailto:Nicola.Kane@tfgm.com
mailto:Jonathan.Marsh@tfgm.com


 

 

Climate Change Impact Assessment and Mitigation Measures –  
 
The Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 documents support Greater 
Manchester’s ambition to be carbon neutral by 2038. 
 
Risk Management: 
N/A 
 
Legal Considerations: 
N/A 
 
Financial Consequences – Revenue: 
See capital below.  
 
Financial Consequences – Capital: 
Please see Our Five-Year Transport Delivery Plan (2021-26) which includes a funding 
summary statement.  
 
Number of attachments to the report? 
N/A 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS:  
https://tfgm.com/Strategy  
 

TRACKING/PROCESS [All sections to be completed] 

Does this report relate to a major strategic decision, as set out in 
the GMCA Constitution  
 
 

Yes  
 

EXEMPTION FROM CALL IN 

Are there any aspects in this report which 
means it should be considered to be 
exempt from call in by the relevant Scrutiny 
Committee on the grounds of urgency? 

No 

GM Transport Committee Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

January 2020 10/6/21 

 
 

  

Page 42

https://tfgm.com/Strategy


 

 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Updated Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 documents were approved 
by GMCA in January 2021, including: a refreshed version of the long-term, 
statutory local transport plan (LTP) - the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 
2040; a final version of Our Five-Year Transport Delivery Plan (2021-2026); and 
ten new Local Implementation Plans (one for each Greater Manchester council). 

1.2 To support the overarching LTP documents a suite of GM2040 sub-strategies is 
being developed which set out more detailed policies, principles and guidance on 
how GM intends to deliver the 2040 ambitions.  These sub-strategies will be 
crucial in helping to ensure we are focusing our finite resources on “doing the right 
things” (to achieve our 2040 vision); “doing things right” in terms of delivering 
against consistently high standards to maximise the impact of our transport 
interventions; and to ensure we are creating a coherent transport network for GM 
which is aligned with the 2040 Network principles and delivers Our Bee Network 
ambitions.  These sub-strategies are at varying stages of development.   

1.3 Streets for All is planned to be one of the first sub-strategies to be approved and 
adopted by GMCA.  In addition to the overview of Streets for All below, a 
presentation is planned to be given at the meeting which will provide further detail 
on Streets for All.  

2. What is ‘Streets for All’?  

2.1 Streets for All is a new approach for everything we do on streets in Greater 
Manchester. Streets for All supports our place-based agenda as well as achieving 
our ambition for more travel by walking, cycling and public transport, which will 
help us to tackle our most pressing economic, environmental, quality of life and 
innovation challenges.   

2.2 The ambition is to design more welcoming and greener streets which enable 
people to incorporate more physical activity into their daily lives; which have clean 
air; which are safe and secure for everyone; which provide good access to public 
transport; and which are accessible for those with mobility impairments. 

2.3 When published, the Streets for All Strategy will build on the policy direction set 
out in the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 and our Right Mix vision. It 
emphasises the importance of delivering active travel and public transport 
infrastructure and service improvements in a co-ordinated way and of supporting 
land use changes, which bring day to day services closer to where people live. 
Culture change around active and sustainable travel is also becoming more 
embedded across Greater Manchester, and this also forms a key part of the 
Streets for All Strategy.  

2.4 Streets for All offers a long term approach - rather than an overnight ‘quick fix’ - 
which will require changes over time to how streets are designed and managed. It 
will also involve changes to the role of some existing streets where, for example, 

Page 43



 

 

place-making may be given greater emphasis than the movement of private 
vehicles. Political leadership will be required - alongside close dialogue with local 
communities – as we transition towards Streets for All across Greater Manchester, 
as part of our ambition for clean air and carbon neutrality, and our ongoing 
commitment to improving public health.   

2.5 For us to achieve all these important ambitions, our city-region needs to be much 
easier to get around on foot, by cycle and using public transport, with streets which 
are more pleasant to spend time in. The purpose of Streets for All is to set out 
Greater Manchester’s progressive approach to making this happen, by putting 
people first as we shape and manage our streets.   

3. What kind of values underpin ‘Streets for All’?  

3.1 As shown in the graphic below, Streets for All will be guided by 7 ‘Essentials’ 
which are for us – GMCA, 10 Greater Manchester Local Authorities, TfGM - to 
deliver in partnership with residents, businesses, transport operators, the NHS, 
emergency services - all working together and doing our bit. 

 

3.2 Our 7 Streets for All ‘Essentials’ are our priorities and our promise that support our 
people centred approach to streets across Greater Manchester.  

Page 44



 

 

4. The Streets for All Approach 

4.1 The Covid-19 pandemic has brought the quality of our streets into sharp focus. 
People are spending more time in their local areas and high streets, and recognise 
the value of having safe places to walk and cycle and to spend time in.  Our 
residential streets have started to feel more like community spaces as people have 
been interacting more.  Now, more than ever, people understand the urgent need 
to improve streets in their local neighbourhoods and town centres to support better 
health, wellbeing and economic vitality.   

4.2 The Streets for All approach is about working at three levels (1. Spatial Planning; 
2. Network Planning; and 3. Street Design & Management) to ensure that Greater 
Manchester’s roads can be transitioned to Streets for All. 

4.3 Central to the approach is reducing the distances people need to travel to reach 
everyday destinations such as work, healthcare, education, green spaces and 
leisure facilities. Shorter distances mean more trips that can easily be walked or 
cycled and new developments can be designed to be easy and safe to access on 
foot, by cycle and using public transport. The 15 minute neighbourhood concept, 
whereby in urban areas residents can meet most of their needs within a short 
walk, cycle or public transport journey, is an example of this. 

4.4 Our streets have different roles. One objective of ‘Streets for All’ is to ensure the 
right movement is happening on the right kind of street. Some streets are 
‘Destination Places’ or ‘Active Neighbourhoods,’ which have low levels of moving 
vehicles – we need to make sure these kinds of streets are pleasant places to live 
and spend time in, where it is easy to access local facilities on foot or by cycle. 
Active travel - alongside public transport - also plays an important role in 
supporting economically successful ‘High Streets’. 

4.5 ‘Connector Roads’ are important for moving buses and making sure that public 
transport has adequate priority to be reliable and attractive to users, and they are 
also important for service and delivery vehicles accessing our city and town 
centres. Strategic Roads should be carrying larger vehicles on longer journeys to 
ensure that the impacts of motorised traffic on local streets are minimised.  

Page 45



 

 

 

4.6 A major benefit of this Streets for All approach is that it avoids pitting different 
transport users against one another (e.g., drivers vs. cyclists; bus users vs. 
pedestrians) and instead starts with a consideration of all people and places and 
then considers what sorts of movement need to be facilitated within a broad 
corridor or across a local area. It also helps us to take a more strategic and 
integrated view of the transport networks we are delivering (whether that is walking 
and cycling networks; bus networks; or networks for moving freight and general 
traffic) and makes sure we provide the right quality and capacity of transport and 
infrastructure to meet that need.  It also doesn’t require ring-fenced funding pots 
for different transport modes: for example, within a single Streets for All scheme, 
we can design the right facilities for public realm, walking and cycling, buses and 
general traffic.    

4.7 We are piloting elements of the Streets for All approach through a number of 
transport projects such as Quality Bus Transit, as we believe that these will make 
things better for people travelling in our local neighbourhoods, towns and cities. 
We are clear, however, about the need to review and report progress on these 
different elements of Streets for All, as we aim to deliver our overall transport 
vision for the people of Greater Manchester.  We commit to keeping the Streets for 
All strategy and policies under regular review to ensure it meets the needs of the 
people of Greater Manchester. 

 

 

Page 46



 
 

 

 

 

GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
Date:   20 August 2021  
 
Subject:  GMTC Walking and Cycling Update and Forward Look Report  
  
Report of:  Richard Nickson – Programme Director (Cycling and Walking)  
  
 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 
 
To provide an update on GM walking and cycling activities over the last 6 months and to 
set out key actions up to December 2021.  
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
The active travel programme is meet the GM 2040 transport targets to double and double 
again the number of trips cycled and increase walking trips by a third. Active travel trips 
are zero carbon and the most accessible forms of transport with zero or very low costs to 
entry.  
 
The GM Transport Committee is requested to: 
 

1. Note the progress that has taken place over the last 12 months against the 15 Made 
to Move steps 

 
2. Note the priorities that have been identified to take forward over the next 12 months. 

 
3. Note the infrastructure, by Local Authorities that will be delivered by December 

2021. 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICERS: 
 
Richard Nickson, Programme Director (Cycling and Walking): richard.nickson@tfgm.com  
 

 

 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 8



 

Equalities Implications: 

All temporary and permanent infrastructure will be fully inclusive in its design and 
development, with the proactive involvement of organisations such as the Disability Design 
Reference Group (DDRG).  

Climate Change Impact Assessment and Mitigation Measures –  
 
1.  All the updates and actions in this report relate to reducing carbon emissions and 

improving air quality as they focus on enabling more people to travel on foot or by bike 
for everyday journeys. Active travel produces zero carbon, and the programme seeks 
to provide an attractive alternative to driving short trips so reducing carbon from car 
trips that have been replaced by active travel.  

 

Risk Management: 

The actions detailed in this report will directly support delivery of Made to Move’s 15 steps. 
In relation to infrastructure, a programme risk register is maintained and updated by the 
TfGM MCF programme team.  

 

Legal Considerations: 

Legal Delivery Agreements and legal side-letters will be produced and implemented for full 
scheme and development cost approvals as appropriate.  

 

Financial Consequences – Revenue: 

Not applicable 

 

Financial Consequences – Capital: 

Not applicable 

 
Number of attachments to the report: one 
 
Comments/recommendations from Overview & Scrutiny Committee  

Short paragraph to be included here: 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS:  
 

• December 2017 – Made to Move  
• June 2018 – Beelines (renamed Bee Network)  
• 29 March 2018 – Transforming Cities Fund report to GMCA  
• 25 May 2018 – Cycling & Walking Update  
• 29 June 2018 – Transforming Cities Fund report to GMCA  
• 27 July 2018 – Transforming Cities Fund report to GMCA  
• 8 September 2018 – Mayor’s Cycling & Walking Challenge Fund  
• 29 March 2019 – Mayor’s Cycling & Walking Challenge Fund  
• 28 June 2019 – Mayor’s Cycling & Walking Challenge Fund  

Page 48



 

• November 2019 – Change a Region to Change a Nation  
• 29 November 2019 – Mayor’s Cycling & Walking Challenge Fund  
• 5 May 2020 – Mayor’s Challenge Fund Update and Prioritisation  
• 26 June 2020 – Mayor’s Challenge Fund Cycling and Walking Financial  
 
Approvals  
• 31 July 2020 – Mayor’s Challenge Fund Cycling and Walking Financial 
Approvals  
• 2 September 2020 – Mayor’s Challenge Fund Cycling and Walking Financial  

 
 

TRACKING/PROCESS [All sections to be completed] 

Does this report relate to a major strategic decision, as set out in 
the GMCA Constitution  
 
 

No 

EXEMPTION FROM CALL IN 

Are there any aspects in this report which 
means it should be considered to be 
exempt from call in by the relevant Scrutiny 
Committee on the grounds of urgency? 

No 

GM Transport Committee Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

[Date considered at GM 
Transport Cttee if 
appropriate] 

[Date considered by the 
relevant Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee] 

 
  

Page 49



 

1. INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND 
 
 
1.1 The Walking and Cycling Programme is split into five ‘pillars’ of work to enable 

progress towards achieving Made to Move’s 15 actions. The pillars are, Strategy; 
Infrastructure; Access to active travel; Safety and technical policy; and Activation. 

 
 

2. STRATEGY 
 
 
2.1 The growth of active travel seen in 2020 has been maintained, with cycle trips 

around 20% and walking trips 10% above pre-pandemic levels. Together, active 
travel carries the most passengers, second only to driving in terms of trip numbers. 
Greater Manchester’s 2040 Transport Strategy requires walking to increase by one 
third and cycling to double and double again so this increase in trips needs to be 
maintained and built on. 

 
2.2  The Government is also seeking to build on this uptake. The recently published 

Transport Decarbonisation plan clearly sets out the crucial role active travel, 
alongside public transport, must play to reach Net Zero. The Government has 
stated very clearly that active travel design must be integrated into all transport 
investment from now on, including the City Region Sustainable Transport Fund and 
Bus Service Improvement Plans. 

 
 

3. INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
 
3.1  2021 is the ‘Year of Delivery’ on the Mayor’s Cycling and Walking Challenge Fund. 

Over £90m of scheme approvals have been granted to date and the scale of spend 
has increased tenfold in the past 3 years. 100 kilometres of new routes are 
expected to be completed by the end of the year. This includes a further 26 cycling 
and walking routes or junction upgrades which will be delivered across Greater 
Manchester.  

  
3.2  The appendix includes a district-by-district breakdown of scheme progress.  
 
3.3 In 2020/21, TfGM on behalf of GMCA successfully secured a further £20m as part 

of the DfT’s Active Travel Fund. Work is currently underway to bid for the Active 
Travel Fund 2021/22 with a deadline of 9 August. It is only a one-year funding 
settlement so Greater Manchester’s bid will focus funding on schemes at an 
advanced phase of development. It is expected that there will be a multi-year 
settlement for Active Travel Funding from 2022 onwards for the remainder of the 
£2bn set out in Gear Change. 

 

4. ACCESS TO ACTIVE TRAVEL  
 

Page 50

https://assets.ctfassets.net/nv7y93idf4jq/1a6jJ4qoJe6OwcKIAIy0qs/9e1429b07eacde218045d327ecef90dc/Made_to_move.pdf
https://assets.ctfassets.net/nv7y93idf4jq/1a6jJ4qoJe6OwcKIAIy0qs/9e1429b07eacde218045d327ecef90dc/Made_to_move.pdf
https://assets.ctfassets.net/nv7y93idf4jq/1a6jJ4qoJe6OwcKIAIy0qs/9e1429b07eacde218045d327ecef90dc/Made_to_move.pdf


 

4.1 Only 26% of GM households have access to a bike and this drops to just 16% for 
those living in flats. GM Cycle Hire seeks to address this and form part of Greater 
Manchester’s integrated London-style public transport system. 

 
4.2 GM Cycle Hire has reached a significant milestone by selecting bike share 

company Beryl as its preferred supplier. Phase 1 of the scheme in the Regional 
Centre is due to launch in November 2021 with the start of the roll out of 1,500 
bikes, including 300 e-bikes. Docking locations will be within a five-minute walk of 
around 200,000 residents, providing convenient and affordable access to bikes. 
Subsequent phases will see the scheme expand to the rest of Greater Manchester.  

 
4.3 In addition, TfGM is leading on rolling out a series of community Bike Libraries, 

working with community organisations across Greater Manchester to allow people 
to borrow a bike, just as one would borrow a book. Grants of up to £10,000 are 
available to community groups. The Cycle and Stride project, joint funded by the 
London Marathon Charitable Trust, continues to work with community groups and 
schools with the aim of inspiring 10,000 people in Greater Manchester to take up 
walking and riding more journeys.  

 
 

5. SAFETY AND TECHNINCAL POLICY 
 
5.1 Only 31% of Greater Manchester residents agree that “Greater Manchester’s 

transport network encourages you to walk or cycle as part of your trips”. Satisfaction 
of people who walk feeling safe from traffic during the day is 75% and this drops to 
just 51% of people who cycle. These metrics need improving to meet our transport 
targets.  

 
5.2 The Mayor has committed to publishing a Road Danger Reduction Action Plan, so 

work is underway to make this a reality. It will require a partnership approach to 
succeed, with GMP, GMCA, TfGM and local authorities all needing to play a 
significant part in making our roads feel safe.  

 
5.3 Road Danger Reduction is more than reducing collisions. It focuses on reducing the 

source of danger, just as a business would approach health and safety at work. 
Creating a ‘safe system’ approach for use of the roads will not only help achieve our 
transport targets, but it would also create safer roads for children to play and lead to 
a more equal and accessible environment for residents.  

 
 

6. ACTIVATION 
 
6.1 Increasing levels of active travel requires more than just infrastructure to make it 

accessible to all. The Bee Network website was launched providing a one-stop 
shop for the programme and how to get into walking and riding. This includes 
information on safe routes, training, programmes, and opportunities to access a 
bike for free.  

 

Page 51



 

6.2 It was announced on 31 July 2021 that GMCA was successful in securing £2.9m of 
revenue funding via the Capability Fund to promote and develop active travel. Local 
authorities will be provided funding to develop infrastructure schemes to outline 
business case. Funding will also be used to deliver Greater Manchester-wide 
behaviour change programmes based on local authority stated priorities. This will 
include funding for 50 School Streets and cycle parking for businesses. 

 
 
Richard Nickson  
Programme Director, Cycling and Walking  
  
    
APPENDICES  
  
APPENDIX A: A tabular breakdown of district progress on business case/scheme 
development/scheme delivery against the approved (prioritized) investment plan, including 
TfGM-led elements  
 
  

Page 52



 
 

 

 

 
 

   

  APPENDIX      

  

 The Mayor's Cycling & Walking Challenge Fund 

P
age 53



 

 
  

P
age 54



 

 

P
age 55



 

 

 

P
age 56



 

 
 

 

 

GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
Date:   20 August 2021 
 
Subject:  GM Moving 
 
Report of: Eve Holt, Strategic Director GM Moving and GreaterSport  

Richard Nickson, Programme Director Cycling and Walking, TfGM 
 
 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 
 
To present an update and illustration of the GM Moving approach being taken to widen 
access, participation and engagement in walking, cycling and active travel in Greater 
Manchester.    
 
This follows the update report given on the Walking Programme in December 2020, and 
papers submitted in March 2021, which explored the range of activities and measures 
being taken across GM to support the ambition of the 2040 Transport Strategy and the GM 
target of 1 million more daily sustainable journeys including 350,000 additional daily 
walking trips. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
The report is for information and the GMTC is requested to note the content of this report. 
 
The GM Transport Committee is requested to: 
 
1. Members are asked to consider and note the contents of the report and the presentation 
by Cycling Projects. 
 
2. Agree areas to be prioritised for future reporting to the committee.  
 
3. Invitation for committee members to help shape future GM Moving priorities around 
active travel as part of the GM Moving Strategy Refresh.  
 
4.Feedback is welcomed from members on opportunities and ways to help further grow 
the movement and the diversity of the movement and to usefully share the learnings to 
support other areas of work. 
 

Page 57

Agenda Item 9



 

 

CONTACT OFFICERS: 
 

Eve Holt, Strategic Director GM Moving and GreaterSport, Eve@gmmoving.co.uk 

Dr Richard Nickson, Programme Director Cycling and Walking, TfGM 
Richard.Nickson@tfgm.com 

 

Equalities Implications: 

This report shows how we are seeking to address inequalities in active travel and active 
lives more broadly and to have a positive equality impact on this programme of work. 

 

Climate Change Impact Assessment and Mitigation Measures –  
 
Walking and cycling forms a crucial element of our decarbonisation plans and strategies 
and the impacts of these sustainable modes are considered in the 2040 Transport 
Strategy and associated delivery plans.  Widening access, participation and engagement 
in all forms of active travel will further support these aims. 
 

Risk Management: 

Individual schemes are managed under appropriate levels of project and programme 
management including detailed risk assessment and management.   

 

Legal Considerations: 

There are no specific legal implications of this paper.  Individual schemes, consultations 
and programmes are managed in accordance with relevant and applicable regulations and 
guidance. 

 

Financial Consequences – Revenue: 

None. 

 

Financial Consequences – Capital: 

None. 

 
Number of attachments to the report:  
Two: 

o Active Travel and Over 50s slide dec (for information) 
o Cycling Projects slide dec (to be presented) 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS:  

o 2040 Transport Strategy. 
o GM Moving Plan: The plan for physical activity and sport 2017-2021 (July 2017) 

Page 58

mailto:Eve@gmmoving.co.uk
https://tfgm.com/2040-transport-strategy
https://gmmoving.co.uk/assets/uploads/GMM_Plan_195x230mm_36PP_AW_AMENDED_SINGLE_PAGES.pdf


 

o The Walking and Cycling strategy is embodied in the Made to Move Report 
(December 2017). 

o Greater Manchester’s Local Cycling and Walking Investment Plan; “Change a 
Region to Change a Nation” (January 2020) 

o Greater Manchester Living with Covid Resilience Plan (September 2020) 
o The Independent Inequalities Commission report, ‘The Next Level: Good Lives for 

All in Greater Manchester’, March 2021  
o The Greater Manchester commissioned ‘Build Back Fairer in Greater Manchester: 

Health Equity and Dignified Lives’ report by Michael Marmot and the Institute of 
Health Equity, July 2021 

 
 

 

TRACKING/PROCESS  

Does this report relate to a major strategic decision, as set out in the 
GMCA Constitution  
 
 

No 
 

EXEMPTION FROM CALL IN 

Are there any aspects in this report which 
means it should be considered to be exempt 
from call in by the relevant Scrutiny Committee 
on the grounds of urgency? 

For information only 

GM Transport Committee Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

20 August  

 
 
REPORT PURPOSE  
 
This report provides an update on some of the key ways the GM Moving movement supports the 
GM transport agenda and vice versa, and highlights a number of key emerging priorities as we 
seek to Build Back Fairer, to address health inequalities in travel and active lives and contribute 
towards good lives for all. 
 
INTRODUCTION TO GM MOVING 

1.1 GM Moving is our shared Greater Manchester movement for active lives 

A collective GM commitment and plan to design moving into everyday work, life, travel and play. 
For happier and healthier lives, stronger communities and economy, and a more sustainable city-
region. This four minute animation summarises our approach ‘GM Moving: Working in complex 
systems’ 
 

The current GM Moving Plan 2017-2021 includes the following priorities under Place:  

 

7.2 Support transformational growth in active travel patterns across Greater Manchester so 

that everyone, regardless of age or economic circumstance, considers cycling and walking 

to be accessible, desirable, safe and effective choices for short journeys (supporting the 

Page 59

https://activetravel.tfgm.com/publications-and-downloads/
https://activetravel.tfgm.com/publications-and-downloads/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/news/greater-manchester-living-with-covid-resilience-plan-published/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/equalities/independent-inequalities-commission/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/equalities/independent-inequalities-commission/
https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/build-back-fairer-in-greater-manchester-health-equity-and-dignified-lives
https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/build-back-fairer-in-greater-manchester-health-equity-and-dignified-lives
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=fDaRZUkxteY&t=4s
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=fDaRZUkxteY&t=4s
https://gmmoving.co.uk/assets/uploads/GMM_Plan_195x230mm_36PP_AW_AMENDED_SINGLE_PAGES.pdf


 

development of a Greater Manchester Active Travel Plan and Greater Manchester 

Transport Plan). This includes:  

7.2.1 Working with a Greater Manchester Commissioner to encourage cycling and 

promote other forms of active travel  

7.2.2 Investing in cycling and walking infrastructure and programmes to support 

active travel. Ensure that the needs of people walking and cycling are factored in to 

all transport infrastructure investment and that our streets and neighbourhoods are 

walking and cycling friendly 

 
1.2 Why GM Moving matters  

We are all designed to move. But our modern world is designed and organised to keep us sitting 

still. Inactivity is killing us. And in the meantime, it’s making us sick and unhappy, unproductive and 

stressed and is contributing to environmental destruction and climate change. But the good news 

is that it is all within our collective power to enable change. 

Benefits of more people moving in GM: ‘Physical activity, ‘ a miracle pill for everyone’ 

 

Increasing physical activity is great for both physical and mental health, can reduce the risk of 

some cancers, diabetes, cardiovascular diseases and dementia, helps lift the mood, increases 

educational attainment, work productivity or earnings, saves money, reduces loneliness, builds a 

sense of community or belonging, and contributes to saving the planet! For every £1 spent on 

physical activity, £4 of social value is generated.1 A more detailed summary of these benefits can 

be found here. 

 

 
 
 

 
Since 2017, we’ve sought to understand how whole system change to increase population levels of 
physical activity happens, and have developed ‘The Enablers of Change.’ These are the conditions 
we know need to be in place for system change to happen most effectively. Further information 
available here. 
 
                                                      
1 Social Return on Investment of Sport and Physical Activity in England 

Page 60

https://www.greatersport.co.uk/research-insight/evidence-review-outcomes-associated-with-sport-and-physical-activity
https://www.greatersport.co.uk/what-we-do/gm-moving/local-delivery-pilot/evaluation
https://www.greatersport.co.uk/what-we-do/gm-moving/local-delivery-pilot/evaluation
https://sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/2020-09/Social%20return%20on%20investment.pdf?VersionId=5BgvLn09jwpTesBJ4BXhVfRhV4TYgm9E


 

GM MOVING, TRANSPORT AND ACTIVE TRAVEL  
 

2.1  Why GM Transport matters to GM Moving  

 

Designing moving more, into the ways people travel around, is key to how we collectively achieve 

our ambition of 2.8 million people moving as part of everyday life.  Our aspiration is that we won’t 

need a GM Moving Strategy in the future because active living is so embedded into everything, 

stitched into the fabric of Greater Manchester, from housing to justice, transport to education, 

urban design to work, health and care to civil society. 

 

There is good evidence that active travel has a key role to play in increasing physical activity 

overall, especially amongst more inactive and disadvantaged population groups. (e.g. see 

Sport England Active Lives data for walking in Appendix 1 which shows that disadvantaged 

population groups are more reliant upon forms of active travel to achieve recommended levels of 

activity.)  

 

Research shows that policies promoting and supporting a shift to active transport, can yield much 

greater improvements in physical activity rates than behavioural and/or informational approaches 

alone. This is especially true for lower socio-economic groups when physical activity opportunities 

are integrated into urban planning in disadvantaged areas.  

 

More than two thirds of those who report any active transport are sufficiently active (by WHO 

recommendations) through active transport alone. Those most likely to achieve an active life 

through forms of active travel are:  

 younger people and those without access to a car or van;  

 people who are unemployed, in a less affluent social class, and who leave full time 

education at an older age. (More information on the contribution active travel has on 

activity levels within population groups can be found in Appendix 1)  

 

Improving access and participation in active travel for these groups therefore has the potential to 

have the greatest impact in terms of increasing the activity levels of the most inactive 

population groups, thereby helping to increase the health, wealth, individual development, social 

connectivity and outcomes of Greater Manchester who currently experience the greatest inequality. 

In addition to the individual and collective benefits associated with increased physical activity (as 

summarised in 2,1  above), evidence shows 2that a collective increase in active travel can help 

address other disparities for example: 

 There is a higher incidence of injury and death from traffic collisions in lower socio-

economic groups; those who live in the most deprived areas have a 50 per cent greater 

risk of dying from a road accident compared with those in the least deprived areas; accident 

rates for children are four times higher in deprived areas; and more than a quarter of child 

pedestrian casualties happen in the most deprived 10 per cent of wards. (Power et al 

2010). 

 Young children, adults, and households in poverty have the highest levels of 
exposure to air pollution whilst having the lowest emission levels; emit the least 

                                                      
 

Page 61



 

nitrogen oxide (NOx) and particulate matter (PM) but are more likely to breathe the dirtiest 
air.  
 

2.2 Why GM Moving matters for GM transport 

 

Being a part of GM Moving, as a movement which spans people and organisations across the 

whole system, extends the reach to people and places beyond that which any one organisation 

can engage with.   

 

There is also greater flexibility, freedom and agility as a movement to shift gears and paths to 

respond to needs and opportunities as and when they arise.  Whilst dedicated resource is very 

small, as a network we can help to channel and draw upon resources already in the system to 

greater effect, enabling people, partners and organisations to contribute as and when they can, to 

take the conversation and evidence into different rooms, to grow advocacy and to listen to a 

greater number of people about their experiences.   

 

GM Moving champions are natural allies and advocates for active travel, as part of a more 

accessible, integrated, reliable and sustainable transport network in Greater Manchester. By 

working together, we are better able to align all of the influences on activity engagement, to make it 

ever more possible and likely that someone will actively get about and live an active life.  

The socio-economic model, below, guides us in this approach, showing the key changes we can 

make across each of the multiple layers that make up the system to effect system change. 

 

This framework helps us to understand what influences how much we move across a whole 

system.  

Page 62



 

We recognise that the multiple layers in the diagram here all impact on whether or not someone is 

able to live an active life and that there is no one silver bullet to address inactivity. We know that 

telling people or ‘encouraging’ them to move more, telling them that it is good for them, is not in 

itself going to make the change. We have to work together as whole system to address the 

structural barriers and the things that are keeping the problem stuck in place.  

Investment and responsibility for some areas of influence sit with specific organisations and 

leaders, e.g. changes to the physical environment, such as improved walking and cycling routes. 

However other areas of influence, such as changes to cultural norms and ideologies, have no 

specific home.  As a movement we can convene, connect and facilitate to increase engagement, 

involvement and alignment between people and organisations across the formal and informal 

structures, supporting greater collaboration and progress towards common goals, and to shape a 

shared narrative and message as one GM, so we can better cut through the noise.  We can also 

help connect, promote and signpost the pathways into active travel from walking, cycling, running 

for leisure or sport to support behavior change and modal shift.  

 

TACKLING INEQUALITIES 

 

3.1 Tackling Inequalities Together  

Tackling the inequalities which stand in the way of some people living an active life, is core to the 

GM Moving mission. The determinants of activity reflect the wider determinants of health; for 

example we can’t address inactivity without addressing poverty and deprivation, or we will always 

be working in conditions that fight against us.   

3.2 The Correlation between inactivity and deprivation / structural inequality.   

The GM Moving evaluation partner Substance and Sheffield Hallam consortium recently conducted 

modelling of the Active lives data to identify predictive factors of physical activity (shown in the 

table below). This was then used with national datasets to stratify the population of interest based 

on the interaction between these factors. The findings suggest a person’s probability of being 

active is almost entirely determined by four socio-economic factors: age, NS SEC, having a 

mobility disability and educational level. Confirming that physical inactivity is strongly linked to 

deprivation and structural inequalities.  

 

Page 63



 

 
The results shown as a heat map of activity levels in each super lower output area.   

Areas of lower activity correlate with areas of higher deprivation. 

 
3.3 Pooling our Data and Insight  

 

GM Moving takes an evidence-led approach, paying attention to both names and numbers, stats 

and stories, the visible, hard measures for outputs and outcomes, and the less visible, less tangible 

measures of change.  

 

Collectively we are on a journey to get smarter about what we measure and why, the data and 

insight we collect, and how we best gather and layer data from across the system to help paint a 

more comprehensive picture.   This is key to how we understand active travel behaviours, enablers 

for change and impact, moving beyond current outputs around number of miles travelled and 

speed of journeys, to better understand who is traveling, for what purposes, how and their 

experience, including the ‘joy of the journey’.   

 

How can we optimise the health, wellbeing and equality benefits of every journey undertaken, 

individually and collectively as well as the environmental and economic impact.  This is key if 

Greater Manchester is to follow the recommendation set out in the recent report by the Greater 

Manchester Independent Equalities Commission, ‘The Next Level: Good Lives for All in Greater 

Manchester’  to put wellbeing and equality goals at the heart of the Greater Manchester Strategy 

and align budgets, portfolios and activities to these so that good lives for all is the focus of 

everything Greater Manchester does.  

 
RELEVANT PROGRESS AND NEXT STEPS  
 
4.1 GM Moving Strategy Refresh – ‘GM Moving In Action’ 2021-31 
 

Page 64

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/4337/gmca_independent-inequalities-commission_v15.pdf
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/4337/gmca_independent-inequalities-commission_v15.pdf


 

The GM Moving strategy for 2021-31 is currently being refreshed, to be launched in September 

2021. More information about the engagement process and emerging findings can be found in 

Appendix 2.   

The new GM Moving strategy seeks to sharpen the focus on tackling inequalities and to target 

resources to the people and places where they are most needed in order to support those who are 

the least active (moving less than 30mins a week) to become active and stay active.  To do more 

to encourage and enable leaders across the system to consistently apply an inequalities lens; to 

really think about the demographic, spatial and socio-economic inequalities and how they intersect. 

Widening access and participation in active travel for all is key to how we achieve this 

mission and is a key priority in the new strategy. 

 
4.2: GM Walking 
 
Progress 2020-2021 includes: 

• GM Walking Festival May 2019, Virtual Festival October 2020 and May 2021  

• Co- produced, tested and launched Walking Champions resources and workshops. 

Delivered to 73 individuals from 50 organisations (e.g BAME Connect, Wigan and 

Leigh Carers Centre, Jigsaw Housing Association) 

• Launched The GM Daily Mile Toolkit, with full support from The Daily Mile Foundation 

• The GM Way Campaign: Over 22 million impressions/impacts offline and online. Over 

8,000 engagements on paid media building discussions online. Over 118,000 clicks to 

website to find routes, groups and inspiration 

• Co-produced, launched and continually developed Digital Tools including the GM 

Walking website - (243,093 new users Nov 19-July 21, avg 1,709 sessions per day 

over the last quarter) 

• 30 + short wellbeing walks on Go Jauntly App: Active users 5,184. The combined 

reach now over one million. Over 50% of the walks are step-free and so will appeal to 

wheelchair users and to families with pushchairs.  

• Created and grown the GM Walking Voice Network– 577 members  

• GM Walking grants (89 small/medium and 5 partnership – £225k in total) supporting 

VCSE groups to enable walking. 

• Specific conversations took place as part of the GM Moving Strategy Refresh on 

walking to include Walking Voice hosting specific sessions as part of the Big Active 

Conversations in March and June 2021. 

• Developing the walking chapter for GM Moving in Action Strategy    

• Animation [4min video] ‘Taking Small Steps for a Walkable Greater Manchester’  

 

Next steps: Key Ambitions and Deliverables: 2021/22 

• Develop a deeper understanding across the system of what approaches and ways 

of working support our collective aim to enable the greatest number of people possible 

to routinely walk - Evaluation report (summer 2021), event and walking animation 

• Strengthen and diversify ‘The GM Walking Voice’ network to strengthen the 

advocacy for diverse groups 

• Work with TfGM to support the delivery of Streets for All, particularly in relation 

to engagement with diverse groups, developing a delivery plan for the 

Page 65

https://gmwalking.co.uk/festival/
https://gmwalking.co.uk/resource-type/walkingchampions/
https://gmwalking.co.uk/our-resources/the-gm-daily-mile-toolkits/
https://gmwalking.co.uk/the-greater-manchester-way/
https://gmwalking.co.uk/
https://gmwalking.co.uk/gm-walking-voice/
https://gmwalking.co.uk/our-resources/greater-manchester-walking-grants/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=8f4eHd6vWC0&t=6s
https://gmwalking.co.uk/gm-walking-voice/


 

International Walking Charter and strengthening the connection to the planning 

sector. 

• Share and widen the reach of resources/approaches to support everyday walking 

in localities and tools to support walking champions  

• Ensure resources/approaches are inclusive and bespoke to those who need them 

most.  

• Gather and use diverse imagery providing relatable visibility and inspiration to 

walking in all communities.  

• Work with GMCVO to support the small/medium and partnership projects funded 

via GM Walking Grants  

• Expand the Daily Mile concept across the life-course, in a variety of community and 

organisation settings via the GM Daily Mile Toolkit.  

• Capture stories of what's working well and learning from what's not.  

• Closer involvement with TfGM ‘Bee A Champion’ workforce development 

programme to enhance community engagement and a walking perspective 

 

 
4.3 Active Travel for Over 50s 

Progress 2020-21 includes: 

 GM Moving Active Travel & Over 50’s working group established in May 2020, including: 

GM Moving lead, GM Ageing hub, GreaterSport, Centre for Ageing Better, TfGM and 

University of Manchester to look at existing evidence, speak to range of stakeholders and 

opportunities for influence and change.  

 Evidence review undertaken and two workshops with TfGM (Jan and June 2021).  

Discussions as part of GM’s Big Active Conversation. Contribution to Centre for Ageing 

research and webinar on active travel for over 50s (See interim evidence review by Centre 

for Ageing). Emerging findings and recommendations informing GM Moving Strategy 

refresh. Developing metrics with TfGM colleagues. (See slides in appendices for draft 

recommendations) 

 Builds on: GM Transport Strategy 2040 Network Principles;  priorities set out in Age-

Friendly Transport plan (Charles Musselwhite report in 2018); Place work in Greater 

Manchester including Ageing in Place, Age-friendly neighbourhoods, active design, active 

neighbourhoods and 20 minute neighbourhoods. 

 Specific conversations took place as part of the GM Moving Strategy Refresh with the GM 

Ageing Hub and Older People’s Network. 

 

Next steps: Working group to publish report in September 2021 with full list of recommendations.  

 
4.4 Active Travel for Children and Young People  

Progress 2020-21 includes: 

 TfGM commissioned Sustrans report on School Streets in Greater Manchester 

 The GM Youth Task Force highlighted active travel as a priority as part of Youth 

Guarantee. 

 Increasing number of school play streets / school street trials across Greater Manchester. 

 Several Greater Manchester Councils adopt Play Street Policy making it easier for resident 

to temporarily close their roads to create car-free space to play.  Increasing numbers of 

play streets, quiet streets and active streets. 

Page 66

https://gmwalking.co.uk/our-resources/index/
https://gmwalking.co.uk/our-resources/greater-manchester-walking-grants/
https://gmwalking.co.uk/our-resources/the-gm-daily-mile-toolkits/
http://www.ageing-better.org.uk/news/walking-and-cycling-not-safe-or-attractive-enough-many-their-50s-and-60s
http://www.ageing-better.org.uk/news/walking-and-cycling-not-safe-or-attractive-enough-many-their-50s-and-60s


 

 £500k ring-fenced to support GM school streets, Districts invited to apply. 

 Some GreaterSport / TfGM pool bikes allocated to youth projects. 

 Attempts to establish a working group hampered by Covid pressures and capacity 

challenges. 

 Enabling more children, young people and their families to actively travel, to include a safer, 

greener school run, an emerging priority in the GM Moving Strategy refresh.   

 

Next steps: Agree the level of ambition as part of GM Moving refresh and how best to meet 

capacity needs. Establish a working group to help take forward. 

 

4.5 Active Travel and Low Income Families / Lower socio-economic groups  

Progress 2020-21 includes: 

 Increased data capture and analysis 

 Work with GM housing associations 

 Bike Back to Work schemes  

 Big Bike Revival in GM and support of community cycle projects 

 Purchase and distribution of GreaterSport/TfGM pool bikes 

 Active neighbourhoods and connection with local pilots, natural capital projects, housing 

associations and social prescribing 

 

Next steps: Agree the level of ambition as part of GM Moving refresh and how best to meet 

capacity needs.  

 

4.6 Active Travel for Disabled People and people with Long-term health conditions 

Progress to date includes: 

 Increased data capture and analysis 

 Signposting, support and promoting of cycling for all hubs – active hubs in every District. 

 Discussions and collaboration with GM Disabled People’s Panel, the GM Coalition of 

Disabled People, Activity Alliance, EmpowerYou and Cycling Projects to include specific 

sessions as part of the Big Active Conversation and draft report on inclusive cycling. 

 Various projects and pockets of work taking place across Greater Manchester, e.g. Sport 

England Tackling Inequalities funded work in Trafford with Cycling Projects and Learning 

Disability Partnership 

 Spread and growth of social prescribing to include GM EOI for new social prescribing for 

active travel.  

 Undefeatable campaign  

 

Next steps: Agree the level of ambition as part of GM Moving refresh and how best to meet 

capacity needs.  Await outcome of Social Prescribing EOI. Cycling Projects to present to Transport 

Committee on 20 August 2021. 

 
4.7 Other steps to explore for addressing inequalities in active travel 

 Safer streets: A priority raised through the strategy refresh engagement was around safety 

concerns as a result of racism, islamophobia, misogyny, and other forms of discrimination 

and hate.  A clear ask to address in collaboration with GMP and GM partners and as part of 

Page 67



 

response to Black Lives Matter and Reclaim the Streets movements.  Ensure action for 

safer streets is carried forward as part of GM VAWG strategy. 

 Equality impact assessments: Questions also raised during the engagement process 

around the completion and quality of equality impact assessments on all transport and 

related policies.  Recommendations have included GM audit, the sharing of best practice 

and training offers. 

 Physical Activity and Health Impact Assessments: Recommendations that GM hard-

wire good active design and greater health equity into all policy.  Examples of other places 

that have introduced Physical Activity Impact Assessments.  Recommendations of the 

Independent Equalities Commission to adopt health and equality impact assessments for 

all policy.  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
The report is for information and the GMTC is requested to note the content of this report. 
 
The GM Transport Committee is requested to: 
 
1. Consider and note the contents of the report and the presentation by Cycling Projects. 
 
2. Agree areas to be prioritised for future reporting to the committee.  (Suggestion: Autumn: Active 
Travel and Over 50s; Winter-Spring: GM Walking; Spring-Summer: Active Travel and Children and 
Young People, Active Travel for Low-income Families/LSEGs.)  
 
3. Invitation for committee members to help shape future GM Moving priorities around active travel 
as part of the GM Moving Strategy Refresh.  
 
4.Feedback is welcomed from members on opportunities and ways to help further grow the 

movement and the diversity of the movement and to usefully share the learnings to support other 

areas of work 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Page 68



 

Appendix 1 
 

Data and insight – active travel contribution to activity levels 
 
 
5.1 Active Lives Data for Walking - contribution to activity levels 
 
There are marked differences (statistically significant) between different groups in the extent to 

which they are reliant on walking for travel to achieve recommended levels of activity: 

 

 Walking: Children and Young People  Walking to get to school and other places makes a 
significant contribution (40.4%) to the overall physical activity of children (Analysis of the 
Active Lives Children Survey shows the extent of contribution).  Data shows a marked 
decrease in the proportion of ‘walking to get to school and other places’ as children get 
older, from 70.9% participation among years 1 and 2 (aged 5-7 years), to 34.9% 
participation among pupils in years 9 to 11 (aged 13-16 years). 

 

 Walking: Older Adults 17% of those aged over 85 years and who achieve threshold levels 

of physical activity are dependent on walking to achieve these levels, compared with other 

age groups (other age groups range from 7% to 13%). 

 

 Walking: Socio-economic status 8% of NS SEC 1-2 (higher income groups) who achieve 

threshold levels of physical activity are dependent on walking to achieve sufficient physical 

activity, compared with 10% of NS SEC 3-5 (middle income groups) and 16% of NS SEC 6-

8 (lower income groups). 

 

 Walking: Gender 12% of women who achieve threshold levels of physical activity are 

dependent on walking to achieve these levels, compared with 9% of men 

 

 Walking: Disabled People and People with Long-Term Health Condition  16% of 

disabled people who achieve threshold levels of physical activity are dependent on walking 

to achieve these levels, compared with 10% of people with no disability 

 

 Walking: Race and ethnicity People from South Asian, Black and Other ethnic groups 

who achieve threshold levels of physical activity are more dependent on walking to achieve 

these levels relative to other ethnic groups. 

 

Walking Usuals: The Ipsos MORI data, 2018  (commissioned by TfGM) 

Page 69



 

 
 

5.2  Cycling  

 

Whilst we have analysed a range of different data sources 3 we do not currently have the 

equivalent active lives data for cycling as we do for walking. There is a general lack of data on who 

is cycling which poses a constant risk in terms of ensuring we are designing for people in their 

diversity.  

 

Sustrans are currently gathering data for their next Greater Manchester Bike Life Report.  Their 

2019 Greater Manchester Bike Life report is available here.  

  

To date cycling policy has commonly served the needs of people that are more likely to already 

cycle. People that are already privileged in society. The recent ‘Cycling for Everyone’ report by 

Arup and Sustrans suggests that ‘the potential to engage others is huge’ and shows that nationally, 

55% of people from ethnic minority groups, 38% of people at risk of deprivation, 36% of women, 

and 31% of disabled people who do not cycle would like to start. The propensity to cycle tool maps 

the appetite to cycle in a local area.4 

 

The research also found that whilst differences exist between different demographic groups, many 

of the barriers that we need to overcome to increase diversity in cycling are shared. Many solutions 

would help most people who do not cycle, to start. The report makes a series of recommendations 

                                                      
3 Active Travel Workshop April 2021 file: National Highways and Transport (NHT) public satisfaction survey C&W slide deck– includes 

disability and age differences in perceptions of walking provision 

TFGM Sales Funnel TfGM active travel summary v2: includes information on demographic over/under-representation of different 

segments in the GM Sales Funnel (champions to rejectors) 

Cycle ownership by household characteristics: TRADS household bike ownership (showing differences by income/deprivation) 

TRADS Yr8 cycling evidence: includes age, gender, ethnicity, disability (2017-2019) 

Greater Manchester Bike Life Report, 2019 

Cycling for Everyone: A guide for inclusive cycling in cities and towns, Arup, 2020 

Active Travel and Physical Activity evidence report, Sport England, 2019 
4 https://www.pct.bike/m/?r=greater-manchester 

Page 70

https://www.sustrans.org.uk/bike-life/bike-life-greater-manchester
https://www.sustrans.org.uk/our-blog/research/all-themes/all/inclusive-cycling-in-cities-and-towns/
https://www.sustrans.org.uk/our-blog/research/all-themes/all/inclusive-cycling-in-cities-and-towns/
https://www.sustrans.org.uk/bike-life/bike-life-greater-manchester
https://www.arup.com/perspectives/publications/research/section/cycling-for-everyone-a-guide-for-inclusive-cycling-in-cities-and-towns
https://sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/active-travel-full-report-evidence-review.pdf


 

on what to prioritise in cycling strategies, plans, investment and evaluation frameworks in order to 

make cycling representative of people who live and work in towns and cities across the UK.  

 

The demographics data for Greater Manchester differs significantly across the different localities 

and becomes more representative of the population in areas where there is a higher number of 

daily cycle trips,  for example, in Manchester and Trafford, which account for nearly 60% of the 

daily cycle trips in the city region, around 30% of daily trips are undertaken by women, in contrast 

to just 8-10% in Wigan and Rochdale where there is a much lower level of overall cycling.  This 

reflects the picture internationally, which show that in countries like the Netherlands and Denmark 

where cycling is more normalised, the gender gap has disappeared and in some cases reversed 

as has the age gap. 

 

Page 71



 

Appendix 2 
 
6.1 GM Moving Strategy Refresh: Engagement Process 
 
The GM Moving vision and plan cannot and does not belong to any one organisation or person. It 

is for all of us to own together. ‘Nothing about us, without us’ is the mantra and has informed the 

process for shaping a shared vision and priorities for the next decade. 

 

In addition to the normal everyday conversations and collaborations that take place which are 

continually informing and shaping the work and direction of travel, a series of conversations were 

convened as part of the Greater Manchester Moving Strategy refresh, bringing together over 800 

people over six months from January – July 2021 in online conversations and with over 2000 

people engaged in total via different mediums.   Just like our work together, these conversations 

were both big and small, far reaching and targeted, to include the following specific conversations: 

 The Big Active Conversation March 2021 - Summary report here 

 Tackling Racism and Racial Inequality in Sport, Physical Activity and Active Lives in 

Greater Manchester - Summary report here 

 Shaping a strategy together for the next decade: with and for people living in poverty 

- Summary report here 

 Inclusive Economy - Summary report here 

 What helps VCSE Organisations Keep Greater Manchester Moving? - Summary report 

here 

 Active Ageing - Summary report here 

 Contribution of Sport - Summary report here 

 GM Moving and worklessness - Summary report here 

 GM Moving for GM Recovery  

 The Big Active Conversation June 2021 – report awaited What helps VCSE Organisations 

Keep Greater Manchester Moving?  

 Active Children and Young People 

 Active lives for the LGBTQ+ Community 

 Active Lives for Women and Girls 

 Active Lives for Disabled People  

 
6.2 What we’ve heard matters to people: 
 

● Inclusion, inclusion, inclusion – importance of involving people at early stage in design, 

decision-making and policy.   

● Develop a more inclusive workforce across all elements of walking, cycling, active travel.  

● Ensuring all communications – language, imagery, narrative, stories  - are inclusive and 

relevant to people and reflective of local place. 

● Enabling people to get around in a way that is healthy, safe and efficient, is key to people’s 

participation in civic life in our communities and in the city region as a whole.  

● Having the ability to design physical activity into people’s day to day life builds a sense of 

control over our lives, and an ability to design more good days and good health. 

Page 72

https://www.greatersport.co.uk/what-we-do/gm-moving/strategy-refresh
https://www.greatersport.co.uk/what-we-do/gm-moving/strategy-refresh
https://downloads.ctfassets.net/xfhv954w443t/77yzRQ4X9BjmH9iZoRRiks/9f5f1276bc0f9d5b7668a3878ad932ba/Our_Big_Active_Conversation_March_2021.pdf
https://www.greatersport.co.uk/media/4128/summary-report-tackling-racial-inequalities.pdf
https://www.greatersport.co.uk/media/4127/summary-report-poverty.pdf
https://www.greatersport.co.uk/media/4125/summary-report-economy.pdf
https://www.greatersport.co.uk/media/4126/summary-report-gmvcse.pdf
https://www.greatersport.co.uk/media/4126/summary-report-gmvcse.pdf
https://www.greatersport.co.uk/media/4131/summary-report-active-ageing.pdf
https://www.greatersport.co.uk/media/4133/summary-report-contribution-of-sport.pdf
https://www.greatersport.co.uk/media/4185/summary-report-worklessness.pdf


 

● Being able to participate all forms of travel and physical activity with others, as a family, 

friends, colleagues - ‘think family and community’ when designing infrastructure and 

activities to ensure inclusive. 

● Designing safe spaces to sit, chat, dwell and play on the way helps increase participation, 

motivation, fun and friendship and counter loneliness. 

● Access to safe, quality green and blue spaces, benefits felt for our physical and mental 

wellbeing. 

● Recognising different equipment needs and helping overcome the cost barrier, e.g. more 

active wheelchairs with wider tyres are needed for some journeys/paths, cycle storage and 

access for tricycles and adapted cycles.  

 
 
6.3 Emerging GM Moving Vision: Working together to enable active lives for all  

 

Moving as a normal part of everyday life for all   Greater Manchester people, families and 

communities, in all their diversity, moving their own way, everyday.   Regardless of age, race, sex, 

gender, sexuality, faith, disability, caring responsibilities, income, wealth or postcode.  A culture of 

everyone moving, everyday - whoever, wherever and whatever your way, the day, or the weather!    

We are ALL active souls, with active soles! 

 

The core message is to move your way and to support others to find their own way to move. 

However ordinary or extraordinary…   

 

Figures 1-4 show the draft narrative being worked on as part of GM Moving Strategy refresh 

 

 

Page 73



 

 
 

Page 74



 

 
 

 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



Active Travel & Over 

50’s
Recommendations from workshop (Jan 2021)

P
age 77



How did we get here?

• GM Transport Strategy 2040 Network Principles. The 

vision for Streets for All outlines that “our streets will be 

welcoming and safe spaces for all people, enabling more 

travel on foot, bike and public transport” (GM Transport 

Committee, 2020: 5).

• Age-Friendly Transport plan (Charles Musselwhite report 

in 2018). Three priorities: 

1. Promoting accessible and inclusive transport network (incl bus reform, 

community transport and involving older people)

2. Active travel

3. Accessing the impact of Covid-19

• GM Moving-Active design, 20 MN

• GreaterSport-Place 

• Active Travel & Over 50’s: GreaterSport, Centre for 

Ageing Better, TfGM, UoM to look at existing evidence, 

speak to range of stakeholders and opportunities for 

influence and change (May 2020)

• Workshop with TfGM (Jan 2021): Workshop findings 

reviewed by Katie Scicluna (Post-graduate student from 

the University of Manchester). Figure 4: GM Transport Strategy 2040 Network Principles. 

(Source: GM Transport Committee, 2020: 6)

P
age 78



Why focus on the Over 50’s in Active Travel?

i) Greater Manchester commitment as WHO age-friendly city region;

ii) Keeping physically active in mid-life helps to delay onset and progression of many age-related health conditions But, 

physical activity levels decline from mid-life onwards so action to address physical inactivity in mid-life is essential to 

ensure good health and qquality of life as people grow older;

iii) Especially important in addressing interacting and intersecting inequalities (Good Lives for All in Greater Manchester )

• In 2013-2015, the lowest life expectancy for men at age 65 in England was in Manchester (15.8 years)

• Men at age 65 in parts of GM have a healthy life expectancy that is up to 4 years shorter than in England as a 

whole

iv) Growing demographic – by 2025 50+ in GM will exceed 1 million: significant cohort at risk of poor later life without 

improvements to physical activity and for success in creating population level behavioural change;

v) As well as physical health and mental well-being we know walking helps strengthen social connection and address social 

isolation and loneliness (Age-Friendly Transport for GM)

vi) People have differing capabilities and needs in relation to physical activity and other travel behaviours as they age (e.g. 

see walking speeds); 

vii) Diverse voices and experiences of people over 50 are often overlooked - in this age cohort can be overlooked in policy 

making and implementation (Global Report on Ageism)

P
age 79

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/4337/gmca_independent-inequalities-commission_v15.pdf
https://www.ageing-better.org.uk/publications/age-friendly-transport-greater-manchester
https://www.who.int/teams/social-determinants-of-health/demographic-change-and-healthy-ageing/combatting-ageism/global-report-on-ageism#:~:text=%20The%20Global%20report%20on%20ageism%20outlines%20a,magnitude%20of%20ageism%2C%20its%20determinants%20and%20its%20impact.


• Older people as citizens 

• Vulnerable to valuable

• Diversity, represented within the over 50’s

• Active travel is defined as “travel [that] includes walking and cycling in all 

its forms for purposeful journeys, parts of journeys and smaller modes of 

active transport, e.g. e-bikes, scooters” (GreaterSport, 2021: 1).– we 

recognise that there is greater complexity within this and different approaches 

needed.

Messaging/ how we talk about Over 50s

We recognise that the terms “over 50s”  or “mid and later life” are not describing an homogenous demographic group, but 

covers a wide range of chronological age, experiences and other characteristics that intersect across the life course.

P
age 80



P
age 81



Main themes identified in TfGM workshop

i. Health and wellbeing benefits 

ii. Differences and diversity in the “over 

50’s cohort”, interacting and 

intersecting inequalities within the 

cohort 

iii. Importance of physical infrastructure 

design, location, and accessibility, 

iv. Public engagement and policy 

messaging. 

P
age 82



…………..……………….……

…………..……………….……

……………..…………….……

……………..…………….……

………..………………….……

…………..……………….……Sharing #AgePositive images, language, 
stories and communications. 

Promoting co-design & co-production of 
policy, strategy, place-making, transport 
infrastructure,  design guides & standards. 

Creating age-friendly active environments e.g. 
clear & even pavements, safe public realm, 
wide cycleways, benches, green space

Convening partners & working alongside them 
e.g Ageing-hub, TfGM, Housing Providers, 
Community groups, Older-people’s network

Help grow social networks, community 
connections & active space for peer, family and 
inter-generational groups.

Increase access to active equipment e.g. e-
bikes, trikes & adapted cycles and other mobility 
aids. Opportunities to  ‘give it a go’

POLICY

PHYSICAL
ENVIRONMENT

ORGANISATIONS
AND INSTITUTIONS

SOCIAL
ENVIRONMENT

INDIVIDUAL

CULTURAL NORMS
AND IDEOLOGIES

Consistently 

apply an 

inequalities 

lens -

demographic, 

spatial & socio-

economic

Widening access and participation in Active Travel for Over 50’s

P
age 83



(DRAFT) Recommended principles for ways of working Who System

1. Focus across the Active Travel landscape (strategy, policy, 

implementation): Recognising diversity, life journey stages and intersections, 

uneven experiences of ageing; including age in EIAs – and track progress.

TfGM

Local authorities

Policy

2. Involve: Include adults in mid and later life, their views and experiences 

through consultation, co-design and co-production methods as appropriate, to 

understand and address barriers to inclusivity.

TfGM

Local authorities

Over 50s working group

Policy

Physical Env

Orgs & Insts

3. Involve: Recognise the conflicts and differences in views and experiences 

e.g. on use of shared space.

TfGM

Local authorities

Policy

4. Messaging: Promote physical and mental wellbeing benefits of Active Travel 

for those in mid and later life, including targeted communications (Valuable not 

Vulnerable narrative) and ensuring the diversity of 50+ population represented 

across communications.

TfGM

Local authorities

Cultural norms 

and ideologies

Policy

5. Messaging: Information provision accessible and inclusive, including 

understanding the impact of digital exclusion for adults in mid and later life.

TfGM

Local authorities

Cultural norms 

and ideologies

Policy

6. Data: Data collection and analysis includes and disaggregates those over 50, 

to inform transport and travel strategies. Understanding intersection of age with 

other experiences and characteristics – e.g. those who do and do not take part, 

caring, gender differences.

TfGM

Local authorities

Policy

P
age 84



(DRAFT) Recommended principles for ways of working Who System

7. Built environment: Understanding and integrating age-friendly design 

guidelines into design of Active Travel schemes.

TfGM

Local authorities

Physical 

Environment

8. Workforce development: Develop wider workforce and messaging to support 

encouragement of Active Travel behaviours, e.g. making links with over-50s and 

employment support.

Public Health, Local 

Authorities, GM Moving, GM 

Walking, VCSE, all partners

All system levels

9. Cycling: Consider the particular benefits of e-bike schemes, tricycles and 

adaptable bicycles for the over 50s; innovation in bikeability approaches e.g. 

Bolton cycling proficiency for older people, that address concerns re: safety.

Public Health, Local 

Authorities, GM Moving, GM 

Walking

Social 

Environment

10. Behaviour change interventions: During the development of behaviour 

change interventions, consider people in mid to later life.

Public Health, Local 

Authorities, GM Moving, GM 

Walking

Individual

11. Parks and green spaces: Utilising green space to promote active travel and 

the benefits of this in terms of wellbeing.

Local authorities

GM Moving/GreaterSport

GM Walking

Physical 

Environment

12. Community organisations: Supported to be age-inclusive, over 50s as 

volunteers within community initiatives on cycling and walking.

To be determined Social 

Environment

13. Share practice: Promote and share examples of innovation, what’s already 

working and good practice from across Greater Manchester and elsewhere.

Over 50s & Active Travel 

Group

Ageing Hub, TfGM

All partners

Policy

P
age 85



Workshop discussion…

1. Feedback on the recommendations we have identified…

-How do they feel?

-Is there anything missing?

-Are there other partners who will contribute?

2. What are the specific metrics we could measure in line with the TfGM 
Active Travel pillars?

P
age 86



Strategy

In
fra

s
tru

c
tu

r

e

A
c
tiv

a
tio

n

A
c

c
e

s
s

S
a

fe
ty

Walking and Cycling Programme

S
tra

te
g

y

P
age 87



Practical resources and next steps

• GM Age-Friendly image libraries & Centre for Ageing Better positive image 
library

• Valuable not Vulnerable campaign and support from Ageing Hub

• Centre for Ageing Better-Active travel evidence review published July 2021

• Equalities Impact Assessment guidance on ageing (EIA) from Manchester City 
Council 

• Continue the Active Travel & Over 50’s Group – share learning, research and 
provide advice/ information

• Develop GM and local stakeholder maps for involvement, e.g. Age-Friendly 
Mayoral network; Ageing in Place; local age-friendly boards – and share messages

• Physical Activity project (GreaterSport, Centre for Ageing Better) build in Active 
Travel

• Establish key metrics against TfGM Active travel pillars.

P
age 88

https://www.gmopn.org.uk/old-frame-new-picture-gallery
https://www.ageing-better.org.uk/news/age-positive-image-library-launched


Inclusive cycling update

Cycling Projects

P
age 89



Our Mission

To enable anyone with any impairment or 
ability to regularly ride a cycle on their terms

P
age 90



Greater Manchester Inclusive Cycling Opportunities

• The inclusive cycling landscape for Greater Manchester 

• 13 hubs offering regular cycling for all abilities 

• Access to adapted cycles, inclusive trails and support staff & vols 

• Ideal settings to begin the Bee Line experience  

Bolton Wheels for All Middlebrook Arena

Leigh Wheels for All Leigh Sports Village

Oldham Wheels for All Alexandra Park

Cleaveleys /Loopline

Wigan Wheels for All Robin Park Arena

Bolton Wheels for All Lever Hulme Park

Bury Wheels for All Clarence Park

Rochdale Wheels for All Bowlee Sports Centre

Simply Cycling Wythenshawe Park

Alexandra Park

Inclusive cycling 

Tameside cycle circuit

Trafford Wheelers Longford Park Stockport CP Woodbank Park 

Manchester Wheels for All Debdale Park

www.cycling.org.uk

P
age 91

http://www.cycling.org.uk/


Regional WFA Programmes through Active Travel investment

Scheme to loan adapted cycles to people over the WMCA 
Region, supporting them with training, route finding and 
then feeding back to CA with detail on routes for all abilities.

The first regional inclusive cycling co-ordinator 
commissioned by Dame Sarah Storey. The remit is to create 
a hub in very regions that gives people the opportunity to 
cycle on their terms and progress from the hubs to 
completing independent journeys

A cluster wide offer across LCR bringing more people to 
existing inclusive hubs and creating new cycling 
opportunities for people of all abilities/

P
age 92



Liverpool City Region

P
age 93



West Mids Combined Authority
Out on Your Loan

• The largest adapted cycle loan 
scheme in the country

• Using a core group of disability 
people to influence and shape future 
infrastructure

• Giving people choice and 
opportunities to cycle on their terms

P
age 94



Sheffield City Region

• An audit on inclusive cycling provision 
across SCR

• Working closely with Dame Sarah Storey

• Barnsley Age UK / Barnsley Road club

• Doncaster Dome & Doncaster Disability 
Services

• Rotherham – Dearne Valley College

P
age 95



Bikeability Trust – innovation Fund
Starting a disability awareness programme with Cycle Confident-

• Manchester

• Liverpool

• Coventry

• London- Lambeth

Then to follow with-

• Essex County Counci

• Bucks County Council

P
age 96



 

 
 

 

 

GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 
 
Date:   20 August 2021 
 
Subject:  Greater Manchester Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure Strategy 
 
Report of:      Andy Burnham, Mayor of Greater Manchester and Portfolio Lead for 

Transport and Eamonn Boylan, Chief Executive Officer, GMCA & TfGM 
 
 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 
 
To endorse the Greater Manchester Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure Strategy, a 
sub-strategy of the Greater Manchester 2040 Transport Strategy 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
 
The GM Transport Committee is requested to: 
 
Endorse the Greater Manchester Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure Strategy; and 
 
Note that the programme of planned publicly funded additional Electric Vehicle 
Infrastructure is outlined at electrictravel.tfgm.com, a sub-site of TfGM.com. 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICERS: 
 
Simon Warburton, Transport Strategy Director, TfGM, Simon.Warburton@tfgm.com  
 
Nicola Kane, Head of Strategic Planning and Research, TfGM, Nicola.Kane@tfgm.com  
 
Megan Black, Head of Logistics & Environment, TfGM, Megan.Black@tfgm.com  
 

Equalities Implications: 

 

Community hubs will benefit areas where there is limited off street parking, and this will 
enable a more inclusive transition to EV.  GM will continue to work to ensure EVCI is 
accessible for people with disabilities. Air pollution is more damaging for children and 

Page 97

Agenda Item 10

mailto:Simon.Warburton@tfgm.com
mailto:Nicola.Kane@tfgm.com
mailto:Megan.Black@tfgm.com


 

 

young people, and so this age group are more likely to benefit from the transition away 
from internal combustion engines, though road safety implications of quieter vehicles need 
consideration. 

 

Climate Change Impact Assessment and Mitigation Measures –  
 

Climate Change considerations are a critical element of the 2040 GM Transport Strategy, 
and of this sub-strategy.  EV options will be most suitable for some trips.  Car clubs etc 
which incorporate EV can reduce the numbers of privately owned vehicles. 

 

Risk Management: 

Risk Management will be undertaken on programmes and projects. 

 

Legal Considerations: 

CLO advice has been taken on implications of the Highway Act (1980) on Electric Vehicle 
Charging. 

 

Financial Consequences – Revenue: 

N/A – Strategy Document. 

 

Financial Consequences – Capital: 

N/A – Strategy Document. 

 
Number of attachments to the report:? 1 
 
Comments/recommendations from Overview & Scrutiny Committee  

N/A 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS:  
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 98



 

 

TRACKING/PROCESS  

Does this report relate to a major strategic decision, as set out in 
the GMCA Constitution  
 
 

Yes  
 

EXEMPTION FROM CALL IN 

Are there any aspects in this report which 
means it should be considered to be 
exempt from call in by the relevant Scrutiny 
Committee on the grounds of urgency? 

No 

GM Transport Committee Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

  

 
  

Page 99



 

 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
 
1.1 Availability of and access to charging infrastructure is recognised as a critical barrier 

to the adoption of Electric Vehicles (EVs).  As part of the public conversation on GM 
Clean Air Plan proposals, the availability of charging points was cited as a key barrier 
for businesses and individuals in switching to an EV.  

 
1.2 The requirement for appropriate vehicle charging infrastructure is even more critical 

given that the Government has now committed to phasing out the sale of new petrol 
and diesel vehicles by 2030. 

 
1.3 The EVCI Strategy is a sub-strategy of the GM 2040 Transport Strategy, and is the 

first of a range of sub-strategies due to be produced this calendar year and brought to 
GMCA for approval.  This draft strategy has been written with guidance from District 
officers.  Comments have also been sought during drafting from both the Energy 
Saving Trust and Electricity North West. 

 
1.4 The draft EV Charging Infrastructure Strategy (EVCI), included at Appendix 1,  

provides a clear vision, objectives and strategic principles to inform a delivery plan. It 
also an important tool in order to set out GM’s ambitions to establish a financially 
sustainable, publicly accessible EVCI network, that is scalable to growth in demand 
and flexible to changes in vehicle technologies. 

 
1.5 The government has recently released its plan for transport and carbon,  

‘Decarbonising transport: a better, greener Britain’.  Electric Vehicle take up is a 
significant element of that plan, and the document references that “the market for 
battery electric vehicles and the necessary charging infrastructure is growing fast, but 
the barriers of vehicle price and supply, infrastructure provision, and the consumer 
experience of using that infrastructure, need to be addressed.” 

 
1.6 A draft version of this document has been considered by the 10 GM Local Authorities 

prior to being recommended for approval at GMCA. Following comments received the 
document has been updated to better demonstrate how EV fits with Greater 
Manchester’s transport ambitions, and ensuring that the strategy focuses on the 
publicly accessible EVCI required to enable Greater Manchester’s businesses and 
residents to transition to EVs to make the necessary journeys that cannot be avoided 
or shifted to more sustainable modes.  

 

2. SUMMARY OF STRATEGY 
 
2.1 EVs need to be considered within a framework for the decarbonisation of transport 

based on reducing overall need to travel, shifting journeys to active travel and 
sustainable modes and then for those remaining journeys, switching to ultra-low 
emission vehicles and cleaner fuels.  
 

Page 100

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1002285/decarbonising-transport-a-better-greener-britain.pdf


 

 

2.2 The vision within the strategy is to “to be an exemplar city region for enabling the 
electrification of transport in the context of a smart, integrated, sustainable mobility 
network. By 2030, Greater Manchester’s businesses, residents and visitors to the 
region, who have no choice but to travel by car or LGV, will be able to use electric 
vehicles with the confidence that they will be able to conveniently recharge them (via 
public or private charging points); and in doing so will help to improve air quality and 
reduce tailpipe carbon emissions across the conurbation.” 

 
2.3 The three main themes within the strategy are that: 
 

• There is need to ensure that an under provision of EVCI is not prohibiting the 
transition to EVs and the need to encourage and accelerate the transition to EVs 
to meet net-zero carbon targets especially in light of the November 2020 
Government announcement of the ban of the sale of new petrol and diesel cars 
by 2030 and hybrids by 2035. 

• There is also a need for public sector intervention in the short term to encourage 
and accelerate the transition to EVs, demonstrate commitment to EV 
technologies and encourage investment from the private sector. Longer term, 
there is a need for the development of a mature, commercial EVCI network in 
GM that allows public sector intervention to be scaled back.   

• EVs and EVCI are emerging technologies that create uncertainties around 
accurately projecting demand for EVCI beyond 2025 and therefore there is a 
need for flexibility to change investment priorities and a need for regular review 
and monitoring of market developments to ensure that the EVCI network 
continues to meet with demand.  

 
2.4 In terms of deployment of publicly funded EVCI, the priority will be projects which 

support the Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan and the 2038 carbon neutrality 
ambitions by aiding the accelerated transition to EVs for the most polluting vehicles; 
providing opportunities for those businesses most affected by the CAZ to transition to 
EVs and supporting those who would find it most difficult to transition to EVs due to 
home charging constraints. 

 
2.5 For those unable to charge at home, proposed alternatives include: 
 

• Developing and expanding EV car club offer (aligned to the E-Hubs trial project); 
• Developing community charging hubs; 
• Engaging with employers to encourage more workplace charging; and 
• Destination charging including park and ride sites. 

 

3. PROGRAMME OF PLANNED ACTIVITY 
 
3.1 The programme of planned publicly funded additional Electric Vehicle Infrastructure is 

outlined at electrictravel.tfgm.com, a sub-site of TfGM.com dedicated to electric 
vehicles.  This sub-site also includes an online map to facilitate better co-ordination of 
requests from residents for on-street charging locations. This map will allow residents 
to 'pin-drop' suitable locations and will provide other useful data on EV take up. 

Page 101



 

 

 

4. TARIFF 
 

4.1 In January 2018, the report to the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) 
on the Transport Budget for 2018/19 noted that the Budget Scrutiny Panel had agreed 
to a proposal to commence charging for use of the service. In November 2019 the 
GMCA received a report on Greater Manchester Electric Vehicle Charging Tariff 
Proposal. The GMCA meeting agreed the Pay as you go tariff on the publicly owned 
EV charging network, subject to the development of a satisfactory Membership 
Scheme.  
 

4.2 We are committed to introduce the pay as you go charge, along with a discounted 
membership rate. Any future updates will be advised to the Committee. 

 

 
5. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
5.1 Recommendations are set out at the front of this report. 
 
 

APPENDIX ONE 
 
Attached as a separate document. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 102



01

Electric  
Vehicle 
Charging 
Infrastructure 
Strategy

ELECTRIC 
VEHICLE 
CHARGING 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
STRATEGY

Part of the Greater Manchester 
Transport Strategy 2040

Page 103



02

Contents

Preface 05

01. Introduction 06

02. Background 08

2.1 The GM Transport Strategy 2040 08

2.2 Decarbonising transport 08

2.3 Air quality 09

2.4 Background on electric vehicles 09

03. Vision and objectives and strategic principles 10

3.1 The vision 10

3.2 Strategy objectives 10

3.3 EVCI network strategic principles 10

3.4 EV tariff 15

04. Developing an EV charging network for Greater Manchester 16

4.1 Current network 16

4.2 The scale of the network required by 2025 17

4.3 The need for public sector intervention 18

4.4 EV User Profiles 18

4.5 EVCI Typologies 19

Page 104



03

05. The Case for Public Sector Investment to support the transition to EVs 20

5.1 The role of the public sector in influencing and delivering a GM EVCI network. 20

5.2 How we will invest in expanding the publicly funded EVCI network. 20

5.3 Priorities for Public Investment to 2025 22

06. Delivery and monitoring 24

6.1 Existing commitments 24

6.2 Site prioritisation process 24

6.3 Design guidance 24

6.4 Market research and engagement 25

6.5 Monitoring the scale and performance of the network 25

07. Final conclusions and next steps 26

08. Appendix A 29

Development of EV User Profiles 29

09. Appendix B 33

Development of EVCI Typologies 33

Page 105



04
Page 106



05

Preface

A significant amount of work has been undertaken 
in recent years to place Greater Manchester at the 
forefront of efforts to deal with Climate Change and 
Air Quality including the move to science-based 
carbon budgets, the ambition to be carbon neutral 
by 2038 and the promotion of a Clean Air Zone to 
be introduced in 2022.

Given that transport is now the sector making the 
biggest contribution to carbon emissions and is 
directly responsible for 80% of noxious emissions, 
the switch to Ultra Low Emission Vehicles and 
particularly to Electric Vehicles (EVs), alongside a 
significant shift away from private car use, will be 
critical to Greater Manchester’s success in meeting 
its transport emissions targets. 

Availability of and access to charging infrastructure 
is recognised as a critical barrier to the adoption 
of EVs. As part of the public conversation held 
last year on the GM Clean Air Plan proposals, the 
availability of charging points was cited as a key 
barrier for businesses and individuals in switching 
to an EV. The requirement for appropriate vehicle 
charging infrastructure is even more critical 
given that the Government has now committed 
to phasing out the sale of new petrol and diesel 
vehicles by 2030. Ensuring Greater Manchester is 
ready for this change will require very significant 
cross-sectoral collaborative working over the 
coming years. It is recognised that there is a 
need for an overarching strategy, and a funded 
programme of works to ensure focused action in 
a timely manner. This Greater Manchester Electric 
Vehicle Charging Infrastructure Strategy sets out 
the vision-led adaptive planning approach to the 
provision of charging infrastructure, to be adopted 
to support a rapid transition towards a carbon 
neutral transport system.

The EV Charging Infrastructure Strategy provides 
a clear vision, objectives and strategic principles to 
inform a programme of works for the deployment 
of public charging infrastructure across the 
city region. The aim is to ensure that Greater 
Manchester has a well-understood and consistent 
charging infrastructure network across the city 
region which, in turn, supports engagement 
with Greater Manchester businesses, the public, 
private sector charging infrastructure providers 
and other public sector organisations to enable 
and accelerate the transition to EVs. The Greater 
Manchester (GM) Local Authorities and Transport 
for Greater Manchester (TfGM) should lead the  
way in expanding efforts to electrify the public 
sector fleet as an exemplar. This example should 
then be used to support local partners and 
businesses to follow in making the switch to  
ultra-low emission vehicles. 

The GM Local Authorities working in partnership 
with TfGM, have produced this GM Electric Vehicle 
Charging Infrastructure Strategy to align activity 
and inform a coherent programme of works  
for delivery.

Page 107



06

01. Introduction

The UK’s commitment to phase out the sale of 
new petrol and diesel cars and vans by 2030 and 
hybrid vehicles by 2035 was at the heart of the 
Government’s recent ‘Ten Point Plan for a Green 
Industrial Revolution’. This commitment reflects 
the urgent need to clean up the transport sector, 
which is now the UK’s largest source of greenhouse 
gas emissions and contributor to poor air quality. 
The rapid acceleration of the transition to Electric 
Vehicles (EVs) that is required will only be delivered 
if vehicle owners are confident that they will have 
access to a comprehensive and convenient network 
of Electric Vehicle charging infrastructure (EVCI). 

In Greater Manchester (GM) the overall transport 
vision remains that set out in the GM Transport 
Strategy 2040 (GMTS 2040) based on a 
decarbonisation of transport within a framework of 
reducing overall need to travel, shifting journeys to 
active travel and sustainable modes and then for 
those necessary journeys that can not be switched 
to more sustainable modes, switching to ULEVs 
and cleaner fuels. 

Following this pathway will enable the 
decarbonisation of transport to act as a catalyst for 
reducing car dependency and creating healthier, 
safer and more equitable communities. Focusing 
efforts on reducing overall travel demand and 
encouraging modal shift will help reduce the scale, 
cost and investment associated with electrification 
strategies, and also minimise the amount of 
carbon required to manufacture new vehicles and 
infrastructure associated with an electrified network.

EVs will not be a panacea in delivering emissions 
reductions, and they are not without environmental 
and societal costs, in terms of the embodied 
carbon and precious metals in the vehicles 
and batteries themselves; and in terms of the 
congestion and road danger impacts of motorised 
vehicles. Whilst the role of EVs will be important, the 
switch to cleaner fuels alone will only account for 
just over half of the necessary emission reductions. 
Therefore this EVCI strategy will be complemented 
by other strategies, such as our streets for all and 
local bus strategies, which will focus on creating 
streets and public transport services which 
facilitate the switch to active and more sustainable 
modes such as walking, cycling and public 
transport use.

However, it is recognised that for certain activities 
and businesses, cars, taxis and vans will remain a 

necessary mode of transport. Transitioning these 
vehicles from petrol and diesel to ULEVs is critical, 
to help achieve the GM climate change and air 
quality ambitions. .

Whilst there has been development in a number of 
other types of alternatively fuelled vehicles, such 
as hydrogen fuel cells, this strategy is concerned 
purely with plug-in EVs given the recent growth in 
EV ownership and relative infancy and low uptake  
of alternative fuels.

The strategy focuses on the publicly accessible 
EVCI required to enable Greater Manchester’s 
small businesses and residents to transition to EVs 
to make the necessary journeys that can not be 
avoided or shifted to more sustainable modes.  
For clarity, it does not cover charging infrastructure 
requirements for Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs)  
or buses.

The transition to EVs and provision of EVCI are co-
dependent. Availability of and access to charging 
infrastructure is a critical barrier to the adoption 
of EVs. As part of the public conversation held 
last year on the GM Clean Air Plan proposals, the 
availability of charging points was cited as a key 
barrier for businesses and individuals in switching 
to an EV. In order to support and accelerate the 
transition to EVs across GM it will be important to 
have the right type of EVCI in the optimal locations 
to meet demand. This is particularly important 
given that a significant proportion of people in GM 
do not have private off-street parking to charge an 
electric vehicle and also because range anxiety 
is currently still a barrier to switching to EVs for 
many people. Having an available public charging 
network that people have confidence in, is an 
important factor in enabling the switch to an EV. 
Both actual and perceived availability of public 
charging infrastructure are key; sufficient numbers 
of chargepoints should be provided to meet local 
requirements and their location, availability and 
reliability must be sufficiently clear so as to support 
consumer confidence.

To ensure that GM has the EVCI network that it 
needs to support the transition to EVs over the next 
5 years, TfGM and the 10 GM Local Authorities (we) 
have developed this GM EVCI Strategy, based on 
analysis of the critical markets we need to support 
over the next 5 years (in particular, taxis and private 
hire vehicles, vans owned by small businesses, EV 
car clubs and residential areas with limited off-

Page 108



07

street parking). For the longer term, it also sets out 
principles for the design and delivery of publicly 
funded EVCI. However, EVs and EVCI, are still 
emerging technologies and it is important to be 
able to adapt to changes in technology and markets 
and ensure a flexible approach to the delivery of the 
strategy.

This GM EVCI Strategy is a sub-strategy of the GM 
Transport Strategy 2040 (GMTS 2040). It sets outs 
objectives for EVCI which follow from the GMTS 
2040 and should be considered alongside and read 
in conjunction with GMTS 2040 and the “Right Mix” 
vision for at least 50% of all trips to be made by 
active travel and public transport by 2040.

History

The delivery and operation of Greater Manchester’s 
publicly funded Electric Vehicle Charging 
Infrastructure is co-ordinated by TfGM to ensure a 
consistent and co-ordinated approach across the 
city region.

There are approximately 360 publicly accessible 
charging devices in GM with circa 700 connectors 
operated and maintained by a number of operators. 
At the time of writing this includes 133 charging 
devices that are owned by TfGM. The focus of the 
first investment for publicly owned infrastructure in 
2013 was chargers positioned in Local Authority car 
parks. 

Back in 2013 there was more uncertainty about 
what public infrastructure would be required and 
far fewer Electric Vehicles registered in GM. Today, 
GM needs to meet the requirements of the next 
generation of Electric Vehicles, which have different 
charging capabilities and which are now starting to 
be seen in much larger numbers.

From summer 2020, the publicly owned charging 
points have been upgraded, rebranded and 
included in a new network called Be.EV. Be.EV 
is the brand for a new electric vehicle charging 
infrastructure provider in Greater Manchester. The 
installation of new rapid charging infrastructure and 
upgrading the existing TfGM owned fast charging 
network is being carried out under the Be.EV 
brand. Further information on the Be.EV network is 
available from the link be-ev.co.uk

Page 109

http://be-ev.co.uk


08

02. Background

2.1 The GM Transport Strategy 2040

Greater Manchester’s transport vision for ‘World 
class connections that support long-term, 
sustainable economic growth and access 
to opportunity for all’ is set out in the Greater 
Manchester Transport Strategy 2040. To provide 
a focus for transport investment up to 2040 and 
beyond the four key elements of that vision are set 
out below:

TRANSPORT 
VISION

World-class connections that 
support long-term sustainable 
economic growth and access 

to opportunity for all.

Supporting 
sustainable 
economic 

growth

Improving 
quality of life 

for all

Developing an 
innovative 
city-region

Protecting our 
environment

The role of technology and innovation will be even 
more important in the period up to 2040, enabling 
us to improve transport performance and quality 
of life, protect our environment, reduce costs and 
resource consumption, and to provide tailored 
information directly to transport users, providing a 
much better experience.

2.2 Decarbonising transport

National Government policy is encouraging 
a transition away from internal combustion 
engines and towards ULEVs, including Electric 
Vehicles (EVs) over the next 20 years. The current 
Government policy includes ending the sale of 
new petrol and diesel cars and vans by 2030 and 
hybrid petrol/diesel vehicles by 2035. Low and 
Ultra-low emission vehicles are a key part of the 
Government’s 10-point plan for a Green Industrial 
Revolution, and the National Infrastructure Strategy.

Greater Manchester has a target of achieving 
carbon neutrality by 2038 (12 years earlier than 
the national 2050 target). All ten local authorities 
within Greater Manchester and the Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority have declared 
a climate emergency that commit them to 
working with government of all levels to prioritise 
decarbonisation and to take bold climate change 
action.

The GM 2038 target for carbon neutrality is based 
on a scientific approach by the Tyndall Centre for 
Climate Change to apportion both UK level and 
more localised carbon budgets that meet the Paris 
Agreement. Analysis indicates that urgent action 
is needed to cut all carbon emissions including 
transport emissions and that steep cuts need to 
happen in the next 5 years to stay within our carbon 
budgets. Further information is available in the GM 
5YEP.

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/
media/1986/5-year-plan-branded_3.pdf

Transport is now the largest greenhouse 
gas-emitting sector in the UK, accounting for 
28 per cent of emissions and road transport 
accounts for 87 per cent of this. If we are to meet 
our commitments to reduce carbon emissions 
from transport, there will have to be a switch to 
much greater use of active travel for short journeys 
and more sustainable travel modes such as public 
transport. However, changes to mode of transport 
alone will not be enough; changes to the pattern 
of trip origins and destinations will also be needed. 
The pathway to the Greater Manchester 2040 
Transport Strategy’s Right Mix vision focuses on 
changing travel behaviour towards public transport, 
active travel, more local travel, and more travel to 
town and city centres in order to reduce car mode 
share from 61% of trips in 2017 to no more than 50% 
of trips in 2040.

However, we realise that some journeys will 
inevitably still need to be taken in cars and the 
transition to ULEVs need to be at the core of any 
successful strategy to decarbonise transport. 
Electric Vehicles (EVs)  
will form an important part of the future transport 
mix as they can ensure that unavoidable car 
journeys are taken in a way that minimises  
carbon emissions.

Page 110

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/1986/5-year-plan-branded_3.pdf
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/1986/5-year-plan-branded_3.pdf


09

2.3 Air quality

Poor air quality is the largest environmental risk to 
the public’s health in Greater Manchester. Taking 
action to improve air quality is crucial to improve 
the health of the general population. Whilst air 
quality has been generally improving over time, 
pollutants remain a serious concern in many urban 
areas including across Greater Manchester. These 
are oxides of nitrogen (NOx) and its harmful form 
nitrogen dioxide (NO2), and particulate matter (PM).

In Greater Manchester road transport is responsible 
for approximately 80% of NO2 concentrations at 
roadside, of which diesel vehicles are the largest 
source.

Long-term exposure to elevated levels of 
particulate matter (PM2.5, PM10) and NO2 may 
contribute to the development of cardiovascular or 
respiratory disease and may reduce life expectancy. 
The youngest, the oldest, those living in areas of 
deprivation, and those with existing respiratory or 
cardiovascular disease are most likely to develop 
symptoms due to exposure to air pollution.

Public Health England estimates the health and 
social care costs across England due to exposure 
to air pollution will be £5.3 billion by 2035 for 
diseases where there is a strong association with 
air pollution, or £18.6 billion for all diseases with 
evidence of an association with air pollution.

Fully electric vehicles offer a partial solution to this 
problem as they operate with no tail pipe emissions 
however, GM recognises that although EVs 
contribute towards reducing emissions, they  
also emit pollutants into the environment from  
tyre and brake wear but are overall less polluting 
than conventional internal combustion engine  
(ICE) vehicles.

More information on Air Quality Action Plan and  
GM Clean Air Plan can be found here  
https://cleanairgm.com/.

2.4 Background on electric vehicles

There are many types of Ultra Low Emission 
Vehicles (ULEVs) available, but this EVCI Strategy is 
largely concerned with Electric Vehicles (EVs) which 
can be broadly divided into two types:

• Battery Electric Vehicles (BEVs), also known as 
‘pure’ or ‘100 per cent’ EV’s (which are always 
powered by the battery); and 

• Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicles (PHEVs), which 
combine a small plug-in battery with an ICE.  
This category includes both parallel and series 
plug-in hybrids (also known as range extenders).

BEVs can only run-on battery, do not emit tailpipe 
emissions and are dependent on charging, whereas 
the extent to which PHEVs are low emission 
depends on the extent they are driven in low 
emission mode. 

In the UK until recently PHEVs made up a higher 
proportion of new registrations than BEVs. However, 
in the last few years this has changed for several 
key reasons:

• the cost and range difference between hybrid 
and fully electric vehicles is reducing, with 
batteries getting cheaper and battery sizes in 
BEVs increasing, thus increasing range;

• PHEVs are more complex and expensive to 
maintain, due to having both electric and internal 
combustion powertrains; and

• the Government grant for most PHEV purchases 
was removed from November 2018. However, a 
grant of up to £3,500 remains for low emissions 
cars approved by the government, these are 
cars which have CO2 emissions of less than 
50g/km and can travel at least 112km (70 miles) 
without any emissions at all.

The number of EV models available has expanded 
significantly in recent years. For passenger 
vehicles, most mainstream car manufacturers now 
offer an EV model, and there are now more than 
130 BEV or PHEV models available to buy or lease 
in the UK across all vehicle types including small 
and medium-sized vans, city cars, small and large 
family cars. The notable trends among new models 
coming to market and upcoming launches are the 
increasing battery capacities and capabilities to 
provide greater mileage from a single charge and 
support faster charging rates. 

Alongside the carbon and air quality emissions 
benefits of EVs they also have operational cost 
advantages over traditional Internal Combustion 
Engine (ICE) vehicles, due to greater energy 
efficiency and lower energy costs and therefore 
running costs. However, the upfront price is higher 
and remains a considerable barrier to adoption. 
Upfront prices are expected to continue to decline, 
with some analysts suggesting cost parity of EVs 
with equivalent ICE vehicles in the early 2020s. 

Page 111

https://cleanairgm.com/


10

03. Vision and objectives 
and strategic principles

3.1 The vision

To be an exemplar city region for enabling the 
electrification of transport in the context of a smart, 
integrated, sustainable mobility network. By 2030, 
Greater Manchester’s businesses, residents and 
visitors to the region, who have no choice but to 
travel by car or LGV, will be able to use electric 
vehicles with the confidence that they will be able 
to conveniently recharge them (via public or private 
charging points); and in doing so will help to improve 
air quality and reduce tailpipe carbon emissions 
across the conurbation.

3.2 Strategy objectives

• To establish a financially sustainable, publicly 
accessible EVCI network, scalable to growth 
in demand and flexible to changes in vehicle 
technologies.

• To clarify GM’s requirements for a future public 
and privately funded and delivered EVCI network 
that supports the accelerated transition to EVs 
among businesses, residents, and visitors;  
whilst minimising car dependency and private 
car ownership.

• To establish a clear set of priorities for the 
expansion of the publicly funded section of 
the EVCI network, focused on supporting the 
delivery of GM’s Clean Air Plan and 2038 carbon 
neutral target by accelerating the transition to 
EVs for the most polluting vehicles. 

• To provide a clear set of EVCI network strategic 
principles and delivery criteria for publicly funded 
EVCI to highlight the types of infrastructure 
and charging locations that will be supported 
in principle by TfGM and GM local highway 
authorities. 

• To attract and shape private sector investment 
in the EVCI network by providing more clarity 
on GM’s priorities and how TfGM and Local 
Authorities will work with private sector EVCI 
providers and operators; with the ultimate aim of 
establishing a mature, commercial EVCI market.

3.3 EVCI network strategic principles

Through the provision of publicly-funded 
infrastructure, we will set the standard and 
best practice and raise customer expectations, 
encouraging private sector EVCI providers and 
operators to follow suit. We have set out strategic 
principles to help guide the future expansion of 
publicly-funded EVCI. These mutually reinforcing 
strategic principles aim to guide decision making 
at a GM and local level when addressing the key 
challenges that the development of a GM EVCI 
network faces. The Network Strategic Principles are 
set out below and discussed in more detail in the 
following section which sets out our ambitions for 
the public EVCI network.

Greater
Manchester 

Residents 
Businesses 

Visitors

Integrated

Inclusive

Healthy

Environmentally
ResponsibleReliable

Safe and 
Secure

Well 
Maintained 

and Resillient

Viable

£

Integrated

Interoperability between charge points is an issue 
that directly impacts the appeal of EV ownership and 
will be key to ensuring an integrated EVCI network 
for GM that allows EV users to be able to roam 
between charging points without needing separate 
memberships. Different physical and commercial 
systems must be able to work together seamlessly 
and invisibly to the consumer allowing any EV to 
be able to be plugged into any public charge point 
with the electricity that it uses being paid for in a 

Page 112



11

way that is transparent. This will require a standard 
unit of charge (for example p/kWh). Company fleet 
managers and drivers need a simple payment 
solution that operates across the EVCI network 
and allows them to monitor and manage payments 
centrally to run their business effectively. 

The recent upgrade of the GMEV network to Be.EV 
has ensured that about a third of GM’s charging 
devices are now interoperable, meaning customers 
can access these public chargers without needing 
to subscribe to a membership scheme. A Be.EV 
recharging card for company fleets is now being 
tested prior to it being made more widely available. 
Whilst we can ensure that future expansion of the 
Be.EV charge points are interoperable we also need 
to encourage private EVCI providers and operators 
to open up their infrastructure to make the network 
more customer focussed and reliable. We also need 
to lobby central government to use the powers they 
have for greater regulation of the market. In July 
2019, the Secretary of State for Transport announced 
that government wanted to see all newly installed 
rapid and higher-powered charge points provide 
debit or credit card payment by spring 2020. Several 
private EVCI operators have responded, and 41% of 
existing rapid charge points now have contactless 
card payment compared with 28% in 2019. This is a 
step in the right direction but more work needs to be 
done especially on fast charging.

Our Ambition – to improve the EV charging 
experience by having a fully interoperable public 
charging network across Greater Manchester.

Infrastructure should also be integrated with other 
transport modes and e-mobility services where 
appropriate to provide an important element 
of the urban transport mix. Grouping charge 
points together in hubs or mini-hubs will increase 
opportunities to provide other services at the hub 
for example e-bike hire or EV car clubs, where this is 
deemed appropriate. Locating EVCI at park and ride 
sites will allow EV users to access GM’s rapid transit 
network. Locations adjacent to or integrated within, 
other land uses that generate activity throughout 
the day and evening such as leisure / shopping 
destinations, community centres or local centres 
will help to ensure EVCI can be utilised safely and 
conveniently by different EV users at different times.

Our Ambition – to ensure that publicly funded 
EVCI is conveniently located to enable EV users 
to access other sustainable transport modes and 
services, thereby reducing overall reliance on 
private cars.

Environmentally responsible

EVCI should supply zero carbon electricity, ensuring 
supplies are from renewable energy sources 
and utilising generation and storage from the 
local energy system where feasible. The Be.EV 
network uses 100% renewable energy to supply the 
electricity for charge points. Where commercial 
charge point operators are not providing zero 
carbon electricity, we will work to encourage them 
and/or host suppliers to transition to a renewable 
energy supplier. 

The installation, operation and maintenance of 
publicly funded EVCI will use sustainable materials 
and construction methods where feasible. 
Wherever feasible, we will adopt off-grid, on-site 
zero carbon electricity generation such as solar 
panels and battery storage.

Our Ambition – to have an EVCI network 
supplying 100% of electricity generated by 
renewable energy.

Inclusive and customer-focused

Greater Manchester has a wide variety of housing 
stock, including a significant proportion without a 
private drive or a dedicated parking space to allow 
off-street charging. The convenience of being able 
to charge vehicles at home has resulted in queries 
from residents asking if it is legal to run EV charging 
cabling crossing the footpath between properties 
and EVs parked on-street.

The 10 Local Authorities in Greater Manchester all 
have a responsibility to provide safe and accessible 
footpaths. Under the Highways Act 1980 it is illegal 
for any person to place or run a cable or wire along 
or across a public highway including the use of 
pavement drainage channels or a cable protector. 

The government have invited Local Authorities to 
submit applications to the On-Street Residential 
Chargepoint Scheme. The purpose of the 
scheme is to increase the availability of on-street 
chargepoints in residential streets where off-
street parking is not available, thereby ensuring 
that on-street parking is not a barrier to realising 
the benefits of owning a plug-in EV. The scheme 
gives local authorities access to grant funding 
that can be used to part-fund the procurement 
and installation of on-street EV chargepoint 
infrastructure for residential needs.

Page 113



12

Owner occupier households that have access to 
off-street parking will be able to access low cost 
EV charging with time of use tariffs at home, 
however this will not apply to households with on-
street parking including many households in the 
private-rented sector or local authority housing. 
Importantly, many of these households are in urban 
areas that have most to gain from the local air 
quality improvements offered by EVs. In Greater 
Manchester, terraced housing and apartments 
make up 43% of the housing stock (Census 2011) 
and these areas typically have limited access to 
off-street parking. Map 1 below shows the Census 
2011 MSOA percentage share of households in 
terraced housing or apartments which are unlikely 
to have access to off-street parking.

A socially equitable GM EVCI network is needed to 
provide affordable alternatives to home charging 
to ensure that those without access to off-street 
parking are not disadvantaged. Failure to provide 
alternatives could delay the transition to EVs for 
many GM residents. 

For residents without the ability to charge EVs 
off-street a number of alternative options to home 
charging will be important in enabling a transition 
to EV use. The expansion of EV Car Clubs operating 
in these residential locations could offer a genuine 
alternative to private EV ownership. Through the 
development of a Shared Mobility Strategy and 
engagement with Car Club operators we will seek 
for opportunities to enable them to transition to 
fully EV fleets and expand the car club offer across 
GM. 

Workplace charging during the day will also be an 
important option . In locations with poor public 
transport accessibility and where employees 
are dependent on car travel; we will work with 
both public and private sector employers to 
encourage them to make use of the Government 
Workplace Charging Grant to establish and expand 
a workplace EV charging offer as part of a wider 
review of workplace car parking requirements for 
employees. We will work with large public sector 
employers such as hospitals, schools and colleges 
and medical centres with workplace car parking to 
determine EVCI requirements. 

For those who commute to work on the rapid transit 
network (making use of existing park and ride 
facilities) there could be the opportunity to charge 
EVs during the working day whilst EVs are parked 
at rail station, Metrolink and bus park and ride sites. 
We will align TfGM’s emerging Access to Public 
Transport Strategy and the development of the 
Travel Hubs programme with this GM EVCI Strategy 
and investigate options to expand the Be.EV 
network at Metrolink park and ride sites and other 
transport interchanges; and we will also work with 
Network Rail and Northern Rail to encourage them 
to provide EV charging infrastructure at rail station 
car parks across Greater Manchester.

Retail and leisure destination car parks with dwell 
times of an hour or more also offer an opportunity 
to provide alternative EV charging options. We 
will investigate opportunities to expand the Be.EV 
network in local authority owned car parks in town 
and district centres and at other local authority 
assets such as car parking at leisure centres, 

Census 2011: Accomodation Type (MSOA)
Terraced and Flats / Apartments (Share %)

Over 80% of households
Manchester Ring Road

60% – 80%
40% – 60%
20% – 40%
Less than 20% of households

ROCHDALE

OLDHAM

ASHTON-UNDER-LYNE

MANCHESTER

SALFORD

STOCKPORT

ALTRINCHAM

WIGAN

BOLTON

BURY

Crown copyright and database rights 2021 OS 0100022610. You are granted a non-exclusive, royalty
free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commerical purposes for the period
during which Transport for Greater Manchester makes it available. You are not permitted to copy,
sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available the Licensed Data to third parties
in any form. Third party rights to enforce the terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Page 114



13

gyms, libraries, community and health centres and 
recreation / sports facilities. We will engage and 
work with private EVCI providers and operators to 
encourage them to install EVCI in retail and leisure 
destinations

Off-street, community charging hubs in residential 
areas could also provide an alternative option 
in some locations. Where there are residential 
areas with significant on-street car parking we 
will investigate opportunities to provide off-street 
community charging hubs on a case by case basis 
where appropriate locations can be found and look 
at options that will support residents to use these 
facilities for overnight charging where possible. 
These community charging hubs could potentially 
include charging bays for EV Car Club vehicles as 
well as other mobility services such as cycle hire or 
e-bike hire facilities, offering residents alternatives 
to private car ownership. We will establish an on-
line system for local residents and communities 
to register an interest in trialling community hub 
charging infrastructure.

Our Ambition – to provide accessible alternatives 
to home charging that enable those who can’t 
charge at home to transition to EV.

An interoperable Be.EV network represents an 
important step in improving the inclusiveness of 
EV charging in Greater Manchester. There is now 
an easy-to-use App and web-site for customers 
to access Be.EV. However, a simplified and 
standardised full public EVCI network is required 
that is easy to use and accessible to as many EV 
users and vehicles as possible. An integrated, 
interoperable network that it is open to the broadest 
customer base possible will be more inclusive. 
We will work with private charge point operators 
to encourage interoperability and improve access 
through innovation. 

Disabled drivers should not be excluded from 
transitioning to EV because they are unable to 
access public EVCI. We will work with our Disability 
Design Reference Group to develop our Design 
Guidance for EVCI.

Our Ambition – further expansion of publicly 
funded EVCI to be designed to provide for 
disabled EV drivers with step free access and 
larger parking bays for disabled access.

A customer focused EVCI network should include 
convenient locations, with up to 24/7 access. EVCI 
needs to be in visible locations to increase visibility 
for EV users and raise awareness of the network 
amongst potential EV users to give them the 
confidence to transition to an EV.

Our Ambition – to provide multiple EVCI charging 
points clustered in hubs or mini-hubs in highly 
visible convenient locations.

Well maintained and resilient

A well-functioning public EVCI network will become 
increasingly more important as the transition to 
EVs increases, and the network will need to be 
well maintained to ensure charge points are in a 
safe and usable condition. A poorly maintained 
network will also impact on reliability for customers 
and the viability of the network through the loss 
of charging events. We have recently invested in 
upgrading the Be.EV network to ensure it is fit for 
purpose. Leading by example and raising customer 
expectations will encourage private EVCI providers 
and operators to ensure their infrastructure is well 
maintained. We will continue to work with our EVCI 
Service Provider to ensure that the Be.EV network 
is maintained to a good standard, to adapt it and to 
improve its resilience. 

The large-scale transition to EVs will place pressure 
on the electricity power supply and we have worked 
and will continue to work with the Electricity 
North West (the Distribution Network Operator) 
and Independent Distribution Network Operators 
(IDNOs) to identify areas with electrical grid 
constraints and to ensure that there is sufficient 
capacity across Greater Manchester. As regulated 
infrastructure providers, ENW and IDNOs have 
obligations to provide capacity ahead of need and 
invest to remove constraints.

Publicly funded EVCI should be future proofed so 
it is able to be expanded as the transition to EVs 
increases demand; and is able to be adapted to 
incorporate new developments in technology and 
innovation. Grouping charge points together in hubs 
or mini-hubs will allow for future expansion and aid 
the efficiency of maintenance improving resilience 
against broken or faulty infrastructure. Data on the 
usage of the network and customer feedback will 
be used to monitor and improve the operation and 
maintenance of the network and determine future 
requirements as demand grows.

Our Ambition – to ensure that the Be.EV network 
is maintained in a good state of repair and that it 
is resilient to future increase in demand.

Page 115



14

Safe and secure

Safety must be a fundamental consideration in the 
design of the GM EVCI network. Publicly funded 
EVCI will be well designed so that the operation 
and maintenance of the network is safe for the EV 
users, the EVCI service provider and other road 
users including pedestrians and cyclists. EVCI will 
be placed in visible, open locations overlooked by 
nearby activity to provide natural surveillance, with 
good natural and artificial lighting, and security 
(including CCTV) for vehicles left over night. This will 
help ensure that concerns around personal security 
and crime (including the perception of crime) are 
not barriers to using EVCI at all times of the day and 
night. Grouping charge points together in hubs or 
mini-hubs will contribute to safety and security and 
will make it more economical to provide required 
security measures.

Our Ambition – to ensure that people feel safe 
using the public EVCI network at all times of day 
and night and that perceptions of crime are not a 
significant barrier to using the network.

Reliable

A reliable EVCI network will be essential if people 
are to have confidence in EVCI provision, availability 
and maintenance to minimise range anxiety and 
promote the transition to EVs. The recent upgrade 
of the Be.EV network has provided more reliable 
charge points with technical solutions that allow 
EV users to check a real time status of individual 
charge point availability. We will support the 
Government proposals to set a data standard that 
private EVCI operators need to meet when making 
public-chargepoint-data openly available and lobby 
for this to include live ‘availability’ data. 

Groups of charging points in a hub or mini-hub, will 
also increase the likelihood (real and perceived) that 
a charger will be available for use on arrival. A well-
maintained network will be needed to ensure the 
timely repair of broken or damaged charge points 
and we will work with our EVCI service provider to 
ensure the Be.EV network continues to be reliable. 
We will support the government proposal for a 
minimum reliability standard for all EVCI operators 
and the proposals for all EVCI operators to provide 
a 24/7 call helpline for consumers so that help can 
be provided to consumers who are struggling to 
access or use a charge point.

Other challenges to reliability include the blocking 
of charging bays by people parking conventional 
cars and EV users overstaying once charging 
is complete or using a charging bay to just park 
their EV. We will need to find solutions to the 
potential blocking of charging bays which could 
include enforcement and financial penalties for 
overstaying. Bay markings and signage will be used 
to identify EV charging bays and Traffic Regulation 

Orders used to prevent blocking of EV bays and 
charge points. EV charging systems can use both 
technical and behavioural solutions to ensure that 
charging infrastructure remains available for use 
when needed. Data on the usage of the network 
and customer feedback will be used to monitor and 
improve the reliability of the network.

Our Ambition – to develop and maintain a reliable 
EVCI network that offers available charging 
solutions that reduce range anxiety and give 
people the confidence to transition to EVs.

Supporting a Healthier Greater Manchester

The air quality emissions benefits of EVs are 
discussed elsewhere in this strategy and clearly 
a well-planned and delivered EVCI network will 
encourage and accelerate the transition to EVs, 
with associated clean air benefits to the GM 
population.

EVCI should also be integrated with other GM 
initiatives that encourage active travel. EVCI 
locations will form part of a wider ‘place making’ with 
the siting of EVCI considering adjacent uses. For 
example, EVCI could be integrated with “parklets” 
which provide seating, cycle parking, e-bike or 
e-scooter charging, green space, and play areas.

Any on-street EVCI should avoid creating 
obstructions to other users of the highway, and 
particularly those with reduced vision or mobility 
or those using pushchairs or prams. EVCI should 
not discourage the use of active travel modes or 
reduce the space available for people travelling 
on foot or by bike. GMCA’s Interim Active Travel 
Design Guide recommends that a footway width of 
1.4m should be regarded as an absolute minimum 
at localised constraints, and a minimum of 2.0m 
should be provided at all other locations. This 
width must be clear, continuous and free from any 
obstacles or obstructions such as bollards, parked 
vehicles, or signs. To ensure that any on-street EVCI 
does not create obstructions and footway widths 
are maintained, there should be a presumption 
in favour of carriageway build-outs unless this 
is impractical. Where it is necessary to position 
EVCI on the footway it should not create localised 
constraints of less than 1.4m. 

Locations will also be considered which allow EV 
users to charge their vehicle whilst undertaking 
active travel for the final stages of their journey. 
Destination charging at locations for a leisure, 
recreation or sporting activity will enable EV users 
to charge their vehicles whilst pursuing activities 
that support their physical health and mental 
wellbeing.

Our Ambition – to develop an EVCI network that 
supports people in leading active, healthy lives.

Page 116



15

Viable

The operation and maintenance of publicly funded 
EVCI should remain cost neutral wherever possible 
so as to minimise public subsidy. User tariffs should 
support the day-to-day costs of operation and 
maintenance and the publicly funded EVCI should 
not be subsidised by non EV owning residents or 
the 31% of Greater Manchester households that do 
not own a car. The location of charge points has a 
strong influence on how often and how easily they 
are used by residents, businesses and visitors 
and therefore how much revenue they generate. 
Locations for EVCI can lead to a potential loss 
of existing parking spaces in local authority car 
parks or existing areas of car parking serving local 
communities. Community engagement will be an 
important aspect of locational decisions and there 
is clearly a need to focus investment on EV user 
groups that will generate the highest utilisation 
rates. EVCI locations that have community support 
and offer justifiable utilisation rates and value for 
money should be prioritised.

Capital investment into the network will be sought 
from a balance of local and central government 
funding. Greater value for money can be achieved 
through cost efficiencies associated with grouping 
charge points together in hubs or mini-hubs and 
future proofing those locations for possible future 
expansion. Utilising existing public sector land 
assets will also help reduce capital costs and avoid 
third party ownership agreements.

Our Ambition – in the medium term, to develop 
a self-sustaining publicly funded EVCI network 
that is not dependent on public subsidy.

It is acknowledged that some financial support will 
be required in the short term for public intervention 
in the market that will encourage the transition 
to EVs and grow the demand for public charging 
required for private EVCI providers and operators to 
commit to investment.

In the long term there is a need for private sector 
investment to build and operate a self-sustaining 
public EVCI network, aligned with the objectives 
and principles of this EVCI strategy. It is essential 
that a viable, matured commercial market is 
developed to meet future demand and ensure 
continued maintenance and improvements to the 
network. This will allow public sector intervention in 
the market to be scaled back over time.

3.4 EV tariff

When it was first introduced, EV users could access 
the GMEV network for free. This allowed GM to test 
the new scheme whilst providing an incentive for 
users to purchase electric vehicles. However, with 
the expansion of the EVCI network and the increase 
in usage of this network, it is now appropriate to 
introduce a tariff. 

The tariff will need to be within the market range of 
EV tariffs in Greater Manchester and align with the 
GMTS 2040 Fares and Ticketing Objectives in the 
following way:

• Simplicity – Customers can easily understand 
and choose options to pay for their electricity 
charge.

• Convenience – Transactions are quick and easy 
for the user and delivers efficiencies to the 
operator.

• Value for Money – Users see the tariff as a fair 
price for the service they get.

• Transparency and Trustworthiness – Users have 
a clear understanding of pricing and product.

• Inclusivity - related to the affordability of public 
charging

• Balanced Funding – Tariffs revenue will offset 
costs to operate and maintain the network and 
reduce subsidises.

Page 117



16

04. Developing an EV charging 
network for Greater Manchester

4.1 Current network

There are three main types of EV charging – slow, 
fast and rapid. These represent the power output, 
and therefore charging speeds, available to charge 
an electric vehicle.

• Slow Chargers (3.5kW) – are a common method 
of charging EVs at home overnight; due to their 
slow charge they are uncommon in publicly 
accessible networks.

• Fast Chargers (between 7kW to 23kW for AC, 
and 10kW to 22kW for DC) – are used for home 
charging and at destinations where vehicle dwell 
times are likely to be for an hour or more such as 
at workplaces, park and ride sites or long stay 
car parks for destinations such as town centres, 
supermarkets or leisure centres.

• • Rapid Chargers (between 43kW to 44kW 
for AC, and 50kW to 62.5kW for DC) – are the 
fastest way to charge an EV and are therefore 
found at locations close to main routes and 
motorways. Rapid chargers can deliver up to 
80% battery charge in around 30 minutes.  
There are also Ultra-rapid chargers with  
a charging output greater than 62.5kW  
(including up to 350kW).

An important factor in encouraging the transition 
to EV is the EVCI network size and availability 
of suitable charging points.  However, research 
suggests that provision of EVCI alone will not be 
enough to encourage a speedy transition and 
therefore additional measures will be required 
such as the continuation of the Government grants 
to help reduce the purchase price of EVs and 
promotional and behavioural change programs.

Currently, GM’s EV registration is significantly 
behind the national average EV registrations as a 
percentage of the total vehicle population. As part 
of the GM public conversation on the clean air plan 
proposals, the availability of charging infrastructure 
was cited as a key barrier for businesses and 
individuals in switching to an electric vehicle. GM’s 
EVCI provision is also below the national average 
and North West average of charging devices per 
capita. Table 1 below shows the Jan 2021 position.

Region

E
V

 R
eg

is
tr

at
io

n 
%

 o
f 

to
ta

l f
le

et

E
V

 C
ha

rg
in

g 
d

ev
ic

es

C
ha

rg
in

g 
d

ev
ic

es
 p

er
 

10
0

,0
0

0
 p

op
ul

at
io

n

United Kingdom 0.7% 20,775 31.1

North West 0.4% 1,410 19.2

Greater 
Manchester 0.3% 346 12

The EVCI network in GM should facilitate, not inhibit, 
the transition from petrol and diesel car and light 
goods vehicles to EVs by being of sufficient scale 
and type to meet users’ needs. There is a need to 
ensure that the absence of charging infrastructure 
isn’t a barrier to this transition to EVs. There is also a 
need to encourage and accelerate the transition to 
EVs and ensure that network comprehensiveness 
avoids any gaps that may reduce confidence in the 
ability to charge amongst different EV markets. 

In GM, the current publicly funded EVCI network, 
Be.EV accounts for approximately a third of the 
charge points, with the remaining two thirds 
delivered by over 20 private sector providers and 
operators.

Page 118



17

36.87

12.688.26

7.67

6.78

5.60

3.83

2.65

2.36

5.01
2.36

1.77
1.77

1.21
1.18

Be.Ev Pod Point Tesla Destination GeniePoint
Key

BP Plus Other Life Vend Electric
Charge Your Car InstaVolt Tesla Supercharger
Ecotricity Osprey Hubsta ZeroNet

% of devices in GM by top 15 network providers

80% of the publicly funded charge points are made 
up of 7kW (fast) chargers and 20% of 50kW (rapid) 
chargers, whereas private operators have 91% of 
their network composed of chargers with a speed 
superior to 7kW. The private sector operators have a 
very different business model and charging speed 
offer compared to the existing publicly funded 
network.

The private sector business model is typically 
focused on:

• rapid (and ultra-rapid charging) to achieve the 
best commercial returns on investment; and 

• providing customers with an experience as 
close as possible to the ‘convenience’ of owning 
an Internal Combustion Engine vehicle and 
therefore replicating the current conventional 
behaviours of refuelling.

4.2 The scale of the network  
required by 2025

A vision-led adaptive planning approach is required 
to enable and accelerate the transition to EVs 
across GM. Projections can be made of public 
EVCI that will be required in the future based upon 
assumptions of general EV transition. To enable 
such projections to be determined, a model has 
been developed that projects the number of public 
fast and rapid chargers required for a given fleet 
proportion of electric vehicles.

Planning Scenario

The development of the EVCI strategy needs a 
Planning Scenario to allow a plan of interventions to 
be developed, and this in turn needs an input level 
of transition to electric vehicles to aim for.

National Grid’s 2019 Future Energy Scenarios set 
out 4 main scenarios for electric vehicle transition. 
The scenario with the fastest uptake in the near 
term, called “Community Renewables”, projects 
that 8.18% of vehicles will be electric in 2025, rising 
to 75% 2035.

Using the FES 2019 ‘Community Renewables’ 
scenario of 8.18% of the whole UK vehicle fleet 
being EVs in 2025, this projection gives a Planning 
Scenario with charger requirements of 2,700 fast, 
and 300 rapid public chargers in GM by 2025. As 
of February 2021, there are 264 fast and 59 rapid 
public chargers in GM.

The Planning Scenario indicates that GM requires 
significant expansion of publicly accessible 
charging infrastructure in the next few years to 
2025. Between 2025 and 2030, demand for public 
charging infrastructure is projected to increase 
significantly, however, the technology surrounding 
charging an EV is rapidly being developed and 
continuously changing; in turn, the charging  
needs of EV users is likely to change over the 
coming years. 

Beyond 2025, there is a significant degree of 
uncertainty around projecting demand for EVCI 
depending on the rate and distribution of EV 
transition over the medium to long term. This 
highlights the importance of continuous review of 
market needs in order to be able to both respond to 
and shape future demand.

Page 119



18

4.3 The need for public sector 
intervention

Whilst the private sector contribution to expanding 
the GM EVCI network will clearly be invaluable, 
currently there is limited evidence that private 
EVCI providers and operators are delivering at the 
scale and pace needed to meet the 2025 projected 
demand, or the required type of infrastructure in the 
right locations. 

Therefore, there is a continued need for public 
sector intervention, supported by a clear policy 
position, to influence the scale and distribution of 
EVCI investment that is required. However, there 
is a need to avoid an oversupply of publicly funded 
charge points, as this may result in:

• undermining our ambitions for more trips to be 
made on foot, by bike and by public transport;

• under-utilised assets requiring ongoing revenue 
support to cover the cost of operation and 
maintenance;

• unused charging bays with spaces left empty for 
long periods of the day causing issues in areas 
where there is already a high demand for limited 
car parking; and

• discouraging private sector investment.

It is likely that, without public sector intervention 
in EVCI now, a number of gaps in the market will 
emerge as set out below.

• Inclusive market coverage

The private sector will not invest significantly ahead 
of demand and there is a clear correlation between 
the early adopters of EV technology and average 
salary. There is a risk that private sector provision 
will be initially limited to more affluent areas or 
destinations where the investment returns would 
be attractive. Leaving less affluent areas without 
EV charging solutions that will act as a barrier  
to EV transition.

• Delay in delivery

Due to the requirement to ensure a short-term return 
on investment, the private sector may take a largely 
reactive approach, following demand for EVCI and 
delaying investment until returns are attractive. This 
could delay rather than promote transition to EVs.

• Interoperability

There are currently more than 20 different private 
operators active in Greater Manchester and 
potentially additional companies seeking to gain 
market share for profitable locations. Whilst some 
attempt has been made by the private sector to 
ensure EV users can access sites with different 
operators, the current service is far from perfect or 
integrated.

In the short term there is a need for public sector 
intervention in the market to fill these gaps and 
invest in locations and types of charging that the 
private EVCI providers and operators will currently 
find unattractive; not only to meet future demand 
and accelerate the transition to EVs but also to 
ensure the ECVI network is developed in a way that 
delivers our wider ambitions for transport across 
GM. Public sector intervention will also demonstrate 
commitment to EV technologies and encourage 
investment from the private sector.

In the long term we need to encourage and leverage 
private sector investment to build and operate a 
self-sustaining public network supported by the 
right policy framework. It is essential that a viable, 
matured commercial market is in place to meet 
future demand and ensure continued maintenance 
and improvements to the network.

4.4 EV User Profiles

To aid a better understanding of the EV market 
and where the focus for public (and private) sector 
investment might be, we have identified a number 
of market segments based on potential EV user 
profiles and charging behaviours and requirements. 
For clarity, this strategy does not cover charging 
infrastructure requirements for Heavy Goods 
Vehicles (HGVs) or buses. Potential EV users have 
been segmented into EV user profiles shown 
in Table 2 below and further discussion on the 
development of these EV User Profiles is included 
in Appendix A. 

Vehicle Type User Profiles

Taxis

Hackney cab taxi 
drivers

Private Hire Vehicle 
(PHV) drivers

Light Goods Vehicles 
(LGVs)

Company fleets

Small and medium-
sized enterprises 
(SMEs)

Privately owned/leased 
LGVs

Local Authority and 
other public sector 
fleets

Local Authority / public 
sector employees

EV Car Clubs EV Car Club users

Private Cars

Residents with off-
street parking at home

Residents with on-
street parking at home

Visitors

Table 2 EV User Profiles

Page 120



19

4.5 EVCI Typologies

In many areas of Greater Manchester it is not 
considered to be physically possible or financially 
viable to install on-street, publicly accessible 
charge points in residential areas to the scale 
required to meet demand from private car 
ownership transitioning to EVs.

Whilst there may be appropriate locations for 
well planned, designed and managed on-street 
charging, rather than providing large amounts 
of on-street publicly accessible charge points, 
the GM EVCI Strategy will focus on providing 
alternatives designed to support residents and 
small businesses that do not have access to home 
charging.

A set of basic EVCI Typologies have been developed 
by considering charging behaviours, dwell times 
and charger types and assigning these to particular 
locations or land uses. Further discussion on 
the development of these EVCI Typologies and 
alternatives to large-scale on-street charging 
provision is included in Appendix B.

Typologies

Home Charging
Private home or 
apartment parking  
off street

On Street charging On street parking bays

Business and 
Residential 
Community Charging

Car parks in 
commercial areas or 
residential areas with 
high levels of on-street 
parking

Destination

Work-place parking 

Town/local centre and 
city centre car parks 

Park and Ride sites 

Retail parks 

Visitor attractions

On route

Motorway Service 
stations and existing 
petrol stations

Lay-bys near areas of 
business activity

Table 3 EVCI Typologies

• Home charging often overnight (available to 
EV users with access to off-street parking) 
which takes advantage of the long dwell times 
of vehicles and is best suited to slow or  
fast chargers.

• On-street charging at on-street parking bays 
which could include a broad range of dwell 
times and accommodate fast or rapid chargers 
depending on likely dwell times.

• Business and Residential community 
charging (for EV users unable to charge at 
home) also able to take advantage of the long 
dwell times of vehicles and is best suited to  
fast chargers.

• Destination charging, defined as locations 
other than where the EV user resides, which 
includes a broad range of dwell times and 
can accommodate fast, rapid and ultra-rapid 
chargers depending on the average dwell times 
of vehicles.

• On-route charging which would typically 
require rapid and ultra-rapid chargers due to the 
higher proportions of short dwell times.

Page 121



20

05. The Case for Public 
Sector Investment to support 
the transition to EVs

5.1 The role of the public sector in 
influencing and delivering a GM  
EVCI network.

There are a number of ways in which TfGM and the 
10 GM Local Authorities, working in partnership 
with other stakeholders, can aid the delivery of a 
GM EVCI network that encourages and accelerates 
the transition to EVs. Alongside the deployment of 
publicly funded EVCI, the public sector can lead by 
example in the transition of their own fleets to EV 
and also use Local Planning Authority powers to 
ensure new development makes provision for EVCI.

5.2 How we will invest in expanding 
the publicly funded EVCI network.

Deployment of publicly funded EVCI

In terms of deployment of publicly funded EVCI, the 
priority will be projects which support the GM Clean 
Air Plan (CAP) and 2038 carbon neutral ambitions 
by aiding the accelerated transition to EVs for the 
most polluting vehicles; providing opportunities for 
those businesses most affected by the GM Clean 
Air Zone (CAZ) to transition to EVs and supporting 
those who will find it most difficult to transition 
to EVs due to home charging constraints. These 
projects will also help stimulate private sector 
investment by demonstrating a commitment to the 
transition to EVs and confidence in the market.

The most sustainable solution for transport and 
energy systems overall is for publicly funded EVCI 
hubs or mini-hubs of varying power requirements 
and scales to correlate with destination dwell times 
and charging behaviours. Whilst a mix of fast and 
rapid chargers will allow EV users to choose the 
most appropriate charging speed for their needs, 
the particular mix will be determined by the likely 
vehicle dwell times at any given location. 

The expansion of an EVCI network for GM requires 
a high proportion of fast chargers as this enables 
a more sustainable form of charging that fits with 
electricity grid capacity and most vehicle duty 

cycles. This approach enables deployment of EVCI 
with the lowest impact on the electricity grid  
(and therefore costs).

Initial investment will provide a blend of EVCI 
that prioritises meeting the demand likely to 
be generated by the most polluting vehicles 
transitioning to EVs to support achieving air quality 
and carbon targets.

The deployment of publicly funded infrastructure 
must also be aligned with a business engagement 
programme with both public sector and private 
sector employers to encourage the provision of 
workplace EV charging infrastructure in locations 
with poor public transport access.

Deployment of EVCI by the EVCI Service Provider

GM has appointed an EV Charging Infrastructure 
Service Provider (EVCISP) to deliver a range of 
EVCI solutions through a 7-year EVCI contract. The 
EVCI Contract allows for the EVCISP to make their 
own investments in EV charge points to aid the 
development of the network. This Supplier Owned 
Infrastructure (SOI) will be aligned with the EVCI 
Strategy objectives.

Leading by example

It is important that TfGM and the GM Local 
Authorities along with other public agencies show 
leadership and demonstrate a commitment 
towards the transition of EVs. TfGM and GM Local 
Authorities already have a number of EVs in their 
fleet and the transition should include a review 
of their respective fleet requirements and the 
development of a shared approach to purchasing or 
leasing further EVs. Vehicle replacement strategies 
should be agreed so that a clear pathway to carbon 
neutral Local Authority fleets can be outlined. 
Working together, GM Local Authorities could also 
include a provision for EVs when tendering for fleet 
management services. To facilitate the transition of 
fleets to EVs, EVCI should be installed or expanded 
where required at Local Authority offices and 
depots and opportunities for sharing charging 
infrastructure should be investigated. This will act 

Page 122



21

as useful demonstrations to other businesses of a 
commitment to the technology to help encourage 
transition to EVs amongst the business community. 
Lessons learnt through the transition process should 
be shared with other fleet managers in the public 
and private sectors as part of a wider business 
support package. In planning their fleet transition, 
organisations should also review whether they can 
scale-back the overall size of their vehicle fleet and 
whether alternative modes, such as e-bike/e-cargo 
bikes, could be used to support their operations.

Development of Planning Policy

Planning policies and guidance provide opportunity 
for GM’s Local Planning Authorities to facilitate and 
coordinate the development of an EVCI network 
that supports and encourages the transition to EVs 
in areas beyond the publicly funded and controlled 
EVCI network.

By developing and adopting policies and 
guidance, local planning authorities can ensure 
EVCI is integrated and normalised within new 
developments from the design stage. Policies can 
be used to set expected requirements for provision 
of EV charge points in new residential, workplace 
and commercial developments, offering a clear 
framework for developers to plan, design and fund 
the provision of EVCI as part of the development. 

The physical location, design, and management 
of EVCI as part of new development can be 
coordinated through planning policies and design 
guidance. Policies can ensure new developments 
are designed with the infrastructure needed to 
expand EV charge point provision in future as 
demand increases. This can be done through 

requirements for both active and passive EVCI. 
Active charge points refer to spaces that are 
fully wired and ready to use from the outset of 
the development. Passive provision refers to the 
provision of the necessary underlying infrastructure 
(power supply capacity and the ducting installed 
within car parking facilities) to enable simple 
expansion of charge points at a future date. 

To ensure that adequate provision of EV charging 
infrastructure is provided in new developments a 
number of factors need to be considered including:

• The development type;

• EV user profiles, vehicle dwell times and 
charging behaviour;

• Potential for EV Car Club requirements;

• Future management, operation and 
maintenance requirements; and

• Passive and Active charge point provision

New developments within GM should make 
adequate provision of EVCI to meet demand and 
encourage and accelerate the transition to EVs. To 
achieve this, new developments should be required 
to provide a minimum number of active EV charge 
points and offer enough passive provision to enable 
efficient expansion as demand increases. Each 
Local Planning Authority will develop their own 
Local Plan policies relating to the provision of EVCI 
in new development. The recommendations set 
out in the table below are intended to aid policy 
development and act as supplementary guidance.

Development type Active 
provision

Passive 
provision

Residential

Within property-based parking e.g. driveway and/or garage 1 per 
dwelling -

Designated off-street residential parking 1 per 
dwelling -

With non-designated off-street parking 10% of 
spaces

20% of 
spaces

Commercial

Office / general industrial 10% of 
spaces

20% of 
spaces

Retail uses 10% of 
spaces

20% of 
spaces

Sports centres, gyms and leisure facilities 10% of 
spaces

20% of 
spaces

Other
Education & non-residential institutions 10% of 

spaces
20% of 
spaces

Petrol filling and motorway service stations 10% of 
spaces

20% of 
spaces

Table 4 Guidance on provision of EVCI in new development
Page 123



22

5.3 Priorities for Public Investment  
to 2025

The initial focus for investment will be to provide a 
blend of EVCI that prioritises meeting the demand 
likely to be generated by the most polluting vehicles 
transitioning to EVs. We will target businesses and 
vehicles most affected by the CAZ.

The taxi trade

We have undertaken detailed engagement with 
the taxi (Hackney cab and PHV) trade and further 
analysis of this particular market segment’s 
charging requirements. Clean Air Plan modelling 
estimates that 15% of all hackney cab and PHV 
trips will need to be made by EV by 2025 in order to 
achieve air quality compliance.  

Modelling has been undertaken to understand what 
this means in terms of EV charging infrastructure. 
This estimated that between 34 (low scenario), 
90 (central scenario) and 190 (high scenario) rapid 
charging devices will be needed by 2025 to support 
that transition.

Currently secured funding represents targeted 
investment of approximately 60 rapid chargers 
(in total) dedicated for use by the taxi trade, in 
combination with the Clean Taxi Fund (CTF), which 
aims to provide the financial support needed to 
transition to EVs.

EV Car Clubs

The E-Hubs trial project is funded by the European 
Regional Development Fund and aims to 
demonstrate innovations in technology focused on 
low carbon shared mobility.  It provides for car clubs 
using Electric Vehicles (EVs) and e-cargo bikes for-
hire in co-locations.  It is intended that the project 
will have a number of  benefits including a reduction 
in carbon emissions, expediting the reduction 
of car ownership, making electric vehicles more 
accessible to the general public, encouraging more 
active travel practices and creating a knowledge 
bank of how to embed the use of an EV car-club 
and e-Cargo Bikes into Greater Manchester, 
creating a blueprint for further mobility roll-out. 
The E-Hubs trial project has identified 5 potential 
locations which include EVCI dedicated to an EV 
Car Club operator.

In partnership with EV car club operators we will 
look for further opportunities to expand the EV car 
club offer in suitable locations across GM making 
shared electric vehicles more accessible.

Priority locations for community hub charging 
infrastructure

Through further research and engagement with 
businesses and communities we will look for 
opportunities to trial a small number of EVCI 
community hubs in locations where high demand is 
aligned with constraints on home charging or where 
demand from significant EV LGV business activity 
may justify public investment. We will establish an 
on-line system for local businesses and residential 
communities to register an interest in trialling 
community hub charging infrastructure so that, 
funding permitting, we can direct investment to 
areas of identified demand.

Page 124



23
Page 125



24

06. Delivery and monitoring

6.1 Existing commitments

Delivery is currently being managed by TfGM on 
behalf of the Greater Manchester Local Authorities. 
GM has appointed an EV Charging Infrastructure 
Service Provider (EVCISP) to deliver a range of EVCI 
solutions through a 7-year EVCI contract to expand, 
upgrade, re-brand and maintain the existing 
publicly owned EVCI. 

The EVCI contract involves two phases; the first 
phase involves the transition from GMEV to Be.EV 
including the upgrade of 118 old GMEV fast chargers 
to new fast charge points (which is now complete) 
and the delivery of the Early Measures project 
delivering 24 new rapid charging points across 
22 sites (including 1 site which is a dedicated taxi 
charge point).

The second phase will include the delivery of 
additional publicly funded EVCI projects and the 
potential for the EVCISP to fund and deliver their 
own charge points. 

Through the OZEV taxi project we have secured 
funding to install 30  rapid chargers dedicated to 
taxi use across GM by 2022. On-line engagement 
with the taxi trade and consultation with ENWL 
is underway to aid the determination of sites for 
deployment. 

Over the coming years we will continue to seek and 
secure further funding opportunities that align with 
our priorities for investment.

6.2 Site prioritisation process

Site selection for EV charging points is important 
as the choice of location influences both costs 
and usage. TfGM, through delivery and operation 
of Greater Manchester’s publicly funded Electric 
Vehicle Charging Infrastructure, has identified the 
following key challenges in site selection.

Land ownership – Permissions and legal 
requirements can add delays to installing EVCI 
on third party land, including where this is land 
owned by the Local Authority. In the case of large 
organisations, they may also have their own 
national contracts with EVCI providers. There are 
also costly feasibility studies required to ensure 
the host’s power supply has the necessary spare 
capacity.

Accessibility - On-street locations often do 
not have the carriageway space needed to 
accommodate the charging infrastructure and 
relevant electricity supply support e.g. chargers and 
feeder pillar.  Off street locations can be in quieter 
areas that may bring additional security/access 
problems, particularly if the area requires closures 
at certain times.

Electricity network - Availability of the required 
power, particularly for high powered chargers 
(50kw+) can be an issue. Connection costs vary 
from site to site as each site has varied levels of 
available electricity network capacity. By clustering 
chargers together in hubs or mini-hubs, electricity 
network costs are reduced as well as saving on 
other civil engineering works such as cable length 
and trenching work.

An approach has been developed to identify 
suitable, available and sustainable locations 
to create a pipeline of sites to deploy public EV 
Charging Infrastructure informed by EV user 
profile needs, dwell times and battery re-charge 
requirements.

Site identification has focused on off-street parking 
locations (rather than on-street). This has naturally 
led to favouring existing car parks as potential 
sites, with a preference for Council-owned car 
parks and TfGM Park & Ride car parks to minimise 
coordination and costs associated with third 
parties.

Locations have been prioritised that serve areas 
that are likely to have greatest demand for EVCI 
in the near-term to ensure charge points achieve 
the required number of charge events and are not 
underutilised or stranded assets. Locations with 
existing space to accommodate EVCI and good 
network capacity that minimises land acquisition 
and grid connection costs have also been 
prioritised.

6.3 Design guidance

Design guidance is being developed to standardise 
publicly funded EV charging bay markings 
and signage across GM and ensure that the 
infrastructure is accessible to all included disabled 
EV users. Consistent and clear bay markings and 
signage for public charging infrastructure will help 
to ensure that EV users can easily identify and 

Page 126



25

find public charging infrastructure; and improve 
perceptions about the prevalence of EVCI across 
GM. It is recommended that, where possible, 
the design guidance is also applied to new EVCI 
installed by other providers and operators to help 
achieve our network ambition for standardised EVCI 
that is instantly recognisable by the general public.

6.4 Market research and engagement

Public engagement

To give GM businesses and residents the 
confidence to transition to EVs, they need to be 
aware of the availability of appropriate and reliable 
charging infrastructure, to address issues of 
range anxiety.  There is a need to create a public 
engagement campaign, to engage the public in 
the transition to EVs and to demonstrate that the 
required EVCI is available. A public campaign to 
highlight the level of investment and raise public 
awareness of the expansion to EVCI network should 
be run alongside the roll-out of publicly funded EVCI 
across GM.

Business engagement

It is anticipated that the initial future growth in EV 
users will be greater amongst the company car 
market than the private car market.  Company 
car and private business make up the bulk of 
new car registrations within the UK accounting 
for approximately 55% of new car registrations 
in 2019 with 1.23m new car registrations going to 
business users and in addition, LGVs contributed 
365,778 sales to the fleet sector. (Business vehicle 
registrations include both vehicles registered 
directly to a company, for example commercial 
goods vehicles and fleet vehicles, which are 
vehicles purchased by a company for the intention 
of use by staff, for example as company cars.) In 
2019 business registrations accounted for 2.6% of 
new vehicle registrations whilst fleet registrations 
accounted for 52.4% of new vehicle registrations.

In 2019 the UK Government announced it would 
revise taxation processes impacting the ownership 
of company cars (Benefit in kind, BIK), and as of 
20/21 BEV (Battery Electric Vehicles) are no longer 
required to pay company car tax. A number of 
large vehicle manufacturers, including EV only 
manufacturers such as Tesla, are beginning to 
actively target the business and fleet market, 
advertising the taxation relief benefits.

A programme of targeted engagement is required, 
in partnership with ENWL, to work with both public 
and private sector employers in locations with poor 
public transport access, to encourage the use 
of the Government Workplace Charging Grant to 
establish and expand a workplace EV charging offer 
for their employees.

Engagement with local business and  
residential communities

There is a need to establish a on-line system for 
engagement with local business and residential 
communities to enable them to register an 
interest in establishing community hub charging 
infrastructure in their area so that, funding 
permitting, investment can be directed to areas of 
identified demand.

Engagement with private EVCI providers  
and operators

To better understand their investment priorities  
and encourage them to install EVCI in the retail  
and leisure destinations where agreements are 
already in place.

6.5 Monitoring the scale and 
performance of the network

For each step along the journey of transitioning 
to EVs we need to ensure that an under provision 
of EVCI is not prohibiting the transition for each 
of the identified user groups. We also need to 
ensure that the GM EVCI network remains fit 
for purpose. We therefore need to monitor EV 
registrations across Greater Manchester and the 
utilisation and performance of the Be.EV brand 
as well as the level of private sector provision, to 
assess if the expansion of the network is ahead 
of demand and our network ambitions are being 
realised. We will also need to maintain continued 
dialogue with representatives of the different user 
groups and gain insightful feedback regarding the 
provision and location of publicly funded EVCI. 
A regular user group could be established and 
utilised to provide feedback from a network of local 
experts.  Monitoring will be regularly reviewed to 
ensure we are keeping up to date with EV market 
developments. If the transition to EVs exceeds 
modelled assumptions, we must be able to respond 
quickly to ensure that the GM EVCI network 
continues to meet with demand. 

The technology surrounding charging an EV is 
rapidly being developed and continuously changing. 
It will be important to maintain an understanding 
of these changes as they arise and how they will 
influence our EVCI network and the way in which 
EV users charge across GM. With advances in 
technology the charging needs of EV users are 
likely to change over the coming years. To ensure 
we continue to deliver an EVCI network that meets 
the needs of businesses, residents, and visitors 
to GM, we will need to keep abreast of emerging 
technologies and charging options as they develop, 
to ensure infrastructure remains fit for purpose.

Page 127



26

07. Final conclusions 
and next steps

Availability of and access to charging infrastructure 
is recognised as a critical barrier to the adoption of 
EVs. GM requires significant expansion of publicly 
accessible EV charging infrastructure in the coming 
years to encourage and accelerate the transition 
to EVs in order to meet its transport emissions 
targets. 

The requirement for appropriate vehicle charging 
infrastructure is even more critical given that the 
Government has now committed to phasing out 
the sale of new petrol and diesel vehicles by 2030. 
In the short term there is a need for public sector 
intervention in the market to influence the scale, 
type and distribution of EVCI investment that is 
required. 

This EVCI Strategy sets out the vision-led adaptive 
planning approach to the provision of charging 
infrastructure, that we intend to adopt to support a 
rapid transition towards a carbon neutral transport 
system. 

Using a planning scenario to 2025 has allowed us 
to determine the overall scale of the EVCI network 
required for Greater Manchester in the coming 
years and also highlighted the importance of 
continuous review of the EV market needs in order 
to be able to both respond to and shape future 
demand.  

This EVCI strategy has set out strategic principles 
and identified potential EV user profiles, charging 
behaviours and requirements. This has enabled a 
set of EVCI typologies to be developed to determine 
the nature and shape of the EVCI network required 
to meet our ambitions and has highlighted where 
the focus for public sector investment will be 
required. 

Public investment will be targeted at those who 
will find it most difficult to transition to an EV due 
to charging constraints. Initial investment will 
provide a blend of EVCI that prioritises meeting the 
demand likely to be generated by the most polluting 
vehicles transitioning to EVs as well as providing 
opportunities for those businesses most affected 
by the CAZ to transition to EVs. This approach will 
support GM in meeting its air quality and carbon 
targets.

To accompany this EVCI Strategy, the detailed 
measures to support progress towards providing 
the EVCI network that will enable GM to rapidly 
accelerate the transition to EVs are set out in a 
funded programme of works that can be found at 
electrictravel.tfgm.com

Page 128

http://electrictravel.tfgm.com


27
Page 129



28

APPENDIX A

Page 130



29

08. Appendix A

Development of EV User Profiles

Taxis

Hackney cabs are typically parked at or near to the 
driver’s home between shifts, providing an ideal 
time to charge. If access to off-street parking at 
home is available, it is expected that most Hackney 
cab drivers will seek to charge daily at home if 
possible, for convenience and because of the lower 
costs.   However, there will be drivers without the 
ability to charge from home and therefore need 
daily access to either public or designated taxi 
charge points.  Taxis also typically have a high 
daily mileage and may therefore require a charge 
during a shift when time is at a premium so access 
to rapid charging infrastructure would also be a 
priority for these users.

PHV drivers transitioning to EVs will share similar 
charging requirements to those of Hackney cab 
drivers possibly with a larger proportion unable to 
charge vehicles at home.  Some PHVs are used 
as pool cabs by multiple drivers working different 
shifts with high mileage and minimum dwell time 
between shifts. So public charging provision will 
be required from rapid chargers in convenient 
locations for this user group. The distribution of trips 
made by PHVs tends to be more evenly distributed 
across Greater Manchester than those trips made 
by Hackney cabs and there are a number of quite 
large PHV firms fairly evenly spread across GM 
serving relatively local markets.  Furthermore, PHVs 
generally have higher daily mileage than Hackney 
cab drivers, so on-route charging facilities will be 
important for this user group.

Light Goods Vehicles (LGVs)

Light Goods Vehicles (or vans) have grown in use 
(measured in kilometres travelled) on Greater 
Manchester roads in recent decades. LGVs now 
account for c. 1.7 billion kilometres on Greater 
Manchester roads, representing 13% of all traffic 
(up from 9% in 1993).  Much of the recent growth 
has been driven by the growing service economy, 
the development of the home shopping market 
and the expansion of delivery services that has 
accompanied this and the growth of the “gig 
economy”. Improving the efficiency of freight 
deliveries is an important part of GM’s Freight and 
Logistics Strategy particularly in congested areas 
such as the city centre and other town centres and 
investment in EVCI will need to reflect this.

Drivers of LGVs can be split between drivers of 
vehicles that are part of a large company fleet, 
Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SMEs) and 
self-employed individual drivers who own or lease 
their vehicles and use them commercially.

For a transition to EVs, larger company fleet owners 
are likely to provide their own depot-based private 
charging solutions or rely on staff home charging 
and therefore make minimal use of public charge 
points particularly with future improvements in 
range. The majority of charging is expected to be 
overnight in depots or at staff homes.  However, 
higher mileage delivery vehicles may require some 
access to public charging during the day and 
with businesses wishing to minimise time lost to 
charging they are likely to prioritise access to rapid 
chargers.

Small and medium-sized enterprises are less 
likely to have their own private charging solutions 
for smaller company fleets of cars and LGVs and 
may also be reliant on staff home charging. There 
is likely to be some potential demand for both 
fast and rapid public charging facilities to enable 
drivers to charge vehicles, both overnight and 
during the working day. An increasing number of 
privately owned or leased vehicles are being used 
commercially and to transition to EVs, users of 
these vehicles are likely to face similar charging 
challenges to owners of private cars especially 
where they don’t have access to off-street charging 
at home. Many of these vehicles have higher daily 
mileage than private cars and may require more 
regular overnight charging as well as opportunities 
for charging during the day. For charging during the 
day access to rapid charging infrastructure will be a 
priority as time will be at a premium.

Local Authority and other public sector fleets

Local Authority and other public sector fleets are 
made up of a wide range of vehicles including 
cars, LGVs and specialist vehicles that perform 
a wide variety of roles with varying daily mileage, 
operational needs, duty cycles and dwell times. 
To transition these fleets to EVs it is likely that in-
house provision for EVCI will be required and they 
are less likely to need to make use of the publicly 
accessible EVCI network, although occasional 
access may be required.

APPENDIX A

Page 131



30

Car Clubs

Car Clubs contribute positively towards a 
progressive urban transport policy. There is clear 
evidence that members reduce levels of vehicle 
ownership and mileage at the same time as 
increasing their use of other, more sustainable 
modes.  Traditionally, transition to EVs has 
represented a challenge for Car Clubs in terms 
of potentially reduced utility due to customers 
range anxiety, availability of EVCI, greater capital 
costs and potential driver apprehension. The 
main operating model for Car Clubs in Greater 
Manchester is the back to base or round-trip hire 
which involves the vehicle being collected from and 
returned to the same destination (often a specific 
parking bay) and whilst this may be suited to fast 
charging it is probably not so suitable for rapid 
charging.  

Currently there are no privately operated fully 
EV Car Clubs in Greater Manchester although 
a number do have PHEVs amongst their fleet. 
However, increasing demand for Car Clubs is 
leading to greater innovation and flexibility in 
applications and operating models and it is 
possible that future GM Car Clubs with targeted 
user group needs, may be able to operate a fully 
EV fleet. Through informal engagement with Car 
Club operators there are early indications that there 
does seem to be operator appetite to provide an EV 
based Car Club in GM.

The e-Hubs project is funded by the European 
Regional Development Fund and aims to 
demonstrate innovations in technology focused on 
low carbon shared mobility.  It provides for car clubs 
using EVs and e-cargo bikes for-hire in co-locations.  
It is intended that the project will have a number 
of over-arching benefits including a reduction in 
carbon emissions, expediting the reduction of car 
ownership, making EVs more accessible to the 
general public, encouraging more active travel 
practices and creating a knowledge bank of how to 
embed the use of an EV car-club and e-Cargo Bikes 
into Greater Manchester, creating a blueprint for 
further mobility roll-out. 

An opportunity exists to establish an EV Car Club 
within Greater Manchester utilising the e-Hubs 
project and also aid the initial delivery of the EVCI 
Strategy. An EV Car Club could provide an anchor 
tenant for EVCI in community charging hubs or 
mini-hubs offering an alternative to private EV 
ownership. An EV Car club could also provide an 
opportunity for people to try an EV before they 
commit to purchasing one.

Private Car Drivers

The transition to EVs by private car drivers in GM 
has been slow to-date, varying between Local 
Authority areas. Given the OZEV funding for 
installing home charging points, the majority of 
early adopters are expected to, or at least have 
the ability to, charge at home and the average 
daily mileage suggests most private EV drivers are 
unlikely to need to charge their cars more than once 
or twice per week. At present it is therefore likely 
that most EV private cars receive a high proportion 
of their charging from slow and/or fast charging at 
home overnight or at a workplace car park during 
the day. The relative cost of different charging 
solutions will also be an important factor in private 
EV drivers’ charging decisions.

EV users living in residential properties with off 
street parking (such as a private drive or garage) 
can normally easily install a 7kW home charger that 
will allow them to recharge an EV at home. Currently 
there is still OZEV funding available to cover some 
of the costs involved in installation. However, there 
will still be occasions when this user group requires 
access to alternative charging solutions.

Residential areas with a large number of terraced 
streets or apartment blocks which have no off 
street parking present a problem for EV ownership 
as properties without off street parking are likely to 
be unable to install a home charger. The inability to 
charge an EV at home will be a barrier to transition 
for many people across GM particularly for those 
residents that live in properties with no off-street 
parking.  

In Greater Manchester, terraced housing and 
apartments make up 43% of the housing stock 
(2011 Census) and these areas typically have 
limited access to off-street parking. Clearly not all 
residents in these areas are car owners and many 
residents in these locations have already made 
the decision to pursue car-free lifestyles. However, 
within many of these residential locations there 
remain significant levels of car and van ownership 
and it will be important to ensure that these vehicle 
owners, where necessary, are able to make the 
transition to EVs. Destination charging, particularly 
at workplaces but also at park and ride sites, town/
local centres and other key destinations as well as 
existing petrol stations, will all be a very important 
part of the charging mix for this EV user group; 
however, a solution to home charging is also 
likely to be required to overcome this barrier and 
enable private vehicle drivers in these locations to 
transition to EVs where necessary.

Page 132



31

Visitors to Greater Manchester

For those visiting Greater Manchester from outside 
the conurbation, the nature of their journey and 
the battery range of their vehicles will determine 
charging requirements, but they are more likely to 
need to charge their vehicles at their destination or 
on-route. Visitor attractions and other destination 
charging as well as motorway service stations 
and other on-route charging will be important to 
this user group. Existing petrol station sites could 
provide visible on-route rapid charging facilities and 
could also provide charging facilities for residents 
who do not have the ability to charge at home.  
Clearly signed park and ride facilities with EVCI near 
the boundaries of GM would be useful to visitors 
allowing them to charge whilst continuing their 
journey on the rapid transit network and reducing 
vehicles on the Key Route Network within GM.

Page 133



32

APPENDIX B

Page 134



33

09. Appendix B

Development of EVCI Typologies

On-Street Residential Charging

In many areas of Greater Manchester, it is not 
considered to be physically possible or financially 
viable to install large numbers of on-street, publicly 
accessible charge points in residential areas to the 
scale required to meet demand from private car 
ownership transitioning to EVs.

There are a number of reasons for this, as set out in 
the following paragraphs: 

On-Street charging solutions could include 
modifying street lighting columns or installing 
dedicated on-street charging points but these both 
have issues and in both cases the ability to scale-
up provision as the transition to EVs increases, is a 
major constraint.  Whilst satisfying current demand 
for on-street charging infrastructure in residential 
areas might be achievable, it would not be possible 
to meet future on-street residential demand as 
the transition to EVs increases amongst this user 
group.

Street lighting column charging relies on the 
lighting column being next to the carriageway 
so that charging cables don’t stretch across 
footways causing an obstruction to pedestrians. 
GM Local Authorities, in line with best practice have 
undertaken programmes to move lighting columns 
to the back of the footway to reduce street clutter 
making more space on footways for pedestrians, 
wheelchairs, prams and buggies and people with 
reduced mobility or visual impairment.  In addition, 
the cabling for street lighting columns can usually 
only support charging of between 3 – 5 kW which 
is less than the 7.4 kW delivered by a home charger. 
This type of charging system requires the user 
to buy an additional charging cable to record the 
power used. In addition to this expense, the tariff 
per kWh is generally high for a slow connection 
speed which means poor value for money for the 
user. 

Dedicated charge points can deliver 7.4 kW 
matching the output of a home charger. However, 
they are difficult to locate on-street in large 
numbers without compromising carriageway or 
footway space particularly on narrow streets and 
pavements where space is already at a premium. 
This is particularly relevant in areas where there 

is already a lack of space for car parking, limited 
footway space and congestion. To ensure effective  
footway widths are maintained charge points would 
need to be located on the carriageway. When sited 
in the carriageway, with build-outs, charge points 
would significantly reduce the available space for 
car parking. There would also be issues to address 
around minimising or avoiding disruption of public 
services operations such as street cleaning, 
domestic refuse collection services and emergency 
service access.  

In a residential on-street location, each charge 
point installed would need to have a dedicated EV 
charging bay with it. This effectively provides a 
protected private car parking space on the public 
street and reinforces car use as the dominant 
mode of travel by formalising and locking-in on-
street car parking in areas with limited road space.  
Providing dedicated private car parking spaces 
does not support GM’s long-term goals of reducing 
private car ownership and encouraging sustainable 
modes of travel. Furthermore, to bring in parking 
restrictions requires a residents’ parking permit 
scheme or TROs, which would require the support 
of a proportion of residents on the street.  

A dedicated charge point  is able to transmit more 
power than a modified street lighting column 
because it would have a dedicated electrical 
connection this however requires a separate 
feeder pillar (requiring additional space) and makes 
installation more expensive. The relatively low level 
of usage (generally a single user) means that it 
is challenging to generate enough income from 
each charge point to cover ongoing operational 
and maintenance liabilities.  If this solution was 
delivered at scale it would require significant 
ongoing financial support which is contrary to the 
development of a viable EVCI network.  The charge 
points would therefore require a higher user tariff 
(and therefore would not be equivalent to home 
charging options). Implementing a higher tariff 
would make the on-street solution less attractive 
for users and mean that they are more likely to seek 
out cheaper charging alternatives which would lead 
to underuse of charge points and a requirement for 
greater subsidy. Potentially on-street charge points 
in residential areas could become stranded assets, 
with ongoing financial liabilities generating limited 
revenue, and creating unused car parking spaces 
increasing competition for on-street car parking 
which is already an ongoing issue for residents in 
many locations.

APPENDIX B

Page 135



34

When considering these issues, it is clear that 
providing an on-street public charge point solution 
in residential areas isn’t achievable at the scale 
required to match the required transition to EVs.

Alternatives to on-street public EVCI provision

For those GM residents without the ability to charge 
EVs off-street at home; a number of alternative 
options will be important in enabling a transition to 
EV use. 

EV Car Clubs

An expansion of EV Car Clubs operating in 
residential locations could offer a genuine 
alternative to private EV ownership for many 
residents. Dedicated EV Car Club charge points, 
in residential locations will often be best located 
on-street where carriageway space is available, in 
order to increase convenience for users.  Through 
the development of a Shared Mobility Strategy and 
engagement with Car Club operators we will seek 
for opportunities to enable them to transition  
to fully EV fleets and expand the car club offer 
across GM.

Community charging hubs

Off-street community charging hubs, in 
commercial areas or in close proximity to 
residential areas (with large amounts of on-street 
car parking), could support different EV user groups 
including private EV owners providing a further 
alternative option in some locations.  Where there 
are residential areas with significant on-street car 
parking we will investigate opportunities to provide 
off-street community charging hubs on a case 
by case basis where appropriate locations can be 
found and look at options that will support residents 
to use these facilities for overnight charging 
where possible.  These community charging hubs 
could potentially include charging bays for EV Car 
Club vehicles as well as other mobility services 
such as cycle hire or e-bike hire facilities, offering 
residents alternatives to private car ownership. 
Wider community facilities could also potentially be 
provided at these locations.  

We will establish an on-line system for local 
business and residential communities to register 
an interest in trialling community hub charging 
infrastructure so that, funding permitting, we can 
direct investment to areas of identified demand.

Workplace Charging

Workplace charging during the day will also be 
an important option for many potential EV users 
without the ability to charge at home, however 
we do not wish to encourage commuting by EV 
ahead of more sustainable modes such as active 
travel or public transport especially in areas that 
already experience traffic congestion in peak 

hours.  In appropriate locations that have poor 
access to public transport and where employees 
are dependent on car travel; we will work with 
both public and private sector employers to 
encourage them to make use of the Government 
Workplace Charging Grant to establish and expand 
a workplace EV charging offer as part of a wider 
review of workplace car parking requirements for 
employees.  Many large public and private sector 
employers already have Workplace Travel Plans 
in place which could be expanded to include the 
provision of an EV charging infrastructure offer 
as part of a wider review of workplace car park 
requirements. We will work with large public sector 
employers such as hospitals, schools and colleges 
and medical centres with workplace car parking to 
determine EVCI requirements.

Destination Charging

For those who commute to work by the rapid transit 
network (making use of existing park and ride 
facilities) there could be the opportunity to charge 
EVs during the working day whilst EVs are parked 
at rail station, Metrolink or bus park and ride sites.  
We will align TfGM’s emerging Access to Public 
Transport Strategy and the development of the 
Travel Hubs programme with this GM EVCI Strategy 
and investigate options to expand the Be.EV 
network at Metrolink park and ride sites and other 
transport interchanges; and we will also work with 
Network Rail and Northern Rail to encourage them 
to provide EV charging infrastructure at rail station 
car parks across Greater Manchester. 

Retail and leisure destination car parks with dwell 
times of an hour or more also offer an opportunity 
to provide alternative EV charging options for 
those without off-street home charging. We will 
investigate opportunities to expand the Be.EV 
network in local authority owned car parks in town 
and district centres and at other local authority 
assets such as car parking at leisure centres, 
gyms, libraries, community and health centres 
and recreation / sports facilities. In many other 
locations, investment may come more from private 
operators particularly on privately owned sites at 
out of town retail parks or leisure and entertainment 
venues such as cinemas or concert venues and 
theatres. We will engage and work with private 
EVCI providers and operators to encourage them to 
install EVCI in retail and leisure destinations where 
there are already many agreements in place.

On-route Charging

On-route charging will also form an important part 
of the EVCI mix, whilst Highways England have 
responsibility for EVCI at motorway service stations, 
there will be a need for further on-route EVCI within 
GM such as at existing petrol stations and this is an 
area where we expect private sector investment to 
be more prevalent.

Page 136



35
Page 137



36
tfgm.com/strategy

Page 138



 

  

 

 

 

 

Greater Manchester Transport Committee 

 
 
Date: 20 August 2021 
 
Subject: Transport Network Performance Update  
 
Report of: Bob Morris, Chief Operating Officer, TfGM 
 
 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
This report provides an overview of Transport Network Performance in Greater 
Manchester and planning and preparation for the next stages of the government roadmap 
including interventions to ensure public transport and active travel fully support Greater 
Manchester’s recovery. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
Members are asked to note the contents of the report. 

 
 
CONTACT OFFICERS: 
 
 
Steve Gilholme  Head of Service Delivery 07769 235 580 

steve.gilholme@tfgm.com 

David Atkin Analysis and Reporting 
Manager 

07920 252 319 
david.atkin@tfgm.com 

 
 
  

Page 139

Agenda Item 11

mailto:steve.gilholme@tfgm.com
mailto:david.atkin@tfgm.com


 

GMTC 20210820 Transport Network Performance Update 2  
 

Equalities Implications: 

Not applicable  

 

Climate Change Impact Assessment and Mitigation Measures  
Not applicable  
 

Risk Management  

Not applicable 

 

Legal Considerations  

Not applicable 

 

Financial Consequences – Revenue  

Not applicable 

 

Financial Consequences – Capital  

Not applicable 

 
Number of attachments included in the report: 1 
 

o Appendix A: Glossary 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS: Nil 
 

TRACKING/PROCESS  

Does this report relate to a major strategic decision, as set out in 
the GMCA Constitution  
 
 

No 

EXEMPTION FROM CALL IN 

Are there any aspects in this report which 
means it should be considered to be 
exempt from call in by the relevant Scrutiny 
Committee on the grounds of urgency? 

None 

GMTC Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

Not applicable Not applicable 

Page 140



 

GMTC 20210820 Transport Network Performance Update 3  
 

1. OVERVIEW 

1.1. The Greater Manchester Transport Committee has a key role to oversee the 

provision of transport services on behalf of residents, businesses, and visitors. This 

includes the performance of Metrolink, Bus and Rail Operators and the Strategic 

Highways Network. The Committee also oversees the move towards the Our 

Network vision for an integrated transport network for Greater Manchester, as set 

out in the 2040 Transport Strategy. 

1.2. This network performance report covers performance across all transport modes in 
Greater Manchester to the fourth step in the government roadmap out of lockdown. 

1.3. More detailed reports on the performance of rail, bus and Metrolink services are 
provided to the relevant subcommittees. 

2. OVERALL NETWORK PERFORMANCE SUMMARY 

2.1 Operational performance across Rail, Bus and Metrolink has remained high albeit 
with reduced patronage. The number and frequency of complaints to TfGM and on 
social media about the enforcement of face coverings on public transport remained 
at a low level. However, there was an increase in enquiries following the decision to 
make face coverings a condition of carriage on Metrolink following from July 19th.  

2.2 The detail contained later in this report covers the key highlights relating to 
performance of transport modes during the period, noting that the relevant 
subcommittees receive detailed reports on Bus, Rail and Metrolink performance. 

2.3 On 22 February the government set out it’s “Roadmap out of lockdown”. This 

announcement set out four steps roadmap to ease restrictions and provide a phased 

route to lifting restrictions on social contact.  

2.4 The first step on 8 March saw a return to face-to-face education in schools and 
colleges. Whilst there was a phased return, a number of schools and colleges the 
week commencing 8 March saw a 22% increase in public transport patronage. 

2.5 The second step on 12 April saw the re-opening of non-essential retail, personal 
care premises such as hairdressers and nail salons, public buildings, and gyms. 
During the week commencing 12 April there was an addition 4.6 million trips across 
all modes. Equivalent to an 11% increase in trips. Following this rapid return of trips 
to the network volumes stabilised at around 46 million trips per week, approximately 
11% below pre pandemic levels and equivalent to the 2020 high point during 
September. 

2.6 The third step on 17 May saw indoor hospitality reopen and indoor entertainment 
resume, including cinemas, museums, and children’s play areas. Additionally, up to 
6 people or 2 households are able to meet indoors and up to 30 people outdoors. 

Page 141



 

GMTC 20210820 Transport Network Performance Update 4  
 

Whilst 17 May saw a further easing of restrictions it also saw increasing case rates 
in GM, particularly in the Bolton area. The days immediately following step 3 saw a 
3% increase in trips on the Highway network. 

2.7 During May and June, there was a marked increase in the Delta variant across 
Greater Manchester and the UK. The Government responded by delaying step 4 of 
the road map from 21 June to 19 July. 

2.8 During June, there was an estimated 215.6 million trips across the Greater 
Manchester transport network. This was 5.2% (10.7m) higher than May (204.8m), 
55% higher than June 2020 (139m), however, 3% fewer than June 2019 (222m).   

2.9 The average daily trip total for June was 7.2 million, which is 8.7% higher than May 
(6.6 million). 

2.10 Trips on the Highway accounted for 66% of trips during June (142.7 million).  

2.11 Public transport accounted for 6.9% of all trips (14.8m), which is 6.1% higher than 
May (14.0m) and is 40% below June 2019. 

2.12 Active travel accounted for 27% of all trips during June. During the month there were 
4.6 million cycling trips which represents a 22% increase from May. This is an 
estimated 4% below June 2020 but 17% above June 2019. There was a 20% 
increase in walking trips (53.5 million) when compared to May (44.6 million). The 
easing or restriction from May 17 and dryer, warming weather contributed to the 
overall active travel month on month increase. 

2.13 The introduction and subsequent easing of restrictions, government guidance and 
legislation designed to help reduce the spread of coronavirus is reflected in changes 
in travel behaviour observed across Greater Manchester. Local restrictions and 
national lockdowns see significant reductions in travel. The easing of these 
measures see increases in travel. 

2.14 As we prepare to have remaining restrictions lifted on 19th July, data from June and 
preceding months would suggest that there has been a change in travel behaviour. 
With total trips less than 3% below pre-pandemic typical levels, trips on public 
transport are still 40 – 50% below. This would suggest that there has been a change 
to car, cycling or walking.  

2.15 Figure 1 overleaf provides graphical details on the modal split of trips.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 142



 

GMTC 20210820 Transport Network Performance Update 5  
 

Fig 1: Network Modal Trip Split (March 19 – June 21)  

 

2.16 The graphs in figure 2 and 3 show the impact of key events on public transport and 

active travel against a baseline start of August 2020.  

Fig 2: % Change on Public Transport (September 20 – June 21)         

 
 

 

 

 

Page 143



 

GMTC 20210820 Transport Network Performance Update 6  
 

Fig 3: % Change on Road & Active Travel (September 20 – June 21) 

 
 

3. NETWORK OVERVIEW 

Metrolink 

3.1. During June all available trams were deployed across the network (0600-1900) at 
10-minute intervals with the maximum number of doubles (roughly two-thirds). 
Services outside of these hours had a frequency of 20 minute with earlier last 
services Friday – Sunday (midnight Fri/Sat and 2300 Sunday). To support social 
distancing and the use of the network by regular users enhanced services were in 
operation for the screening events at EventCity in June, which saw a limited return 
of spectators at events. 

3.2. The Metrolink timetable was changed on 5th July as the next step in returning the 
network to pre-covid services. The core 12 minute service was restored all day long, 
significantly increasing off-peak and weekend capacity, with additional peak 
services on most routes. 

3.3. However, recent weeks have been extremely challenging for Metrolink. Driver 
availability has been poor arising from test and trace self-isolation instructions. Up 
to 20% of the front line workforce has been absent at some points. A scalable 
service of a flat 12-minute frequency Monday to Saturday will operate from 6 August 
with double trams allocated to meet demand. It is anticipated that the peak six-
minute service will be re-introduced by early September to meet the return to school 
demand. 

3.4. Patronage has returned to circa 45% of pre-covid levels and is anticipated to rise to 
70% towards the end of year. 

 

Page 144



 

GMTC 20210820 Transport Network Performance Update 7  
 

Fig 4: Weekly Metrolink Trips 

 

3.5. Performance of services through June was poor, several incidents resulted in short 
term disruption. The most notable impacting events were; 

 Tuesday 1 June: During the AM peak, a road traffic collision between a tram 
and a car at Exchange Quay resulted in delays to services. 

 Wednesday 2 June: A road traffic collision between a tram and car at Holt 
Town resulted in no services between Piccadilly and Clayton Hall during the 
mid-morning period. Ticket acceptance was in place during this time. 

 Wednesday 9 June: an underground explosion on Balloon Street in the city 
centre resulted in extensive damage to cables, which had a knock-on impact 
on the signalling systems on the Altrincham line. For safety reasons the 
service was reduced to 20 minutes. 

 Saturday 26 June: an overhead line issue at Queens Road at 16:18 resulted 
in ticket acceptance of services on the Bury line at Abraham Moss. Works 
were carried out overnight and normal services resumed on Monday. 

 Additionally, throughout the European Championships, England matches 
were screened at Event City on the Trafford Park Line. Football fans caused 
damaged to numerous trams on each occasion, which resulted in lower 
vehicle availability. 

  

Page 145



 

GMTC 20210820 Transport Network Performance Update 8  
 

Planned Engineering Works 

3.6. The programme of planned maintenance and renewal work is continuing over the 
summer, with works focused on safety and performance critical activities such as 
track renewal. The following is currently planned, with weekends and times selected 
so as to minimise the impact on customers and residents and to make the most of 
planned Network Rail works at Victoria station. 

 19 July to 16 August: Eccles curves renewals. Replacement bus service 

between Eccles and Piccadilly via MediaCityUK. Due to difficulties found with 

the concrete track support structure, these works were extended from the 

original date of 1 August. 

 31 July to 9 August: Victoria track renewals. Bus replacement between 

Queens Rd/Monsall to Victoria and Piccadilly and changes to city 

destinations for East Didsbury and Airport services. Combined with Network 

Rail Victoria Bridge works. 

 14 to 16 August: Victoria track renewals, combined with the last part of the 
Network Rail blockade at Victoria. Bus replacement between Queens 
Rd/Monsall to Victoria and Piccadilly and changes to city destinations for 
East Didsbury and Airport services. Combined with Network Rail Victoria 
Bridge works.  

 14 to 16 August: Auburn Street and Clayton Hall track renewals.  This 
coincides with the service above but also requires a replacement bus service 
along the Ashton Line and connecting city centre stops.  

21 – 23 August: Victoria track renewals, Bus replacement between Queens 
Rd/Monsall to Victoria and Piccadilly and changes to city destinations for 
East Didsbury and Airport services. 

Rail 

3.7. Footfall at Piccadilly Station during June (shown in figure 5) was 1.7 million, which 
is 226k (14%) higher than May (1.5 million). This equates to around 60,000 
passenger movements per day, Whilst this is 529% higher than June (529k) it is  
47% below June 2019 (3.4 million). For Northern,  reported rail patronage across 
Central and West services  now stands at around 55% off pre-Covid levels, with 
TPE at just below 50%  

3.8. Face covering compliance amongst rail passengers remained stable with 
compliance levels on Northern services at around 80-85%. A number of BTP days 
of action at Manchester central stations were carried out. Nationally, directions to 
leave were at 8% of interventions, however just 0.5% of interventions resulted in 
fixed penalty notices being issued. TfGM continued to work with Train Operating 
Companies (TOCs), British Transport Police (BTP) and TravelSafe Officers (TSOs) 
to raise awareness of the mandatory requirement to wear face coverings whilst at 
stations and on-board public transport until the 19th July from when strongly worded 
messaging will be used to encourage passengers to continue to wear face 
coverings. 

Page 146



 

GMTC 20210820 Transport Network Performance Update 9  
 

3.9. Operational performance of rail services remains high, with Northern Rail’s PPM at 
almost 91% and CaSL at 2.0%. TransPennine Express PPM is at 94.9%, with  CaSL 
at 2.5%. 

Fig 5: Weekly Rail Footfall (Manchester Piccadilly) 

 

Bus 

3.10. Operating mileage is now at 100% of pre-Covid service levels, and whilst driver 
levels across operators remains a concern this has been mitigated by the service 
reductions as a result of the school holidays and the removal of the duplicate routes.  

3.11. During June bus patronage was 9.0 million, which was a 3.7% increase from May 
(8.6m). This was 169% above June 2020 (3.3m), however, 37% below June 2019 
(14.5m). The average daily passenger trips during June was 300k, 7% higher than 
May (280k), however, not as high as June 2019 (484k). 

3.12. There was only one incident of note that Impacted the bus network; Due to a police 
incident relating to a vulnerable person on the Mancunian Way bridge over Oxford 
Road on Sunday 27 June, local city centre services were subject to delays and 
diversions as both Oxford Road and the Mancunian Way were closed in both 
directions, causing delays of up to 30 minutes 

  

Page 147



 

GMTC 20210820 Transport Network Performance Update 10  
 

 

Fig 6: Weekly Bus Trips 

 

3.13. Face covering compliance remains high at c.90%.  

Highways 

3.14. There were an estimated 142.7 million trips on the highway network during June 
2021. This is 0.02% higher than the previous month (May 142.6m) and 4.15% fewer 
than June 2019 (148.8m).  

3.15. Trips on the highway network accounted for approximately 67% of all trips made in 
GM during June, This is broadly in line with the pre-pandemic average (67%) and is 
lower than June 2020 (75%) and May 2021 (70%).  

3.16. Throughout June the number of daily trips plateaued. The 25th June was the busiest 
day with 5.23m trips, just below the pandemic high of 5.3m (28th May). Continued 
Covid restrictions and the rise in the Delta variant were in part responsible for the 
flatlining of Highway volumes during June.  

3.17. As with pre-Covid trends, Friday remains the busiest day on the highway; the 
average number of trips on a Friday during June was 5.5m with Thursday average 
at 5.4m, Wednesday 5.3m, Tuesday 5.2m and Monday, the lowest, average at 
5.1m. Saturday and Sunday were 4.5m and 3.9m respectively.  

3.18. Figure 7 shows average daily trips across Greater Manchester for June 2021 in 
comparison to June 2019.   

 

 

Page 148



 

GMTC 20210820 Transport Network Performance Update 11  
 

Fig 7: Daily Highway Trips    

     

3.19. As trips have returned to the highway network the traffic profile has returned to as 
similar state as its pre pandemic distribution as shown in figure 8 overleaf. 

Figure 8: Weekday Traffic Profile 

 

3.20. Monitoring of congestion resulting from unexpected delays (including incidents and 
events) shows there was an estimated 10,800 vehicle hours lost per week to non-
recurrent congestion since the easing of restrictions on 17 May. This is a 49% below 
the equivalent period prior to the pandemic but 215% above average weekly delays 
during the five weeks between prior to step one on 8 March. Both prior to the 
pandemic and throughout the government’s roadmap out of lockdown roadworks 
have been the main contributor to delays. 

  

Page 149



 

GMTC 20210820 Transport Network Performance Update 12  
 

Fig 9: Non-Recurrent Congestion              

 

3.21. For the rolling 12 months up to the end of January 2021, the Killed and Seriously 
Injured (KSI) casualties on GM roads are 484 against a predicted 579 with the 
short-term effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on traffic levels appearing to have 
suppressed overall KSI numbers. A full report on KSI’s for 2020 will be brought 
to this Committee following the close out by the DfT of the KSI data files later 
this year. 

Active Travel  

3.22. The introduction and subsequent changes to restrictions intended to help control 
the spread of COVID-19 have had a significant effect on how people access and 
use the multi-modal transport network across Greater Manchester.  

3.23. Public transport usage reduced substantially following the introduction of 
restriction on movements and government advice to avoid using public transport 
where possible. And despite the early recovery and perception that private 
vehicles offer a lower risk option highways activity is still approximately 5% below 
levels prior to the pandemic. While the pandemic has made individual modes 
more appealing GM residents have identified alternatives to motorised transport 
and data suggests a new momentum for walking and cycling.  

3.24. While cycle activity is slightly below the highwater mark set during the heatwave 
of the first national lockdown the current level of cycle activity is estimated to be 
20% above the same period in 2019 with a number of count sites showing 
increases of 50% or more with weekend cycle activity estimated to be 62% above 
the same period in 2019. 

3.25. Walking is the second most popular mode of transport in GM and data suggests 
it is growing in popularity. The guidance to stay local has had an effect with the 
number of short neighbourhood trips (of less than 2 miles) up 10% across GM 
with a number of areas seeing substantial increases (such a trips to and from 

Page 150



 

GMTC 20210820 Transport Network Performance Update 13  
 

Bury district centre up 50%). Data for TfGM’s network of pedestrian counters 
shows a 40% increase in walking activity (5). While this sample is not 
representative of the whole of GM it shows that locally at least there are 
encouraging signs of changing attitudes to transport and health. Additionally, this 
data is being used to provide insights that shape and target areas that have 
shown a propensity for short trips and activity travel to encourage walking and 
cycling activity. 

Fig 9: 28 Day Average Cycling Trips 

 

3.26. Following the third step in the government roadmap on 17 May there has been an increase 
in pedestrian activity in the regional centre. Prior to step 4 of the roadmap footfall in the 
regional centre was approximately 70% of pre-pandemic levels. 

Fig 10: Pedestrian Activity in Regional Centre 

 

Page 151



 

GMTC 20210820 Transport Network Performance Update 14  
 

Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) 

3.27. The TravelSafe partnership reports incidents of crime and anti-social behaviour per 

million passenger journeys (fig 11). The rolling 12-month averages for June 2021 

were:  

 23 incidents per million passenger journeys on Bus (up from 16 during the 12 

months to June 2020), 

 173 incidents per million passenger journeys on Metrolink (up from 68 during 

the 12 months to June 2020), and 

 The average for Bus and Metrolink combined was 45 incidents per million 

passenger journeys (up from 26 during the 12 months to April 2020). 

Fig 11: Reported incidents of Crime and ASB (per million journeys)     

    

3.28. During the five weeks to 23 June 2021 incidents on the bus network were down 14% 
on the previous five-week period. While the reduction has largely been driven by a 
reduction in “youth” related incidents (down 25% on the previous five-week reporting 
period) currently 36% of recent incidents on the bus network are youth related 
compared to 25% during the same period in 2019. 

Trend for higher proportion of reported incidents to be at Bus Stations is persisting. 
63% of reported incidents were at bus stations during the last five weeks. During the 
same period in 2019 it was 39% 

3.29. Following a similar trend to Bus there has been a reduction in the percentage of 
reported incidents that are “youth” related (down from 41% to 36%). However, and 
again in line with bus, this is above the same period in 2019 when 17% of incidents 
were “youth” related. 

Page 152



 

GMTC 20210820 Transport Network Performance Update 15  
 

3.30. There has been an increase in lower impact reported incidents including 
Harassment & Intimidation (Bury and City Centre), interference with network 
operations (Oldham & Rochdale and Airport Lines) generic ASB (no specific 
pattern). Additionally there has been an increase in higher impact incidents Assaults 
(City Centre and Oldham & Rochdale) 

3.31. At the TravelSafe tactical group meeting held on 30 June 2021 the following 
priorities were identified: 

 Bury Interchange due to an increase in the number of reported incidents 
including assaults, weapons incidents and thefts. Following a similar pattern 
to Wigan and Rochdale with a number of known individuals regularly causing 
issues.   

 Leigh Bus Station. At Leigh bus station 54% are youth related. Leigh also 
saw an increase in the number of reported incidents including reports of drug 
use. Additionally with summer months ahead there is a risk of incidents on 
the guided busway (as seen in 2019). 

 The Metrolink Oldham and Rochdale line continues to see a high number of 
reported incidents. 22% of reported incidents on the Metrolink network 
occurred on the Oldham and Rochdale line. Over the same period the ORL 
carried approximately 8% of passengers on the network. 

 Regional centre. During 2020 the summer months saw the highest numbers 
of reported incidents in the regional centre across all modes. There will be 
similar factors in effect this year (easing of restriction, school summer 
holidays/increase in youth ASB) which suggest the regional centre may again 
be a hot-spot.  

4. FORECASTING SUMMER AND AUTUMN 
 

4.1. Throughout June, TfGM’s Network Intelligence team have been working through 
data and intelligence to understand the impact of Step 4 across the highway network 
over the summer and September to identify and address new behaviours emerging 
from the pandemic. 
 

4.2. By using the data available from the highways sensors we have identified an 
increase in through trips using the inner ring road (these are trips that use the inner 
ring road but do not come into the regional centre itself). 

 
4.3. The data suggests that there has been a 4% decrease in the number of vehicles 

using the inner ring road but a 43% reduction in the number of these that actually 
go into the regional centre. In real terms this means there are approximately 105,000 
additional vehicle movements per week using the inner ring road to cut through. 
There are a number of factors contributing to this including the quicker journey times 
for through movements due to improvement scheme (Regent Road and Great 
Ancoats Street) and a smoother traffic profile attracting trips through rather than 
around, 

 

Page 153



 

GMTC 20210820 Transport Network Performance Update 16  
 

4.4. Keeping traffic out of the regional centre is one of the reasons the inner ring road 
was built. However, this increase in through trips presents a potential issue for a 
number of reasons including:  

 As events (and potentially/eventually commuters) return to the network 
congestion will increase effecting journey times, air quality, the attractiveness 
of active travel etc. 

 While some schemes have delivered improved capacity at specific locations 
the increase in traffic may simply shift the problem to the next pinch point 
downstream.  

 We have a number of major schemes in and around the inner ring road 
through the summer.  

 
4.5. Actions to Consider 

 Manage the congestion issues locally/specifically. For example: The Regent 
road scheme has delivered capacity for east-west movements, we should 
target those making north-south movements. 

 Encourage the use of the M60 for cross conurbation trips, possibly using an 
event as the catalyst for targeting and messaging.  

 Acknowledge the through trips but promote active travel and public transport 

options for those coming into the City. 

 
4.6. About the Data 

 Change in traffic volumes is derived from Automatic Traffic Counters at three 
locations on the Inner Ring Road (Mancunian Way, Great Ancoats Street and 
Trinity Way). 

 Through trips have been identified on the inner ring road passive sensors 
(orange points below) but not captured by the city centre passive sensors 

(magenta points below). 

4.7.  Results  

 4% reduction in traffic. 

 43% reduction in trips using the ring road that go into the regional centre. 

 13% increase in through trips. 

  

Page 154



 

GMTC 20210820 Transport Network Performance Update 17  
 

Figure 12 Sensor Location 

 
 

 

5. NETWORK PERFORMANCE SCORECARD 
 

Metrolink1 Status Target Achieved Trend 

Metrolink Punctuality G 90% 91.4% S 

Metrolink Operated Milage A 99% 96.4% W 

Rail1 Status Target Achieved Trend 

Northern Punctuality (PPM)  G 93.1% 90.9% W 

Northern Reliability (Cancellations) G N/A 2.1% W 

Northern Right Time G N/A 71.4% W 

TPE Punctuality (PPM) G 90.1% 94.9% I 

TPE Reliability (CaSL) G N/A 2.5% I 

TPE Right Time G N/A 77.2% I 

Network Rail Delay Minutes G  25,416   20,444 W 

Bus2 Status Target Achieved Trend 

Network Bus Service Reliability  G 97.0% 97.60% W 

Commercial Bus Service Reliability  G 97.0% 97.30% W 

Subsidised Bus Service Reliability  G 97.0% 98.90% I 

Network Bus Overall Punctuality  G 80.0% 88.50% I 

Commercial Bus Overall Punctuality  G 80.0% 88.20% I 

Subsidised Bus Overall Punctuality  G 80.0% 89.60% W 

Network Bus Regularity  G 97.0% 97.16% W 

Commercial Bus Regularity  G 97.0% 97.16% W 

Page 155



 

GMTC 20210820 Transport Network Performance Update 18  
 

Subsidised Bus Regularity n/a 97.0% n/a n/a 

Highways2 Status Target Achieved Trend 

Highways Journey Time Reliability A 90.0% 89.8% I 

Highways Level of Delay (Average) A 30.0% 29.7% I 

Network Safety Status Predicted Actual Trend 

Killed and Seriously Injured (rolling 12m to Nov 2020) G 579 484 I 

 Status Previous Current Trend 

Incidents per Million passenger Journeys (rolling 12m to 
April 2021) 

A 45 45 S 

 
Several KPIs suspended as a result of Covid-19 

See Appendix A for glossary. 

Reporting Periods:     This report covers June/July 2021  
Trend key: W = Worsening, S= Stable, I = Improving 

6.  RECOVERY CAMPAIGN  

In response to the delay in moving to Step 4 of the roadmap from June to July 19th, the 
timings of planned interventions and campaign activity to support recovery (as outlined in 
detail in the June report) were reviewed.  
  
Throughout the remainder of June and July a hybrid campaign focused on safety and 
reassurance messaging and in particular, a focus in messaging around the continued use 
of face coverings following changes to government guidance.  In parallel, engagement with 
business/ employers to influence demand and support GM’s recovery was launched, 
informed by sector engagement and ongoing dialogue through GM frameworks, including 
Business Representative Organisations.  This provided information and advice to promote 
sustainable travel options and facilities for return to work and the economic benefits of 
spreading the peak, including Active Travel Grants and launch of a virtual platform for 
employers with advice, support and tools.  
  
The retimed Confidence/Welcome Back Campaign ‘It’s Time’ will launch on 23rd August. 
The first two weeks (It’s Time… To Make Plans) will build on the reassurance and safety 
including face coverings, travel demand, spreading the peak, and planning for return 
messaging that we have been running throughout June and July. This will move to more 
targeted messaging to promote sustainable travel for work, education, essential services 
and leisure with ‘It’s Time… to Think Differently’ promoting more active choices and 
changes to behaviour patterns, and It’s Time… To Keep Moving’ encouraging people not 
to fall into old habits/keep moving with new travel options. This will be supported by the launch of 
flexible ticketing interventions including, for example, Bee Daily and Bee Weekly. 
  
The umbrella ‘It’s Time’ campaign will run until December but given the need to be agile 
and adapt to the changing national and local picture will run with this first phase six-week 
campaign. This will also allow us to review and understand where we are in respect of 
patronage and revenue growth and where we will need to focus our efforts, in terms of 
further interventions and campaign activity from September onwards. 

Page 156



 

GMTC 20210820 Transport Network Performance Update 19  
 

 

APPENDIX A 
 

Glossary 

Measure 
 

Description 
 

RAG thresholds 

Metrolink 
Punctuality 

Percentage of trams departing less 
than two minutes late. 

GREEN if equal to or above 
90% 
RED if less than 90%. 
 

Metrolink Reliability Percentage of planned miles 
operated. 

Target for 2019 is 99%. 
RED if less than 97%. 
AMBER if 99% - 97%. 
GREEN if 99% or above. 

Northern Punctuality 
(PPM)  

PPM = Public Performance 
Measure.  The percentage of 
services arriving at destination 
(having called at all scheduled 
stops) within 5 minutes of the 
planned arrival time. 

GREEN if equal to or above 
the target. 
RED if below target. 

Northern Reliability 
(CaSL) 

CaSL= Cancelled and Significant 
Lateness. % of services part/fully 
cancelled or arriving at their 
destination later than 30 minutes 
after scheduled arrival time. 

RED if above target. 
AMBER if equal to target. 
GREEN if below target. 
 
 
 

TPE Reliability 
(CaSL) 

CaSL= Cancelled and Significant 
Lateness. % of services part/fully 
cancelled or arriving at their 
destination later than 30 minutes 
after scheduled arrival time. 

RED if above target. 
AMBER if equal to target. 
GREEN if below target. 

TPE Punctuality 
(PPM)  

PPM = Public Performance 
Measure.  The percentage of 
services arriving at destination 
(having called at all scheduled 
stops) within 10 minutes of the 
planned arrival time. 

GREEN if equal or above 
the target. 
RED if below target. 
 

Northern Right Time % of recorded station stops where 
the train arrived less than one 
minute later than its advertised 
time. 

RED if above target. 
AMBER if equal to target. 
GREEN if below target. 
 

TPE Right Time % of recorded station stops where 
the train arrived less than one 
minute later than its advertised 
time. 

RED if above target. 
AMBER if equal to target. 
GREEN if below target. 
 
 

Network Rail Delay 
Minutes  

Total number of Delay minutes 
attributable to Network Rail.  

GREEN if equal to or below 
the target. 
RED if above target. 

Page 157



 

GMTC 20210820 Transport Network Performance Update 20  
 

Measure 
 

Description 
 

RAG thresholds 

Bus Service 
Reliability 

Scheduled Service Reliability – 
measured by the percentage of 
observed bus departures from a 
given location compared to the 
service provision promised to the 
public. 

GREEN if equal to or above 
the target. 
RED if below target. 

Bus Overall 
Punctuality 

Scheduled Service Punctuality – 
measured by the percentage of ‘on-
time’ observed bus departures from 
a given location. The definition of 
an on-time departure is one which 
is between 60 seconds early and 5 
minutes and 59 seconds late, 
inclusive. 

GREEN if equal to or above 
the target. 
RED if below target. 
 
 

Bus Regularity Frequent Service Regularity – 
measured by the percentage of 
occasions where the gap between 
services is either over 2 times the 
service headway, or 10 minutes, 
whichever is the larger number. 
Service Regularity encapsulates 
both the reliability and punctuality 
aspect of a frequent service. 

GREEN if equal to or above 
the target.  
RED if below target. 
 
 

Highways Journey 
Time Reliability 
(JTR) 

 

% of highway journeys completed 
within an ‘acceptable journey time’, 
defined as the typical journey time 
+25%. 

GREEN > = 90% 
AMBER 80-90% 
RED < 80% 

Highways Level of 
Delay (Average) 

The difference between the typical 
journey time (median) and the 
optimum journey time (5th 
percentile) during the peak period. 

GREEN < 30% 
AMBER 30-50% 
RED >= 50% 
 

Killed & Seriously 
Injured (KSI) 

Number of people killed or 
seriously injured on GM roads. 

GREEN if equal to or below 
the annual forecast 
projection. 
RED if above forecast.  
(DfT developed a forecast 
for KSI casualties, as part 
of the Road Safety 
Strategy. This forecast 
(based on a central 
projection) was for a 40% 
reduction in KSI casualties 
by 2020 against a 2005-09 
baseline. For GM this was 
no more than 550 KSI per 
year casualties by 2020.) 

 
 

Page 158



Greater Manchester Transport Committee –  

August Work Programme  

 

August 2021 to October 2021 

 

The table below suggests the Committee’s work programme from August 2021 to October 

2021. 

Members are invited to further develop, review and agree topics which they would like to 

consider.  The work programme will be reviewed and updated regularly to ensure that the 

Committee’s work remains current. 

The key functions of the Committee are – 

 

 Accountability: active and regular monitoring of the performance of the 

transport network, including the Key Route Network, the operation of the GM 

Road Activities Permit Scheme, road safety activities, etc as well as all public 

transport modes.  This role will include holding service operators, TfGM, 

highway authorities and transport infrastructure providers to public account, 

and to recommend appropriate action as appropriate; 

 

 Implementation: oversee the delivery of agreed Local Transport Plan 

commitments.  This includes the active oversight of the transport capital 

programme, and decisions over supported bus services network to be made 

within the context of policy and budgets set by the Mayor and the GMCA as 

appropriate; and 

 

 Policy Development: undertake policy development on specific issues, as may 

be directed by the Mayor and / or the GMCA 

 

 

  

Page 159

Agenda Item 12



August 2021 

MEETING  TOPIC CONTACT 

OFFICER 

PURPOSE ALLIGNMENT 

TO WHICH KEY 

FUNCTION OF 

THE 

COMMITTEE 

Full 

Committee 

Transport 

Network 

Performance 

 

Bob Morris, 

TfGM 

To review performance of the 

transport network, including the 

Key Route Network and all 

public transport modes. To hold 

service operators, TfGM, 

highway authorities and 

transport infrastructure 

providers to public account and 

to recommend appropriate 

action. 

Accountability 

Greater 

Manchester 

Transport 

Commissioner 

Chris 

Boardman 

To introduce the newly 

appointed Transport 

Commissioner to the Committee 

and outline his role. 

Accountability 

GM Moving Eve Holt To inform the Committee of the 

work of GM Moving and its role 

within the Active Travel agenda. 

Implementation 

Walking and 

Cycling Update 

 

Richard 

Nickson  

To update the Committee on 

the status of the Bee Network. 

To include specific reference to 

cycling schemes and the GM 

Bike Hire scheme. 

Implementation 

Streets for All  Simon 

Warburton 

To provide an overview of the 

Streets for All Strategy, which 

forms a sub-strategy to the 

Greater Manchester Transport 

Strategy 2040.   

Policy 

Development 

Page 160



MEETING  TOPIC CONTACT 

OFFICER 

PURPOSE ALLIGNMENT 

TO WHICH KEY 

FUNCTION OF 

THE 

COMMITTEE 

Electric 

Vehicles 

Charging 

Network 

Simon 

Warburton 

To provide an overview of the 

Greater Manchester Electric 

Vehicle Charging Infrastructure 

Strategy, a sub-strategy of the 

Greater Manchester 2040 

Transport Strategy. 

Policy 

Development 

 

Page 161



September 2021 

MEETING  TOPIC CONTACT 

OFFICER 

PURPOSE ALLIGNMENT 

TO WHICH KEY 

FUNCTION OF 

THE 

COMMITTEE 

Metrolink & 

Rail 

Services 

Sub 

Committee 

Metrolink 

Performance 

Report  

Daniel 

Vaughan 

To review overall performance 

of Metrolink. 

Accountability 

Rail 

Performance 

Report  

Simon Elliott To review performance across 

the rail industry. 

Accountability 

Update on 

Heavy Rail 

Infrastructure 

Simon Elliott To provide a six monthly update 

on the status of rail stations 

across Greater Manchester. 

To also include the key themes 

from the Williams-Shapps plan 

Implementation 

Manchester 

Recovery Task 

Force Update 

 

DfT To inform the Committee of the 

work to improve the 

performance of rail services in 

GM.   

Implementation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 162



 

October 2021 

MEETING  TOPIC CONTACT 

OFFICER 

PURPOSE ALLIGNMENT 

TO WHICH KEY 

FUNCTION OF 

THE 

COMMITTEE 

Bus Services 

Sub 

Committee 

Changes to the 

Bus Network 

and Review of 

Subsidised Bus 

Services 

Budget 

 

Alison Chew 

and Nick 

Roberts, 

TfGM 

To note forthcoming changes to 

the bus network and to review 

and make decisions relating to 

supported bus services within 

the context of policy and 

budgets set by the Mayor and 

GMCA as appropriate. 

Implementation 

Bus 

Performance 

Report 

Stephen 

Rhodes, 

TfGM 

To provide an overview of bus 

services since the last 

subcommittee meeting. 

Accountability 

Update from 

Operators 

All Operators To inform the Committee of the 

latest challenges, issues and 

achievements across the bus 

network. 

Accountability 

Bus Service 

Improvement 

Plan 

Stephen 

Rhodes 

To review the draft plan to 

improve bus services in GM as 

directed by the Government’s 

National Bus Strategy. 

Implementation 

Interchange 

Report 

Howard 

Hartley, 

TfGM 

To provide Members with an 

update on infrastructure 

overseen by TfGM, including 

TravelShops, Bus Stops and Bus 

Shelters. 

Accountability 

Page 163



MEETING  TOPIC CONTACT 

OFFICER 

PURPOSE ALLIGNMENT 

TO WHICH KEY 

FUNCTION OF 

THE 

COMMITTEE 

Full 

Committee 

Transport 

Network 

Performance 

 

Bob Morris, 

TfGM 

To review performance of the 

transport network, including the 

Key Route Network and all 

public transport modes. To hold 

service operators, TfGM, 

highway authorities and 

transport infrastructure 

providers to public account and 

to recommend appropriate 

action. 

Accountability 

Road Safety 

Update 

 To provide an update on the 

work of road safety initiatives 

including Drive Safe and 

specifically how schemes are 

prioritised and the impact they 

have made. 

Accountability 

Transport 

response to 

GM 

Inequalities 

Commission 

Simon 

Warburton 

and Kate 

Brown 

To discuss how transport and 

TfGM as an anchor institution 

can contribute to tackling 

inequalities. 

Policy 

Development 

TfGM Social 

Value Review 

Steve 

Warrener 

and Simon 

Warburton 

To receive the review carried 

out by CLES of TfGM’s Social 

Value Policy and consider 

TfGM’s response to the review 

recommendations. 

Policy 

Developent 

Page 164



MEETING  TOPIC CONTACT 

OFFICER 

PURPOSE ALLIGNMENT 

TO WHICH KEY 

FUNCTION OF 

THE 

COMMITTEE 

Williams –

Shapps Plan 

for Rail 

Simon Elliott To update members on the key 

findings from the Williams-

Shapps report for Rail and what 

this means for GM. 

 

Policy 

Development 

 

 

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Declarations of Interest
	4 Minutes of the GMTC meeting held 18 June 2021
	5 Minutes of the GMTC Sub Committees
	6 August 2021 GMTBC minutes

	6 Introduction from the GM Transport Commissioner
	7 Streets for All
	8 Walking & Cycling Update
	9 GM Moving
	09 Active Travel & Over 50's (16th June 2021) (3) (1)
	09 Cycling Projects Presentation Aug 21

	10 Electric Vehicles Charging Network
	10 GMTC2021-08-20 GM EVCI Strategy Document Appendix
	Preface
	01.	Introduction
	02.	Background
	2.1 The GM Transport Strategy 2040
	2.2 Decarbonising transport
	2.3 Air quality
	2.4 Background on electric vehicles

	03.	Vision and objectives and strategic principles
	3.1 The vision
	3.2 Strategy objectives
	3.3 EVCI network strategic principles
	3.4 EV tariff

	04.	Developing an EV charging network for Greater Manchester
	4.1 Current network
	4.2 The scale of the network required by 2025
	4.3 The need for public sector intervention
	4.4 EV User Profiles
	4.5 EVCI Typologies

	05.	The Case for Public Sector Investment to support the transition to EVs
	5.1 The role of the public sector in influencing and delivering a GM EVCI network.
	5.2 How we will invest in expanding the publicly funded EVCI network.
	5.3 Priorities for Public Investment to 2025

	06.	Delivery and monitoring
	6.1 Existing commitments
	6.2 Site prioritisation process
	6.3 Design guidance
	6.4 Market research and engagement
	6.5 Monitoring the scale and performance of the network

	07.	Final conclusions and next steps
	08.	Appendix A
	Development of EV User Profiles

	09.	Appendix B
	Development of EVCI Typologies



	11 Network Performance Report
	12 GMTC Work Programme

